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THE PRC CITY GAS DISTRIBUTION FLAGSHIP
OF CHINA RESOURCES GROUP

China Resources Gas Group Limited (“CR Gas”), substantially owned
by China Resources (Holdings) Company Limited, one of the largest
state-owned conglomerates in China, is a leading gas utilities group in
China, which is principally engaged in downstream city gas distribution
business including piped natural gas distribution, natural gas filling
stations operation and sales of gas appliances. Its operations are
strategically located in areas of China, which are economically more
developed and densely populated and areas with rich reserves of
natural gas.

Leveraging on the excellent industry fundamentals and the Group’s
execution competency, CR Gas continues to expand rapidly in 2019 via
organic and acquisition growths. At the end of 2019, CR Gas'’s portfolio is
consisted of 251 city gas projects in 22 provinces of China including 14
provincial capitals and 3 direct administrative municipalities with an annual
gross gas sales volume of some 28.0 billion cubic meters and 37.95 million
customers.

The optimization of energy structure and environmental pollution control will
promote the sustainable growth of natural gas consumption in China. The
PRC government has, in recent years, taken various measures to promote
the development and utilization of less polluting energy sources. The
natural gas industry is in sync with the core development idea of innovation,
harmony, green, open and sharing as compared with conventional energy
resources such as coal and crude oil. The Natural Gas Development “13th
Five-Year” Plan published by the State also stresses that the popular use of
natural gas will play an important role to protect the ecological environment,
improve air quality, enhance life quality and health of the general public
and achieve sustainable development.

The natural gas market in China is still in the important development
period, as China remains the most important region in the global rise
of natural gas development. CR Gas is well placed to take advantage
of such a favorable operating environment and to become the most
respectable leader in the PRC’s gas industry by continuously expanding
through organic and external growths; diligently enhancing its operational
efficiency in pursue of excellence; delivering a safe and reliable supply of
clean energy as well as the caring, competent and efficient service to our
customers; offering growing and sustainable performance to shareholders;
creating extensive professional and personal development opportunities
to employees; and contributing to the protection and improvement of the
Chinese and global environment.
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Pan-China Footprint of CR Gas
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ANNUAL RESULTS

In 2019, benefiting from the steady operation of China’s macro economy
and the continued promotion of environmental protection policies, China’s
natural gas consumption increased significantly to reach 306.7 billion
cubic meters, representing a year-on-year increase of 9.4%. Capturing
market opportunities, the Group achieved rapid development, recording
an annual gas sales volume of 28.01 billion cubic meters, representing
a year-on-year increase of 15.4%. The number of gas users reached
37.95 million, representing a year-on-year increase of 9.6%. The Group
continued to reinforce the management foundation and pushed for internal
reform, which resulted in continuous improvement in operating efficiency
and steady increase in profitability. The profit attributable to owners of
the Company was HK$5.04 billion, representing a year-on-year increase
of 13.3%. The Group proposed to pay a final dividend of 72 HK cents per
share, bringing a total dividend of 87 HK cents per share for the year,
representing an increase of 13.0% from 77 HK cents per share in 2018,
with a dividend payout ratio of 37.5%.

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2019
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The Group will expand steadily via sustainable organic growth and
quality external acquisitions, at the same time actively explore new
opportunities arising from its gas value chain and customer base.
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SALE OF NATURAL GAS

In 2019, the PRC government implemented a series of environmental
protection policies, with an aim to continue the promotion of air pollution
control and reinforce “coal-to-gas conversion” plan in civil, heating,
industrial and other industries in key areas. Leveraging on the advantage
of the opportunity to prevent and combat air pollution, the Group tapped
on the potential of the industrial and commercial market and actively
promoted the consumption of natural gas by industrial and commercial
users to achieve rapid growth in gas sales volume. During the year, the
Group’s natural gas sales volume reached 28.01 billion cubic meters,
among which, the industrial gas sales volume reached 13.97 billion
cubic meters, representing an increase of 22.4% and accounting for
49.9% of the total gas sales volume of the Group. The commercial
gas sales volume reached 6.13 billion cubic meters, representing an
increase of 12.5% and accounting for 21.9% of the total gas sales
volume of the Group, and residential gas sales volume increased by
14.5% to 6.32 billion cubic meters, accounting for 22.6% of the total
gas sales volume of the Group.
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DEVELOPMENT OF NEW USERS

Benefiting from a larger market share of gas projects in cities with a
developed economy, coupled with the rapid development of urbanization,
the Group’s gas connection business for residential users has been
growing constantly, connecting 3.28 million new residential users for the
year, including 550,000 old residential users and 200,000 rural “coal-
to-gas conversion” users, and connected 30,000 new industrial and
commercial users. As of the end of 2019, the average gas penetration
rate of the Group’s city-gas projects in China increased from 50.3% at
the end of 2018 to 53.0%.

NEW PROJECT EXPANSION

The Group continued to focus on developing its core business of city
gas operation. Leveraging on strong marketing capabilities, good
corporate branding and operational excellence, the Group completed
the registration of 13 subsidiaries with an investment of HK$0.7 billion
in 2019. The city gas projects acquired by the Group are located in
Jiangyin, Nanjing, Xiamen, Neijiang and Wuyishan. The area under
franchise rights expanded to 4,328 square kilometers, and the number
of new users was anticipated to be 200,000. The gas sales volume
increased by 150 million m® per annum.

By the end of 2019, the number of city gas projects of the Group has
reached 251, spanning across 22 provinces, 3 direct administrative
municipalities and 73 prefecture-level cities. The expanding operational
regions and prime geographic locations of the projects have laid a
solid foundation for the sustained and rapid growth of the Group’s core
business.

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2019
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Sustainable Growth of Natural Gas
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NEW BUSINESS DEVELOPMENT

Following the continuous optimization of economic structure in China
over the recent years, the demand for clean energy has been increasing.
Riding on the favorable policies and advantage of huge market for gas
projects and its existing customer base, the Group took the initiatives to
develop new businesses such as distributed energy and charging posts
to meet the energy needs of different customers, which has fostered new
growth points and expanded our income stream.

In 2019, 10 new distributed energy projects were approved by the
Group, with a total investment estimated to be HK$4.0 billion. Upon
completion, these projects will contribute an installed capacity of
340MW.

In terms of charging posts business, charging posts in Hangzhou,
Nanjing, Suzhou and Zhenjiang companies were put into service with
stable operation in 2019, with an annual charging capacity of 129.33
million kWh and an operating profit of HK$40.37 million. Bus charging
stations from Jiangyin and Yueyang companies were put into operation
successively in 2020, further expanding the scale of charging posts
business.

VALUE-ADDED BUSINESS DEVELOPMENT

The Group thoroughly explored customer value and vigorously promoted
value-added services. In 2019, the Group realized value-added business
income of HK$2.01 billion, representing a year-on-year increase of
29.7%. Among them, gas insurance realized premium income of HK$330
million, representing a year-on-year increase of 73.7%. The Group will
continue to take flexible market-based approaches to make the value-
added services a new profit growth point for the Company in the future.

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2019
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KEY FINANCIAL INFORMATION

In 2019, the Group recorded a turnover of HK$55.835 billion, representing
a year-on-year increase of 9.13%. The Group’s overall gross profit
margin was 24.9%, representing a decrease of 1.7 percentage points as
compared with last year. The decrease in gross profit margin was mainly
attributable to the proportion of revenue from sales and distribution of
gas fuel and related products and revenue derived from gas stations
to turnover increased from 78.6% last year to 79.2% in 2019 while the
proportion of revenue from gas connection with relatively high gross
profit margin decreased from 19.4% last year to 18.9%. The Group
believed that the increase in the proportion of gas sales revenue
reflected the continuous optimization of the Group’s business structure,
laying a solid foundation for the Group’s future sustainable development.

EERRERERAT —F-AEEH



8

FERE
Chairman’s Statement

AEE-—ERNBENVBEEREER
FBEEREAMRM IS E@EK
FoZTE-AF AKERSAEHRRE
R FRLEMNRS R ETS4IES
7L A R1.79% - AEEBRANE S
RA g ARTEERMNARNERES E

REERE -

BIEERNX

AEBREEREERIERERNESD
MERBERBER —RIEERE &
ECGREAREEIMNE) (BEARFET
EHE) REREUETRB(HEARE
e

EEER
FEFEEBERKELEERER UR
RMREEBHEZIMERAA ([
Frl) Mg R Al (T578))) MERTMd
FERTMMBEAHLLREERTE -
ERREHEN A FRFEI1EE95 o

The Group has been adopting prudent financial resources management
policies to keep borrowings and capital expenditure at a sound level.
In 2019, the Group’s cash flow achieved a rapid growth. The operating
cash flow during the year reached HK$8.49 billion, a year-on-year
increase of 1.79%. The Group has sufficient funds and available banking
facilities to meet capital expenditures and operating requirements in
the future.

HONESTY & INTEGRITY CULTURE

The Group always regards honesty & integrity as its foundation of
development, and has issued and implemented a series of measures
in recent years, including Regulation on Honesty & Integrity ( (il{E&
MEEPHLX) ) and Rules for Staff Responsible for Honesty & Integrity
Culture ( (FBIEAME B8 T{EHIE) ) and requires every staff to sign the
Honesty & Integrity Declaration ( (HEABRETE) ).

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Group is committed to enhancing its standard of corporate
governance by benchmarking with good corporate governance
practices and has adopted a Corporate Governance Handbook based
on the Corporate Governance Code (the “Code”) issued by The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”). The Corporate
Governance Report is set out on pages 41 to 59 of this annual report.

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2019
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BEXmigRER CAPITAL MARKET PERFORMANCE
ZETENFEZZT-NEF FAEBERERH From 2008 to 2019, the share price of the Group has increased by
3428 R11.515E42.88 7w A5 H 11.51 times from HK$3.42 to HK$42.8 and its market capitalisation has
B A $330.8318 4 T35 ;£ 29.881% £951.9 increased by 29.88 times from HK$3.083 billion to HK$95.19 billion.
BT -

“EENFE_T—NF AEEGTH From 2008 to 2019, the profit of the Group increased by 20.3 times from
23788 018 £20.3(% £50.4B %t - & HK$237 million to HK$5.04 billion, turnover increased by 17.7 times from
¥ FH29.9B BT R17.7/85 £558.4(8%8 HK$2.99 billion to HK$55.84 billion and total assets increased by 21.8
T RBEEMITABETLER21.8FE times from HK$3.71 billion to HK$81.02 billion.
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BEZELRE  RZTE-hLF+ZA= Based on Bloomberg’s report, as at 31st December, 2019, the Group
+—0B 62 ITwES R RER - was covered by 62 analyst reports.
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Given the Group's sustained and steady development and continuous
improvement in performance, Moody's, Standard & Poor's and Fitch
Ratings, being three international rating agencies issued reports in 2019,
respectively, maintaining the credit rating of the Group to A3, A- and
A-. The upgrade in rating reflects the Group’s development strategy of
focusing on its core business and its excellent financial performance
have been widely recognised by the market, which will further reduce
the finance costs to be incurred by the Group in its potential financing
activities, and provide sufficient financial resources for the long-term
healthy development of CR Gas.

The Group continues to receive many prestigious international and
domestic acknowledgements from respected publications and
institutions in 2019. Platts named us in Top 250 Global Energy Company
Rankings. Our ranking achieved its climb to position 129 in 2019.

DEVELOPMENT PROSPECT

In 2019, Chinese macro economy continued to maintain stable growth.
With the effective implementation of policies including the promotion
of “coal-to-gas conversion” strategy, the market demand for natural
gas maintained a rapid growth, and the status of natural gas in China’s
energy structure was further enhanced. The “13th Five-Year Plan for
Energy Development” stated that the natural gas supply capacity will
have reached over 360 billion cubic meters by 2020, and the proportion
of natural gas consumption in primary energy consumption will have
reached 10%. On one hand, China continues to increase the use of
natural gas in combination with environmental protection policies. On
the other hand, the development of the industry is regulated from four
stages of production, supply, storage and marketing, further pushing
for the reform of China’s natural gas industry.

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2019
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In 2020, seizing the opportunities arising from the development of the
industry, the Group will take the initiative in cooperating with the natural
gas promotion and utilization policies of governments at all levels to
achieve sustainable and rapid growth in its core city gas business. While
focusing on the development of the main businesses, the Group will also
revolve around the expansion of industry chains, explore customers’
oriented value, step up its efforts to expand new businesses such as
distributed energy and charging posts, promote the development of
value-added services, and provide customers with diversified energy
supply and services in an effort to continually enhance shareholders’
return and promote sustainable development of the Group.

APPRECIATION

On behalf of the Board, | would like to take this opportunity to express
our most sincere appreciation to our business partners, customers
and shareholders for their unfailing support as well as all the Group’s
employees for their hard work and dedication in carrying out their duties
and in achieving the Group’s business goal.

WANG CHUANDONG
Chairman

Hong Kong, 27th March, 2020
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OPERATING RESULTS

The Group achieved an increase in turnover of 9.13% to HK$55.835

billion and recorded profit attributable to the Company’s equity holders of
HK$5.043 billion for the year ended 31st December, 2019, representing
an increase of 13.33% over the previous corresponding period. The
operating profit of the Company increased by 8.48% to HK$8.169 billion
and the cash generated from operations increased from HK$8.342 billion
in 2018 to HK$8.491 billion in 2019.

The revenue of the Group was derived from sales and distribution of
gas fuel and related products, gas connection, sales of gas appliances,
design and construction services and gas stations, which respectively
accounted for 72.4%, 18.9%, 0.7%, 1.2% and 6.8% of the revenue for
2019 (2018: 69.9%, 19.4%, 0.7%, 1.3% and 8.7%, respectively).

Gross gas sales volume increased by 15.4% from 24.28 billion m? to
28.01 billion m®,

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2019
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The management team continuously improves the operational
efficiency of the Group to achieve sustainable organic growth.
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Benefiting from the Group’s larger market share of gas projects in
economically developed areas, coupled with the acceleration of
urbanization and the Group's efforts in connecting gas to old residential
households, the total new connected residential customers in 2019
increased by 1.9% to 3.28 million from 3.22 million in 2018.

In 2019, the Group continued to make new acquisitions and invested
or paid HK$0.70 billion in 13 city gas projects. Most of these projects
are either wholly owned or majority owned by the Group. In addition,
as at 31st December, 2019, the Company has announced or the Board
has approved another 5 proposed city gas distribution and related
projects with proposed investments of HK$3.26 billion. The above new
investments amounted to HK$3.96 billion.
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The investments will enable the Group to further extend its coverage
and footprint in the PRC. The Group has existing city gas operations in
these provinces and has 80 regional offices set up in various strategic
locations in the PRC. The projects of the investments will be efficiently
integrated and managed by the relevant regional office depending
on their geographical locations. As such, the Group considers that
the investments will create synergies with the Group’s existing gas
operation, thereby will broaden the Group’s revenue base as well as
enhance and sustain its profitability.

The Group also conducts ongoing evaluation of past investments, which

are essential for making decisions on future investments.

PRECISE BENCHMARKING

“Benchmarking” is the process of comparing one’s business processes
and performance metrics to the best practices of the industry. The
Group has embarked on this best practice to benchmark across all
business units. “Benchmarking” has started off internally with intra-group
benchmarking and have extended to benchmarking against external
best practices of the industry.

Implementing “Benchmarking” measure is an indispensable choice for
CR Gas to accomplish the fundamental transformation of its growth
model from resources-driven growth to efficiency improvement, and is
also one crucial approach taken by CR Gas to achieve its strategic goal
to become the leading world-class gas enterprise in China.

This combination of internal and external benchmarking helps each
member company to identify the most important gaps between its
current state and where it wants to be. It creates a road map for change
and generates the rigorous cost and performance baseline necessary
to effectively track progress on that road map over time in terms of cost
reductions and performance improvements. All member companies
were required to sign “Benchmarking Responsibility Contracts” with
head office, and the 38 benchmarks previously identified were further
streamlined into 28 quantitative benchmarks, highlighting the key
objectives and becoming more focused and precise. This ongoing
campaign has led to many satisfying results in 2019.

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2019
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Report from the Chief Executive Officer

CONTINUOUS EFFICIENCY IMPROVEMENT
OF REGIONAL CENTRES AND DESIGN &
CONSTRUCTION CENTRES

The Group has 80 regional centres to decentralise the management
of the day to day operation of the Group’s city gas projects across
China. Each regional centre is responsible for the day to day operation
of a cluster of cities within their respective regions. This enhances the
operation efficiencies and provides better services that respond faster
to changing local demand and conditions.

Members of the Group’s management team concurrently serve as
regional general managers. The arrangement minimises the increase
in headcounts or resources, thereby achieving the goal of attaining
maximum results with minimum resources.

The centralisation of the Group’s design and construction activities will
further enhance standardisation of pipeline construction and central

procurements thereby resulting in further cost reductions.

EEMAZRERLT —B-NETR
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BUSINESS PROCESS STREAMLINING AND
OPERATION ENHANCEMENT

The Group continued its systematic review of the business and
management processes of its various city gas projects. This ongoing
process is expected to continuously enhance the overall operational
efficiency of city gas projects.

The Group’s supply chain management was further streamlined with
rigorous tender system covering construction projects, and the new
or revised guidelines covering various categories of projects and
quality control measures were issued and implemented. With the help
of centralised procurement IT system, the procurement of most of our
materials has been centralised, representing 93.6% of total material
procurement expenditure up to the end of 2019. While safeguarding
product quality, the Group reduced procurement costs through
centralised procurement.

Improvements were also carried out on the employee recruitment,
assessment, remuneration and staff retention policies to enhance the
human resources management process with the objective of recruiting,
promoting and retaining the best talents, from both internal and external
sources. CR Gas’s management team comprises utility professionals
with significant expertise and experiences across financial, regulatory,
commercial and engineering disciplines. We strive to provide and
maintain a satisfying and rewarding working environment for employees
and commit to their training and professional development.

In view of the significant increase in operation size of the Group in
recent years, we continued to promote the application of information
technology systems covering project management, top-up cards for gas
stations, office administration, centralised cash management, financial
reporting, human resources, centralised procurement and customer
service at various levels of the Group’s operation, so as to improve our
operational efficiency.

On the continuous enhancement of customer service, through enhancing
the success rate of household safety inspection, shortening user
complaint processing time, promoting internet payment, quickening
the response of user hotlines and other measures, the Company has
optimised user experience to continuously increase user satisfaction.

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2019
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Report from the Chief Executive Officer

On the financial and tax management areas, the Group has successfully
promoted value-oriented management system to each member company
and thus effectively reduced costs and expenses. In particular, we
further enhanced the centralization of cash management with the
inclusion of more member companies in the system with significant
increase of cash pool size. By doing so, the Group has greatly
reduced the overall cost of borrowing. Furthermore, various taxation
rationalization and reduction measures were taken to reduce tax
exposure and speed up tax setoffs and refunds.

SAFETY MANAGEMENT ENHANCEMENT

The Group has formulated a number of safety management policies
and procedures, and has hired qualified engineers and technical
staff as well, to manage and prevent any potential accidents in the
Group’s natural gas related facilities which may cause damage to the
environment.

In addition to our internally commissioned control, hazard prevention

and emergency recovery procedures, the Group have fully complied
with the relevant local and national environmental protection regulations
and licensing requirement.

EEMRERBERAT —E-IFFR
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To improve our safety standard, the Group carried out a range of
company-wide safety and environment conscious campaigns. Meanwhile,
the Group applied new technologies such as big data and intelligence
to explore intelligent monitoring and dispatch management of gas, so
as to strengthen key aspect and potential defect treatment. In 2019, the
Company invested RMB430 million to complete the transformation of
cast iron pipeline network and old iron pipeline network with the length
of 395 kilometers and 513 kilometers, respectively.

The Group places emphasis on educating staff and users in respect
of safety procedures. Accordingly, the Group regularly organized
trainings and seminars for relevant staff, and the training for certified
safety engineers, with an aggregate of 220,000 persons/times of training
received which effectively regulated employees’ safety behavior. For end
users, explanations of safety procedures are given and regular seminars
as well as distribution of brochures and booklets on safety are arranged.

TRAINING AND REWARD FOR EMPLOYEES

As at 31st December, 2019, the Group have approximately 48,570
employees. The Group values human resources and recognises the
importance of attracting, training and retaining quality staff for its
continual success. In addition to the “Gas Faculty” in China Resources
University, which designs courses and provides training programs to the
Group’s workforce, the Group also operates 5 regional training centres
covering Eastern, Northern, Central, Southern and South-Western China.
These centres are located in our regional centres of Wuxi, Jining,
Zhengzhou, Fuzhou and Chengdu. Various types of management and
technical trainings are conducted through the Group for different levels
of staff to enhance their knowledge and skills. Improvements were also
carried out on the employee recruitment, assessment, remuneration and
staff retention policies to enhance the human resources management
process with the objective of recruiting, promoting and retaining the best
talents, from both internal and external sources. CR Gas’s management
team comprises utility professionals with significant expertise across
financial, regulatory, commercial and engineering disciplines. We
strive to provide and maintain a satisfying and rewarding working
environment for employees and commit to their training and professional
development. The Group remunerates its employees based on their
performance, work experience and the prevailing market wage level.
Further, bonuses are granted to employees and incentive awards
are made to employees based on merit and performance. The Group
believes this will assist to attract and retain quality staff and at the same
time encourage the employees to give their best performances.

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2019



[ B

EHEANRE X TARRRFRN AT
& AEE-EREFED - ARECDEDRS
BEBREREERNMN G -

FEEFEHMALEERERRRYEFE
HZ 2 ERMBIAERETER Rt %
2R

ARBEZBERISEREFASD O - WHF
BEDEEARTEE LAERE - Y
REBRKE REHAEFHRI09RER 5
LA BEES Mk TERE  A&EH
BRI R MmERET REEERES - A
BRRERRBGELANZEESE - 2ERE
EFRBIERR o

AEBBETSAZRAKHTERER
K ECEMESEEZRBRPE -
2019 F AR E TR CEHERZAER
BEFMRRSMH)  ETRBEHRAL
YO EERA2EEENEERRE ¥
NoAE R 2868 E - WAL B (i
FHRAE R 2 B TIE -

REWmE

Report from the Chief Executive Officer

RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group is constantly alert to the threats or uncertainties with negative
consequences facing the industry and has been taking various measures
to safeguard the Group’s interest.

The system of annual and regular safety audit has been established
continuously on all operating member companies of the Group to ensure
compliance with national and local safety regulations.

The Company has set up 5 regional audit centers across the country
and continued to promote regional companies to improve audit and risk
control functions. A total of 109 audits were carried out at the Group and
member company levels, covering areas such as operation, finance,
and project procurement. The Group has revised and issued various
audit and risk control management guidelines, organized major risk
management and internal control self-investigation, and no systemic
risks occurred throughout the year.

The Group continued to improve the construction of legal risk control
system, and comprehensively promoted member companies to
strengthen various legal risk control. In 2019, the Group organized
the preparation and completed the “Legal Risk Prevention and Control

Manual of China Resources Group for Gas Companies ( {ZE HEE%
ARBPEFMER M) )7, which established a legal risk database
covering a total of 12 fields in the daily operation of gas companies,
and involving 868 legal risk areas, and organized member companies
to carry out prevention and control on relevant risks.

EEMRERBERAT —E-IFFR
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ENVIRONMENT AND SOCIAL CONTRIBUTIONS

The Group is supporting the ongoing green environmental policies of
the PRC government by actively expanding our cleaner natural gas
business. Based on the annualised gross amount of about 28.0 billion m?
of natural gas distributed by the Group, it is estimated that annually the
Group helps to replace approximately 340,000,400 tons of coal usage
and reduce approximately 84,762,997 tons of carbon dioxide emissions
and 3,825,045 tons of pollutants.

The Group also carried out charitable activities as token of measure
to contribute to society. The Group’s member companies participated
in poverty alleviation, donation towards education, caring for
underprivileged groups and volunteer service activities in several
regions, proactively donated money and goods for various public welfare
activities in 2019, thus building good corporate images for the Group.

APPRECIATION

| would like to express my deepest gratitude to our management
team and staff members for their unfailing hard work and dedication.
We would continue to work hand in hand to improve service to our
customers, increase efficiency to enhance the values of the shareholders
and employees.

SHI BAOFENG
Executive Director & Chief Executive Officer

Hong Kong, 27th March, 2020
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Financial & Operational Highlights

HMRERE FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS
1
—E-hF —E-N\F ORd)
For the year ended Increase/
BZE+=-A=1+—HLEE 31st December, 2019 2018 (Decrease)
FHERT FHT
HK$’000 HK$'000
EEE Turnover 55,835,113 51,165,371 9.1%
EAR Gross profit 13,930,819 13,621,728 2.3%
KGR (ReEREK AN Profit from operations
EREERBENTIEE) (before finance costs and
share of results of joint ventures
and associates) 8,168,712 7,530,060 8.5%
F R F Profit for the year 6,469,453 5,888,411 9.9%
RABRAFEB AE(E T Profit attributable to the Company’s
equity holders 5,043,477 4,450,101 13.3%
KRR S F5E Net cash from operating activities
(T2 1E) (after tax payments) 8,490,918 8,341,530 1.8%
BREXRREFO (L) Basic EPS™ (HK$) 2.32 2.04 13.7%
BRAHIAE S - B8 OBL) Final dividend proposed per share
(HK cents) 72 62 16.1%
2EIRE - & (OBIL) Total dividend per share for the year
(HK cents) 87 77 13.0%

Bt < (1)

1/\ o

FREABNRD BHITRMO O MET
BEEHE - TEEEEE RIREA R

Note: (1)

scheme.

Basic earnings per share is calculated based on weighted average
number of issued shares, excluding shares held for incentive award

FHMAERERAT —B-AFER 2]
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=E-NF —Z-NF  EHwnORD)
For the year ended Increase/
BE+-A=+—HLEE 31st December, 2019 2018 (Decrease)
FHET FHT
HK$’°000 HK$'000
BEE Total assets 81,023,956 73,571,778 10.1%
Rt MR Bank balances and cash 13,236,655 10,392,696 27.4%
R17 0 ZELEMEE®EZED  Total bank, notes and other
borrowings™ 12,889,152 11,638,022 10.8%
BEFE Net borrowings (347,503) 1,245,326 (127.9%)
ARRIRAFFA AE(RER Equity attributable to the
Company'’s equity holders 26,795,437 24,081,120 11.3%
IR Non-controlling interests 8,561,346 7,527,360 13.7%
EmMaE Total equity 35,356,783 31,608,480 11.9%
—E-NEF —ZE-N\F
BER Financial Indicators 2019 2018
EF= Gross profit margin 24.9% 26.6%
FRIE (FA) Net profit margin (for the year) 11.6% 11.5%
FRR (R ERE) Net profit margin (attributable to shareholders) 9.0% 8.7%
BERBELE® Debt to capitalization ratio® 26.7% 26.9%
BEAGBLEO Debt to assets ratio® 15.9% 15.8%
EENEEES Return on equity 18.8% 18.5%
B 5E Notes:
(1) FERS AP RHE RS A B 5K 785,027,1408 T X JE (1) The amounts due to an intermediate holding company of HK$5,027,140 and

Yo R A X B SRIR0ME TTRT ASRTT ~ BRI

REAMERAHE -

(2 EBEAXREBMELEFERT REREGERER (2)
HERT RRREMBEREEERBRAEL
BERLLH)

(8) EEARMGBLIERT ERREMGERS (3)

REEELENLD -

total assets.

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2019

amounts due from an intermediate holding company of HK$0 are included
in total bank, notes and other borrowing.

Debt to capitalization ratio is the ratio of total bank, notes and other
borrowings to total bank, notes and other borrowings and total equity.

Debt to asset ratio is the ratio of total bank, notes and other borrowings to
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Financial & Operational Highlights

EERE OPERATIONAL PERFORMANCE
—E-hEFEEEE Operational data for 2019
RIE-hE RZZE—-N\F
+=A=+-H +-A=+—H
As at As at
31st December, 31st December, &%)
EEXRE Operational Performance 2019 2018 Change
EHEE Number of projects 251 248 3
ERTEEFY (BBF) Connectable householders
(million) 71.38 68.87 2.51
ERAFBEXR Penetration rate of residential
household 53.0% 50.3% 2.7%pt
BMERE (BBIAK) Gross sales volume (million m?) 28,010 24,278 15.4%
BERREP Residential 6,315 5,522 14.4%
T¥RFP Industrial 13,966 11,406 22.4%
[SEIE]= Commercial 6,133 5,449 12.6%
CNG g CNG station 1,123 1,490 (24.6%)
LNG &z LNG station 473 412 14.8%
FHHERE KL EF Average gas tariff/Cost/Gross margin
(AEBEIHN) (RMB per m?) 2.74/2.16/0.58 2.68/2.08/0.60 0.06/0.08/(0.02)
ERRE (RE) Total length of pipeline (km) 179,216 155,076 24,140
EBRF Connected customers 37,948,710 34,642 424 3,306,286
ERBF Residential 37,654,849 34,376,106 3,278,743
T¥/RF Industrial 21,135 18,285 2,850
EERP Commercial 272,727 248,032 24,695
IHERERUBA (ARE) Average residential connection fee
(RMB) 2,710 2,892 (182)
FREBERE (BEUWR) Gross new households with paid
connection fee
FEEy Total 3,275,795 3,224,555 51,240
AHOE Consolidated 2,349,982 2,243,015 106,967
MEIE(CNG/LNG/L-CNG)  Gas station (CNG/LNG/L-CNG) 354 (225/82/47) 359 (229/85/45) -5 ((4)/(3)/(2))
SHMMARRERAT —B-hETH
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Management Discussion and Analysis
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FINANCIAL RESULTS

The Group’s results for 2019 were mainly driven by organic growth.
The Group’s turnover for the year amounted to HK$55.835 billion (2018:
HK$51.165 billion).

The city gas distribution business contributed an after tax but before
non-controlling interest profit of HK$6.469 billion (2018: HK$5.888 billion)
and profit attributable to shareholders of the Company of HK$5.043
billion (2018: HK$4.450 billion).

Turnover

In 2019, the Group recorded a gross gas volume of 28.01 billion cubic
meters, representing an increase of 15.4%. The turnover of CR Gas
registered an increase of 9.1% from HK$51.165 billion to HK$55.835
billion for the year ended 31st December, 2019.

The Group recorded profit attributable to the Company’s equity holders
of HK$5.043 billion, representing an increase of 13.3% as compared to
HK$4.450 billion for the previous corresponding period.

Gross Margin

The Group’s overall gross profit margin was 24.9%, representing a
decrease of 1.7 percentage points as compared with last year. The
decrease was mainly due to the proportion of revenue from sales and
distribution of gas fuel and related products and revenue derived from
gas stations to turnover increased from 78.6% last year to 79.2% in
2019, while the proportion of revenue from gas connection with relatively
high gross profit margin decreased to 18.9% from 19.4% in the previous
corresponding period.

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2019
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EEEN W RO
Management Discussion and Analysis

Other income, costs and expenses

The increase of HK$580 million in other income was mainly due to the
contribution of value-added services such as gas insurance and pipe
sales, and growth in new businesses such as charging business.

As a percentage of revenue, selling and distribution expenses as well
as the administration expenses were 7.8% and 5.1% respectively (2018:
8.1% and 5.5%, respectively).

Finance expense increased by HK$74 million was mainly due to the
increase in loan interest in the Hong Kong lending market and the
premium on early redemption of part of the US dollar bonds.

The decrease in share of results of joint ventures by HK$37 million and
in share of results of associates by HK$14 million were mainly due to
the reclassification of Neijiang Project from joint venture to controlled
company.

Taxation amounted to HK$1.922 billion, representing 22.9% of profit
before taxation (2018: 25.2%).

EERRERERAT —F-AEEH
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Management Discussion and Analysis
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Strong operating and free cash flow generation

The city gas distribution operation continued to bring in healthy cash
flow with a net operating cash flow after tax of HK$8.491 billion. The
Group recorded bank balances and cash of HK$13.237 billion at the end
of 2019. The Group continued to leverage on its strong balance sheet
to raise low cost finance during 2019 and had a total bank loans and
senior notes and other borrowings of HK$12.889 billion outstanding as
at 31st December, 2019. The Group maintains a very healthy balance
sheet with a low gross debt to total asset ratio of 15.9% (2018: 15.8%).

Reasonable rates of return

In view of the fact that the Group is still in expansion phase, the city gas
distribution operation maintained reasonable return on equity of 18.8% in
2019. The Group invested a total of 13 new projects in 2019. The rates of
returns were expected to improve once all these newly acquired projects
started to attain higher operating efficiency and generated more returns
in 2019 and thereafter.

Major contributors

Previously, the earlier projects of Chengdu, Wuxi and Suzhou acquired
in 2008 used to account for more than 80% of the gas sales volume,
connection fee and net profit contribution. As the Group acquired
more new projects from 2009 to 2019, their contribution percentages
decreased and were taken up by others such as Chongging, Zhengzhou,
Zhenjiang, Fuzhou, Nanjing, Qingdao, Anyang and Wuhan. The
percentage contribution from all projects were expected to gradually
become more evenly distributed in the future. The broadening of the
Group’s earning base will ensure that the Group will not rely heavily on
any single city gas project.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Liquidity and Financial Resources

The net cash inflow after tax from operations during the year amounted
to HK$8.491 billion (2018: HK$8.342 billion).

To fund its acquisition expansion, the Group spent HK$0.70 billion in
capital expenditure during the year. The Group spent HK$3.9 billion
in upgrading and expanding of its existing city gas pipelines and
related facilities (2018: HK$5.8 billion). The above required funding
was financed by the operating cash flow, bank borrowings and cash
on hand of the Group. As at year end, the Group’s bank balances and
cash and other deposits was HK$13.2 billion (2018: HK$10.4 billion).
Among the balances, 3% was denominated in Hong Kong dollar and
96% in Renminbi and 1% in US dollar.

It is the Group’s policy to use the cash flow generated from operations
and appropriate level of borrowings as the principal source of fund to
finance major expansion and acquisition. As at the end of the year,
the Group had total bank, notes and other borrowings of HK$12.9
billion (2018: HK$11.6 billion). 55% (2018: 48%) of the bank, notes
and other borrowings is considered as current liabilities and repayable
within one year, the remaining are repayable in more than one year.
Renminbi, Hong Kong dollar, US dollar and Japanese Yen, denominated
borrowings accounted for 1%, 54%, 43% and 2% of the total borrowings
respectively (2018: 1%, 47%, 50% and 2%). 55% (2018: 53%) of bank,
notes and other borrowings are interest bearing on floating rate terms
and 45% (2018: 47%) are interest bearing bank loans and senior notes
with fixed interest rate.

The bank balances and cash of the Group was HK$13.2 billion as at
the year end. The gearing ratio of the Group at the end of the year,
calculated as total bank, note and other borrowings over total assets,
was 15.9% (2018: 15.8%). The financial position and liquidity of the
Group is very healthy and stable.

The Group has been granted a total of HK$7.8 billion, RMB4.4 billion
and JPY3.879 billion (2018: HK$7.8 billion, RMB4.3 billion and JPY3.879
billion) banking facilities with maturities from 2020 to 2021. The facilities
are unsecured and with floating interest rates. As at the end of the year,
26% of the HK$ facilities (2018: 16%), 0% of the RMB facilities (2018:
31%) and 90% of the JPY facilities (2018: 93%) has been drawn down.
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Other than the above, the Group has no other committed borrowing
facilities. For day-to-day liquidity management and maintaining flexibility
in funding, the Group has managed to obtain sufficient uncommitted
short-term facilities from banks.

Charge of Assets

As at 31st December, 2019, bank deposits of HK$5.2 million were
pledged as securities for trade payables to suppliers of natural gas.

Property, Plant and Equipment

During the year ended 31st December, 2019, the Group’s city gas
distribution business spent HK$776 million on plant, machinery and
equipment and HK$3.869 billion on construction in progress.

Contingent Liabilities

As at 31st December, 2019, the Group did not have any material
contingent liabilities.

Financial Management and Treasury Policy

The financial risk management of the Group is the responsibility of
the Group’s treasury function at the head office in Hong Kong. One of
the major objectives of the Group’s treasury policies is to manage its
exposure to fluctuation in interest rates and foreign currency exchange
rates. It is the Group’s policy not to engage in speculative activities.

Most of the Group’s assets and liabilities are denominated in Hong
Kong dollar, US dollar and Renminbi with some denominated in JPY.
The Group does not expect significant exposure to foreign exchange
fluctuations in this regard.
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Mr. Shi Baofeng, aged 48, was appointed as an Executive Director and
Chief Executive Officer of the Company on 28th November, 2018, and is
also chairman of Corporate Governance Committee. Mr. Shi joined China
Resources (Holdings) Company Limited in 2006 and China Resources Gas
(Holdings) Limited in March 2007. He consecutively served as the assistant
general manager and vice president of China Resources Gas (Holdings)
Limited and responsible for the operation of South China Region. Mr. Shi
holds a Master of Business Administration Degree from the Southwest
Jiaotong University and a Master Degree from the China Europe International
Business School; he also holds a Senior Engineer qualification.
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Mr. Ge Bin, aged 56, was appointed as an Executive Director and Vice
Chairman of the Company on 20th February, 2014. He is responsible for
customer service and gas business in the Greater Area of Shanghai, Jiangsu,
Fujian, Hunan and Hubei. Mr. Ge joined China Resources (Holdings)
Company Limited in September 1996 and has been with China Resources
Gas (Holdings) Limited since September 2007 and held former positions as
Assistant General Manager, Deputy General Manager, Senior Vice President.
Mr. Ge holds a Master’s Degree in Engineering from Nanjing Tech University,
and holds a senior economist qualification.
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Mr. Wang Chuandong, aged 57, was appointed as an Executive Director
and General Manager of the Company on 3rd November, 2008. He was
appointed as the Chairman of the Board of the Company with effect from
1st June, 2012. He is also the Chairman of the Company’s Nomination

Committee and the Investment Committee. He was re-designated as a non-

TEREE executive Director and the Chairman of the Board of the Company on 31st
Mr. Wang Chuandong January, 2019. He was appointed as a Director and the General Manager of
China Resources Gas (Holdings) Limited in February 2007. He is currently a
Deputy General Manager of China Resources (Holdings) Company Limited.
Mr. WANG joined China Resources Petrochems (Group) Company Limited
in 1985 and was previously its Director and Deputy General Manager.
He has over 35 years of corporate management experience in the area
of petroleum and related products trading and distribution and holds a
Bachelor’s Degree in Science majoring in Petroleum Refining from the China
University of Petroleum and a Master of Business Administration Degree from
the University of Texas, USA.
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Mr. Chen Ying, aged 48, was appointed as a Non-executive Director
of the Company in June 2012, and is also a member of the Investment
Committee of the Company. He was appointed as a non-executive director
of China Resources Cement Holdings Limited in May 2012, and China
Resources Power Holdings Company Limited and China Resources Land
Limited in June 2012. These companies are listed on the Main Board of
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited. He is Chief Strategy Officer
of China Resources (Holdings) Company Limited since July 2013 and the
Director of Strategy Management Department since October 2011. He has
worked as Project Engineer, Project Manager and Manager of Procurement
Department and Executive Director of China Resources Construction
(Holdings) Company Limited, a fellow subsidiary of the Company, from
September 1993 to March 2002. He was also the Managing Director of
China Resources Land (Beijing) Limited from March 2002 to October
2011 and a Director of China Resources Land Limited from March 2003 to
February 2006. He was also a Director of China Resources Double-Crane
Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd. from May 2012 to December 2015 and a director
of China Resources Sanjiu Medical & Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd. from June
2012 to December 2015. He was also a non-executive director of China
Resources Beer (Holdings) Company Limited (formerly known as China
Resources Enterprise, Limited) from May 2012 to April 2016, which is listed
on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited. He was
also appointed as a non-executive director of China Vanke Co., Ltd. from
March 2013 to June 2017, which is listed on the Main Board of The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited and the Shenzhen Stock Exchange. Mr.
Chen obtained a Bachelor’s degree of Architectural Management from the
Tsinghua University, China in 1993 and a Master's degree of Business
Administration from University of Oxford, the United Kingdom, in 2007. Mr.
Chen joined China Resources (Holdings) Company Limited in 1993.
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Mr. Wang Yan, aged 48, was appointed as a Non-executive Director of
the Company in August 2014, and is also a member of the Audit and Risk
Management Committee of the Company. He joined China Resources
National Corporation (currently known as China Resources Company
Limited) in July 1994. Mr. Wang was appointed as a director of China
Resources Gas Limited in November 2005. He was a Deputy General
Manager of China Resources Gas (Holdings) Limited from September 2007
to April 2012. He was a Deputy Director of Internal Audit Department of
China Resources (Holdings) Company Limited from April 2012 to February
2016. He was appointed as a Director of Internal Audit Department of China
Resources (Holdings) Company Limited in February 2016. He was appointed
as the non-executive director of China Resources Power Holdings Co. Ltd.,
China Resources Land Limited and China Resources Cement Holdings
Ltd. in August 2014. He was also appointed as the non-executive director
of China Resources Medical Holdings Company Limited (formerly known
as China Resources Phoenix Healthcare Holdings Company Limited) in
November 2016. Mr. Wang was a non-executive director of China Resources
Beer (Holdings) Company Limited (formerly known as China Resources
Enterprise, Limited) from August 2014 to April 2016. These companies are
listed on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited.
Mr. Wang holds a Bachelor’s Degree in Economics from the Finance and
Accounting Department, Capital University of Economics and Business,
a Master of Business Administration Degree from the University of South
Australia and is a qualified PRC Certified Accountant.

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2019



BERZ L
Madam Wan Suet Fei

EENRSREEAEBEE

Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

BERZL  Wt=m R-ZE-N\FNABRZTRIFNTES  BHREX
HEBEEZEGKE - FR-ZTENFNANAEREE BAER (£E)
ERARFBHRERANEE - BLTR - NNANFERETXRETIHERS
TEURRN - ZE=FEAEAMRAZERBBLTEMN - REESHOLEE
B RHARGHAMAGERGEUARTHFEMAONE - BAERERT B
BEXREAMEBAORLEESHRR  TERBRERSN  UBREFT
o WRERACRZERBR AR (BABRM LT AR - BORSE : 1313) #
EFMITES -

Madam Wan Suet Fei, aged 43, was appointed as a Non-executive Director
of the Company in August 2018, and is also a member of the Audit and
Risk Management Committee of the Company. She joined China Resources
Group in August 2008 and is currently the senior Deputy General Manager
of the Finance Department of China Resources (Holdings) Company Limited.
Madam Wan obtained a bachelor’s degree of business administration from
The Chinese University of Hong Kong in 1999 and a master’'s degree of
science in finance from the Durham University, the United Kingdom, in 2003.
She is a member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants,
a fellow member of the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants and
a Chartered Financial Analyst. She previously served investment bank,
multi-national corporations and audit firm in equity research, strategic
development analysis of various industries, finance and audit respectively.
She is currently a non-executive director of China Resources Cement
Holdings Limited, a company listed on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange
(stock code: 1313).
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Mr. Jing Shiqing, aged 39, was appointed as a Non-executive Director
of the Company in August 2018, and is also a member of Remuneration
Committee and Nomination Committee of the Company. He joined
China Resources Group in July 2003. He worked in China Resources
Power Holdings Company Limited from July 2003 to February 2012, with
experiences in various aspects including production technology, human
resources management and administration management. Mr. Jing has
worked in the Human Resources Department of China Resources (Holdings)
Company Limited since February 2012, and has been appointed as the Vice
General Manager of the Human Resources Department since May 2018
with extensive experience in selection of corporate senior management,
leadership development and talent team building. Mr. Jing obtained a
bachelor’s degree in engineering from the Changsha University of Science
and Technology, China, in 2003 and a master's degree of business
administration from the Nanjing University, China, in 2011. He is currently
a non-executive director of China Resources Cement Holdings Limited, a
company listed on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange (stock code: 1313).
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Mr. Wong Tak Shing, aged 69, was appointed as an Independent
Non-executive Director of the Company in 1998. He is the Chairman of the
Company’s Remuneration Committee and members of the Audit and Risk
Management Committee, Nomination Committee, Investment Committee and
Corporate Governance Committee. Mr. Wong involves in various professional
appointments and public duties, including Member of Probate Committee of
the Law Society of Hong Kong and Member of Working Party on Charities
and Trust of the Law Society of Hong Kong (2011-2018). He was admitted as
a solicitor of the Supreme Court of Hong Kong in 1984, a solicitor of England
& Wales and Australia respectively in 1989, a solicitor of Singapore in 1995
and was appointed as a China-Appointed Attesting Officer with effect
from 18th January, 2003 and full member (TEP) of the Society of Trust and
Estate Practitioners (STEP) with effect from 12th February, 2010. Mr. Wong
has been in private practice in Hong Kong for over 30 years. From 1984 to
1987, he worked as an assistant solicitor with two local law firms in Hong
Kong before setting up his own practice in 1987. Mr. Wong holds a Master’s
Degree in Laws from the Peking University of China and a Master’'s Degree
in Laws from the University of London of England.
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Mr. Yu Hon To, David, aged 71, was appointed as an Independent
Non-executive Director, Chairman of the Audit and Risk Management
Committee and a member of the Remuneration Committee and the
Nomination Committee of the Company on 28th December, 2012. Mr. Yu is
a fellow member of the Institute of Chartered Accountants in England and
Wales and an associate member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants. He has extensive experience in the fields of auditing,
corporate finance, financial investigation and corporate management. He
was formerly a partner of an international accounting firm. He is currently an
Independent Non-executive Director of China Renewable Energy Investment
Limited, Haier Electronics Group Co., Ltd., Keck Seng Investments (Hong
Kong) Limited, Media Chinese International Limited, New Century Asset
Management Limited (which is the manager of New Century Real Estate
Investment Trust, a Hong Kong Collective Investment Scheme listed on
the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited), One Media
Group Limited and Playmates Holdings Limited which are Main Board listed
companies in Hong Kong. He was an independent non-executive director
of Bracell Limited (formerly known as “Sateri Holdings Limited”) (stock
code: 1768), Great China Holdings Limited (stock code: 141) and Synergis
Holdings Limited (stock code: 2340) (companies listed on the Main Board
of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited).
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Mr. Yang Yuchuan, aged 55, was appointed as an Independent Non-
executive Director and a member of the Audit and Risk Management
Committee, Nomination Committee and Corporate Governance Committee
of the Company in August 2018. Mr. YANG is the chief executive and chief
macro economist of Prime China Securities Limited, responsible for the
day-to-day management and operation of the company. He has extensive
experience in financial industry. Mr. YANG was an executive director of
Century Sunshine Group Holdings Limited, a company listed on the Hong
Kong Stock Exchange (stock code: 0509); a non-executive director of TTG
Fintech Limited, a company listed on the Australian Securities Exchange
(stock code: TUP); an executive director of Partners Capital Securities
Limited and the chief executive of Sunshine Asset Management (HK)
Limited. Mr. YANG holds a bachelor’'s degree from Shanghai Jiao Tong
University in the PRC and a master’s degree of business administration from
University of San Francisco in the United States of America.
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Mr. Hu Xiaoyong, aged 55, was appointed as an Independent Non-executive
Director and a member of the Remuneration Committee of the Company
in January 2019. He was appointed as the Chairman and an executive
director of Beijing Enterprises Clean Energy Group Limited (Stock code:
1250) in May 2015. Mr. Hu graduated from the Tsinghua University with an
executive master degree of business administration. He has approximately
over 22 years’ experience in business management. From 2001 to 2013,
Mr. Hu worked with FRIBIRIRE BB BR A F] (Zhong Ke Cheng Environment
Protection Group Company Limited*) as chairman. During the period from 1
August 2008 to 30 March 2016, he was an executive director and the chief
executive officer of Beijing Enterprises Water Group Limited (Stock code:
371) (“BEWG”). He has been appointed as the honorary chairman of BEWG
since 30 March 2016. During the period from September 2014 to October
2018, he was executive director of Beijing Enterprises Medical and Health
Industry Group Limited (Stock code: 2389), shares of which are listed on
the main board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited.
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Zhu Likun, aged 53, was appointed as a Senior Vice President of
China Resources Gas (Holdings) Limited in February 2014, responsible
for operation and safety work. Mr. Zhu holds a Bachelor's Degree
majoring in Petro-chemical Industry Automation from the Nanjing
University of Chemical Technology (currently known as Nanjing University
of Technology), a Master’s Degree majoring in International Economics
from the Soochow University, and a Senior Engineer qualification. He
joined China Resources (Holdings) Company Limited in August 2003.

Ms. Cheng Jie, aged 45, was appointed as a Senior Vice President of
China Resources Gas (Holdings) Limited in February 2014, responsible
for information, finance and internal audit work. Ms. Cheng holds a
Bachelor’s Degree in Business Administration from Zhongnan University
of Finance and Economics. She has worked in China Resources Gas
(Holdings) Limited since June 2005, where she once served as the
Financial Controller. Prior to joining China Resources Gas (Holdings)
Limited, Ms. Cheng served as a senior manager in investment banking
division of Head & Shoulders Securities.

Mr. Huang Weizhong, aged 54, was appointed as a Vice President of
China Resources Gas (Holdings) Limited in September 2007, responsible
for investment and legal affairs. Mr. Huang holds a Master’'s Degree
majoring in International Finance from the Fudan University and licenses
to practice as a lawyer and an engineer. He joined China Resources
(Holdings) Company Limited in March 2000 and has been working for
China Resources Gas (Holdings) Limited since March 2007.

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2019
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

Mr. Yin Xiaojun, aged 46, was appointed as Vice President of China
Resources Gas (Holdings) Limited in March 2012, responsible for
operation and management of Northern Region. He served as various
posts in Suzhou Xin Qu Gas Corporation (&r/IFT@IAF A 7)) from 1996
to 2003, including Scheduling, Engineering Design, Pipelines Deputy
Director, Business Deputy Director, Deputy Director of the Chief Engineer
Office, Workshop Director and Production Chief Director, he also served
as Assistant General Manager in Suzhou China Resources Gas Co., Ltd.
from 2003 to 2005, Executive Deputy General Manager of Chengdu City
Gas Co., Ltd. from 2005 to 2009 and General Manager of Kunming China
Resources Gas Co., Ltd. from 2009 to 2011. Mr. Yin graduated from Tongji
University and holds a Bachelor’'s Degree in Gas Profession.

Mr. Zhu Ping, aged 54, was appointed as a Vice President of China
Resources Gas (Holdings) Limited in March 2012, responsible for
operation and management of North China Region. He has been with
China Resources Gas (Holdings) Limited since September 2004, where
he once served as the Head of Administration. Mr. Zhu had served as
a Deputy General Manager in Huainan Gas Corporation (ffE mER A
7)), an Executive Deputy General Manager in Yuyao Urban Gas Co., Ltd.
(BRBEH TR A BR A A)) from 2000 to 2001, and Senior Project Manager
and General Manager in Wenzhou Xinao Gas Co., Ltd. CE/NFTBARRE
[R 2 7]) from 2001 to 2004.

Mr. Chen Guoyong, aged 58, was appointed as Vice President of
China Resources Gas (Holdings) Limited in March 2012, responsible
for operation and management of Central and Western Region. He is
also responsible for operation and management of the Greater Henan
and Shanxi Area, and concurrently serves as Chairman and General
Manager of Zhengzhou China Resources Gas Co., Ltd. (B0 ZEm A
[/ &]) since April 2015. He is currently a Committee Member of the Gas
Transmission and Distribution Professional of the China Civil Engineering
Society. He joined the Design Institute of Jining Gas Company in 1984
and served as an Assistant Engineer from 1985 to 1986. Mr. Chen
served as Director of the Dispatch Office and an Engineer of Jining Gas
Company from 1986 to 2000, Deputy Secretary of the CPC Committee and
Deputy General Manager of Jining Gas Company from 2000 to 2005, and
Secretary of CPC Committee and General Manager of Jining Gas Company
from 2005 to 2007.
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Mr. Lu Hong, aged 49, was appointed as Vice President of China
Resources Gas (Holdings) Limited in March 2012, responsible for
operation and management of Southeast Region. Mr. Lu holds a
Bachelor’'s Degree in Commercial Enterprise Management from Tianjin
University of Commerce. He served at various posts (from staff member
to Executive Deputy General Manager) in Beijing Jinye Real Estate
Development Co., Ltd. (b R&ZEFEHE) from 1993 to 2000, Chairman
of Fuzhou Jingyou New Building Materials Co., Ltd. (f&M R & #HTA 2
MABMRAR]) from 2000 to 2004, and various posts (from staff member
to Deputy General Manager) in Fujian Anran Gas Co., Ltd. ({8&% %A
MRAEMRAT]) from 2004 to 2007. He served as General Manager of
Yueyang China Resources Gas Co., Ltd. and Qianjiang China Resources
Gas Co., Ltd. from 2007 to 2008, General Manager of Kunming China
Resources Gas Co. Ltd. from 2008 to 2009, General Manager of Fuzhou
China Resources Gas Co., Ltd. since 2009, General Manager of Greater
Fujian Area since 2011, and Acting General Manager of Xiamen China
Resources Gas Co., Ltd. since May 2015.

Mr. Yang Changyi, aged 59, was appointed as Vice President of China
Resources Gas (Holdings) Limited in December 2014, and he also
serves as the General Manager of Tianjin China Resources Gas Limited.
Mr. Yang was the Financial Controller of Suzhou China Resources Gas
Co., Ltd. from 2003 to 2005, the Financial Controller of Chengdu City
Gas Co., Ltd. from 2005 to 2007, the General Manager of Xiamen China
Resources Gas Co., Ltd. from 2007 to 2011. Mr. Yang has studied
Ideological and Political Education in Nanjing Normal University and
Technology Economy and Management in Hohai University; he is also
a qualified accountant in the PRC.

Mr. Yang Ping, aged 46, was appointed as Vice President of China
Resources Gas (Holdings) Limited in December 2016, responsible
for the operation of Central China Region. Mr. Yang was the Chief
Representative of the Shanghai Representative Office of China
Resources Gas (Holdings) Limited from 2005 to 2011, the General
Manager of the Office & Administration Department of China Resources
Gas (Holdings) Limited from 2011 to 2012, the Vice General Manager
of the Greater Hubei Area and the General Manager of Wugang China
Resources Gas (Wuhan) Co., Ltd from 2012 to 2014. Mr. Yang graduated
from Tongji University and holds a Bachelor’s Degree in Gas Profession.

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2019
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Corporate Governance Report

The Group is dedicated to maintaining a good credible framework
of corporate governance with a view to being transparent, open and
accountable to its shareholders.

COMPLIANCE WITH CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
CODE

The Company has adopted the mandatory provisions of the Corporate
Governance Code (the “Code”) set out in Appendix 14 to the Listing
Rules. In line with the mandatory provisions of the Code, the Company
adopted a Corporate Governance Handbook (the “Handbook”) on 23rd
December, 2005 and subsequently updated it in 2008, 2009, 2010,
2012, 2013, 2014, 2015, 2016 and 2018 respectively. The contents of
the Handbook include, among others, directors’ duties, model code for
directors’ transactions in securities, model code for securities transaction
by relevant employees, the functions and terms of reference of the
Audit and Risk Management, Remuneration, Nomination, Investment
and Corporate Governance Committees, disclosure of information,
communication with shareholders, procedures for shareholders to
propose a person for election as a director and Board diversity policy.
All the mandatory provisions under the Code have been adopted
and reflected in the Handbook. The Company has throughout the
year complied with the mandatory provisions of the Code except for
the deviation from the code provisions A.5.5(2) and D.1.4 which are
explained as follows:

Under the code provision A.5.5, where the Board proposes a resolution
to elect an individual as an independent non-executive director at the
general meeting, it should set out in the circular to shareholders why the
Board believes that an independent non-executive director holding his
seventh or more listed company directorship will still be able to devote
sufficient time to the Board. The information as required under code
provision A.5.5 was not provided in the circular dated 23rd April, 2019.
The details were provided in 2019 interim report.
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Under the code provision D.1.4, the Company should have formal
letters of appointment for directors setting out the key terms and
conditions of their appointment. The Company did not have formal
letters of appointment for Directors. However, the Directors are subject
to retirement by rotation at least once every three years in accordance
with the Bye-Laws. In addition, the Directors are required to refer to
the guidelines set out in “A Guide on Directors’ Duties” issued by the
Companies Registry and “Guidelines for Directors” and “Guide for
Independent Non-executive Directors” (if applicable) published by
the Hong Kong Institute of Directors in performing their duties and
responsibilities as directors of the Company. Besides, the Directors are
required to comply with the requirements under statute and common
law, the Listing Rules, legal and other regulatory requirements and the
Company’s business and governance policies.

Save as mentioned above and in the opinion of the Directors, the
Company has met the code provisions set out in the Code throughout
the year.

THE BOARD

As at the date of this annual report, the Board consists of two
Executive Directors, five Non-executive Directors and four Independent
Non-executive Directors, one of whom namely Mr. Yu Hon To, David has
the appropriate professional accounting experience and expertise as
required under the Listing Rules. The names and biographical details
of each Director are disclosed on pages 29 to 37 of this annual report.

Each Independent Non-executive Director has, pursuant to the
guidelines set out in rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules, confirmed that he
is independent of the Company and the Company also considers that
they are independent. The term of office of each Non-executive Director,
including Independent Non-executive Director, is for a period of three
years subject to the requirement that one-third of all the Directors shall
retire from office by rotation at each annual general meeting pursuant
to the Bye-laws of the Company. The relationship (including financial,
business, family or other material/relevant relationship), if any, among
members of the Board are disclosed in this annual report. There is no
such relationship between the Chairman and the Chief Executive Officer.

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2019
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FUNCTIONS

The Board is responsible both for how the Company is managed and
the Company’s direction. Approval of the Board is required for the
strategy of the Group, yearly budget, major acquisition and disposal,
major capital investment, dividend policy, appointment and removal
of Directors and senior management, remuneration policy and other
major operational, financial, risk management and internal control
matters. Day-to-day operations of the Group are the responsibility of
the Company’s management.

The Board held regular meetings during 2019. Details of individual
attendance of Directors are set out in the table below:

—E-NEF —E-NEF —E-NEF —E-hEF
A 8 =Z=A=+=H +tA=tmBE NA=+Z=H +=HB=H
22nd March, 24th July, 23rd August, 3rd December,
Date 2019 2019 2019 2019
BREE FEREE FEREE FEREE FEREE
Mr. Wang Mr. Wang Mr. Wang Mr. Wang
Meeting Chairman Chuandong Chuandong Chuandong Chuandong
HITES Executive Directors
BWEE Mr. Ge Bin N N J 0
Ed {35 Mr. Shi Baofeng N 0 J J
FEITES Non-executive Directors
TEREE Mr. Wang Chuandong V 0 0 N
(R=ZE—h&F—A8 (re-designated as
=t+—HERATE Non-executive Director
HEMITEE) on 31st January, 2019)
BRIE K& Mr. Chen Ying 0 0 0 o
TERE Mr. Wang Yan N o) N N
mERZ L Madam Wan Suet Fei V V Vv Vv
StHEE Mr. Jing Shiging N N N N
BIFHTES Independent Non-executive
Directors
HEBLE Mr. Wong Tak Shing V N J J
MEELLE Mr. Yu Hon To, David V 0 V N
BEIEE Mr. Yang Yuchuan V J N N
Rl Mr. Hu Xiaoyong N N N v
(RZZE—hF—A (appointed on
=t+—HEET) 31st January, 2019)
HeE (MBEARTXER) : Remarks (also applicable to the tables set out below):
vV = HE J = attended
o = @@ O = didn'tattend
N/A= TiEA N/A = not applicable
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The Company held one general meeting during 2019. Details of
individual attendance of Directors are set out in the table below:

—ZE-hE
=p:] EA=+mTAH
24th May,
Date 2019
SEIE ITEREE
Meeting Chairman Mr. Wang Chuandong
HITES Executive Directors
Bk Mr. Ge Bin 0
SEIELE Mr. Shi Baofeng v
FHITES Non-executive Directors
FTEREE (RZTE-NF-A=1+T—BEHATA Mr. Wang Chuandong (re-designated as Non-executive V
FHITESR) Director on 31st January, 2019)
PRE 5 Mr. Chen Ying 0
TELE Mr. Wang Yan 0
BERL L Madam Wan Suet Fei 0
SELEE Mr. Jing Shiging 0
BIAFHTES Independent Non-executive Directors
=HEBLE Mr. Wong Tak Shing Vv
MEELE Mr. Yu Hon To, David v
BEINLE Mr. Yang Yuchuan 0
HEEBELELE (W-E-NE—-A=1+—HEZ{E) Mr. Hu Xiaoyong (appointed on 31st January, 2019) 0
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BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY

The Company adopted a board diversity policy (the “Policy”) on 23rd
August, 2013. A summary of this Policy, together with the measurable
objectives set for implementing this Policy, and the progress made
towards achieving those objectives are disclosed as below.

Summary of the Policy

The Company sees diversity at Board level as an essential element in
maintaining a competitive advantage. A truly diverse Board will include
and make good use of differences in the skills, regional and industry
experience, background, gender and other qualities of the members
of the Board. These differences will be considered in determining
the optimum composition of the Board and when possible should be
balanced appropriately. All Board appointments are made on merit, in
the content of the skills and experience the Board as a whole requires
to be effective.

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2019
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A EEE Measurable Objectives
REZEEHBFHELIRRIBERERE The Nomination Committee will discuss and agree annually all
EEgXNELZTEHMBANFERR 1M measurable objectives for achieving diversity on the Board and
EEGEREWEFUMERR - NERRFE recommend them to the Board for adoption. At any given time, the Board
BHE EEZgrESRREER—TEXEZH may seek to improve one or more aspects of its diversity and measure
AHZait s WiEEFT2EE - REEF progress accordingly. For the year under review, no measurable
B REZERUVESTAHEAE - objective was set by the Nomination Committee.
1T Implementation
RARMERS E2EFELTERL As at the date of this report, the Board’s composition under major
AR LA diversified perspectives was summarised as follows:
MR
Gender
@k
Ethnicity
FheuE R

40-49 (4 50-59 (4 60-69 (1
Age Group ) @) )
PR 75 < HA
Year of Service 0-5()
E%)\% | | | | | | | | | | | |
Number of B 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11
Directors
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BT

ARREBAAERSEBETXHRIAR
B REHACHMBNREE - SR ED
EEHWBBE LT RRESHEE RER
BF#Es - B TR REMBEREER
EEMERNVBBEERTERETESE - U
ERAERERESRELSRFOEE AN

DIRECTORS’ TRAINING

All Directors are encouraged to participate in continuous professional
development to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills. Each
newly appointed Director would receive the guides covering the statutory
and regulatory obligations of a director of a listed company. The relevant
updates on the latest developments regarding the Listing Rules and
other applicable regulatory requirements are also provided to the

%

EENFAZENBETEZRBELNOT

Directors in order to ensure compliance and raise their concerns on

good corporate governance.

the year is as follows:

BEIEI - HE

Participation of Directors in continuous professional development during

HE g8k R FESHEEER
WERRAEE - REBEA QTR
EE YL E B HERHER
Reading
Receiving training; regulatory
attending and/or updates or
giving talks at information
seminars, relevant to
conference the Company or
and/or forums its business
HITES Executive Directors
Bkt Mr. Ge Bin V v
PEIEEAE Mr. Shi Baofeng N N
FHITES Non-executive Directors
TEREE (RZE—HF Mr. Wang Chuandong (re-designated as v v
—A=+—BEHRATA Non-executive Director on
IEMITER) 31st January, 2019)
ek JEE 4 A Mr. Chen Ying N V
TEXRE Mr. Wang Yan NI NI
BERL L Madam Wan Suet Fei N N
StELEE Mr. Jing Shiging V v
BIUFHTES Independent Non-executive Directors
=B EE Mr. Wong Tak Shing V v
BEE A Mr. Yu Hon To, David V V
BENEE Mr. Yang Yuchuan V N
HEELEE (RZE—hF Mr. Hu Xiaoyong (appointed on V v

—A=+—HEZF)

31st January, 2019)
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CHAIRMAN AND THE CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

As at the date of this annual report, the Chairman of the Board is
Mr. Wang Chuandong while Mr. Shi Baofeng is the Chief Executive
Officer. The Chairman provides leadership to the Board and formulate,
together with the Board, the business strategies and long-term objectives
of the Company whilst the Chief Executive Officer carries out the
decisions made by the Board and is in charge of the Company’s
day-to-day management.

BOARD COMMITTEES

To strengthen the functions of the Board and to enhance its expertise,
as at the date of this annual report, there are five committees namely,
the Audit and Risk Management, Remuneration, Nomination, Investment
and Corporate Governance Committees under the Board, with each
performing different functions.

Audit and Risk Management Committee

As at the date of this annual report, the Audit and Risk Management
Committee comprises of three Independent Non-executive Directors
namely Mr. Yu Hon To, David (Chairman), Mr. Wong Tak Shing and
Mr. Yang Yuchuan and two Non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Wang
Yan and Madam Wan Suet Fei. The Committee’s role is to provide an
independent and objective review of the effectiveness of the financial
reporting process, internal control, risk management as well as internal
audit function of the Group. Its functions broadly fall into the following
three main areas:

° make recommendations to the Board on the appointment,
reappointment and removal of external auditor, and to approve
the remuneration and terms of engagement of external auditor
and any matters related to the resignation or dismissal of external
auditor;

° review the financial statements of the Company’s annual and
half-year reports and accounts; and

o oversee the Company’s financial reporting system, internal controls
and risk management systems.

The terms of reference of the Audit and Risk Management Committee

have been uploaded to the websites of the Stock Exchange and the
Company.
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During 2019 and up to the date of this annual report, the Audit and
Risk Management Committee has reviewed the financial statements
and yearly results announcement for 2018, and those for the half-yearly
results and yearly results for 2019. These include the review of the
Group’s financial and accounting policies and practices; the review of
the continuing connected transactions of the Company conducted in
2018 and 2019; and the review of the internal audit reports prepared
by the Company’s Audit Division.

The Audit and Risk Management Committee has held three meetings
during 2019. Details of individual attendance of its members are set out
in the table below:

ES K&
Chairman Members
MEERE IB%KE BERZT EEBLE BEINEE
Mr. Yu Hon Mr. Wang Madam Wan Mr. Wong Mr. Yang
[=p:t Date To, David Yan Suet Fei Tak Shing Yuchuan
—ZE-NF=A+MA 14th March, 2019 v 0 V N N
—Z-hENANAR 9th August, 2019 v 0 v V J
—Z-hE+ZAKRAE 6th December, 2019 \ 0 N N V
YHEESS Remuneration Committee

FHZEENIERE/ETE BN RTE
FREREBAENHHRENEE 85
BENRMNEAS - REE S R E MR
BETE - URERTEZRSREEARN
A DERFEHE -

FMEESaRESEEED LHEMIMARA
N EIAL o

WARFERAY  FMEZE SR =RFILIFH
TEFERBEE (TR EEELE -
HRBELER - RIFRTESRUTLEM
B o

The role and main function of the Remuneration Committee is to
determine and review the compensation and benefit policy of Executive
Directors and senior management, including but not limited to bonus
plan, Incentive Award Scheme and other long term incentive plan,
as well as bonus allocation and salary adjustment of each Executive
Director and senior management.

The terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee have been
uploaded to the websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company.

As at the date of this annual report, the Remuneration Committee
comprises of three Independent Non-executive Directors namely Mr.
Wong Tak Shing (Chairman), Mr. Yu Hon To, David and Mr. Hu Xiaoyong
and one Non-executive Director namely Mr. Jing Shiging.
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During 2019, the Remuneration Committee held one meeting to review
and determine related bonus and compensation of the Executive
Directors and senior management. Details of individual attendance of
its members are set out in the table below:

E3: 4 KE
Chairman Members
HBRELEE
(R=Z-1%&
EBBELE StELE MEEXE —A=1+-AEZEM)

Mr. Hu Xiaoyong
(appointed on
Mr. Wong Tak Shing  Mr. Jing Shiqing  Mr. Yu Hon To, David 31st January, 2019)

—NWE+=A=H 3rd December, 2019

J v v v

REBEE-Z-NAF+-_A=+—HILFE"
BREEABRBED D 2FHMEIIT

For the year ended 31st December, 2019, the remuneration of the
members of the senior management by band is set out below:

A"
FHENEE (BT) Remuneration band (HKD) Number of persons
0% 7C%1,000,0007% 7T HKDO to HKD 1,000,000 0
1,000,001% 7% 1,500,000/# 7T HKD1,000,001 to HKD 1,500,000 0
1,500,001% 7L £2,000,000/# 7T HKD1,500,001 to HKD2,000,000 0
2,000,001 022,500,000/ 7T HKD2,000,001 to HKD2,500,000 1
2,500,00177C23,000,000/% 7T HKD2,500,001 to HKD3,000,000 1
3,000,001 023,500,000/ 7T HKD3,000,001 to HKD3,500,000 2
3,500,001 24,000,000/ 7T HKD3,500,001 to HKD4,000,000 0
4,000,001 24,500,000/ 7T HKD4,000,001 to HKD4,500,000 0
4,500,001 25,000,000/ 7T HKD4,500,001 to HKD5,000,000 9

EHEEHE R AZRBREFALTZESH
1B BIE EMABIK 162 E F A
T WHRRA M ERERMTEI -

REEES
REZBREMIERESRNEFTERE
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REESRMAREBRE -

REZECREREEC LEEB ALK
AN F G, o

Further particulars regarding the directors’ emoluments and the
five highest paid individuals as required to be disclosed pursuant
to Appendix 16 to the Listing Rules are set out in note 11 to the
consolidated financial statements.

Nomination Committee

The role and main function of the Nomination Committee is to review the
structure and composition of the Board, and to make recommendation
to the Board on the selection of individual nominated for directorships.

The terms of reference of the Nomination Committee have been uploaded
to the websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company.
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As at the date of this annual report, the Nomination Committee
comprises of two Non-executive Directors namely Mr. Wang Chuan
dong (Chairman), Mr. Jing Shiging and three Independent Non-executive
Directors namely Mr. Wong Tak Shing, Mr. Yu Hon To, David and Mr.
Yang Yuchuan.

The selection criteria for Directors is that the candidate(s) must have
substantial experience in business relevant to the Company or in
corporate management, or in relevant profession and must be able to
contribute effectively to the objectives of the Company. In identifying
suitable candidates for appointment to the Board, the Nomination
Committee will consider candidates on merit against objective criteria
and with due regard for the benefits of diversity on the Board. Any
committee member may propose suitable candidates for directorship for
discussion and approval by the Nomination Committee, after which the
Board will consider and, if proper, approve such nomination. Directors

—ERFBERE (NER) ARREIE thus selected is subject to re-election by shareholders of the Company in
8o the next general meeting or next annual general meeting, as appropriate,
according to the Bye-laws of the Company.

RIZ—NF REZESERINESER During 2019, the Nomination Committee reviewed the composition of the
HEZEEgmERKREREZERRELRERE Board and its committees and recommended to appoint Mr. Hu Xiaoyong
MIEMITES o as Independent Non-executive Director.

REZBEER=ZF ﬂigﬁiﬁ RE&EF - T The Nomination Committee has held one meeting during 2019. Details of
REFIEKENERILEIE the individual attendance of its members are set out in the table below:
£ K&

Chairman Members
IEREE StEELRE EESBXE WEEXE  BI)%4L
Mr. Wang Mr. Jing Mr. Wong  Mr. Yu Hon Mr. Yang
[=p:t Date Chuandong Shiging  Tak Shing To, David Yuchuan
—N¥—A=+—H 31st January, 2019 N N N N N
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Nomination Policy

Nomination policy aims to ensure that the board of directors of the
Company (the “Board”) has a balance of skills, experience, knowledge
and diversity of perspectives appropriate to the requirements of the
Company’s business.

The Nomination Committee will evaluate, select and recommend
candidate(s) for directorships to the Board by giving due consideration
to criteria including but not limited to (collectively, the “Criteria”):

(a) Diversity in aspects including but not limited to gender, age,
cultural and educational background, professional experience,
skills, knowledge and length of service;

(b) Commitment for responsibilities of the Board in respect of available
time and relevant interest;

(c) Accomplishment and experience in the relevant industries in
which the Company’s business is involved and other professional
qualifications;

(d) Reputation for integrity;

(e) Potential contributions that the individual(s) can bring to the Board;
and

(f)  Plan(s) in place for the orderly succession of the Board.

The above Criteria are for reference only, and not meant to be exhaustive
and decisive. The Nomination Committee has the discretion to nominate
any person, as it considers appropriate.
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The Nomination Committee will evaluate and recommend retiring
Director(s) to the Board for re-appointment by giving due consideration
to the criteria including but not limited to:

(a) The overall contribution and service of the retiring Director(s) to
the Company, including but not limited to the attendance of the
meetings of the Board and/or its committees and general meetings
where applicable, in addition to the level of participation and
performance on the Board and/or its committees; and

(b) Whether the retiring Director(s) continue(s) to satisfy the Criteria.

The Nomination Committee will evaluate and recommend candidate(s)
for the position(s) of the independent non-executive directors of the
Company by giving due consideration to the factors including but not
limited to those set out in Rules 3.10(2) and 3.13 of the Rules Governing
the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited,
subject to any amendments as may be made from time to time, in
addition to the Criteria.

Procedures and Process for Nomination of Directors

The Nomination Committee will recommend to the Board for the
appointment of a Director in accordance with the following procedures
and process:

(a) The Nomination Committee may consult any source it deems
appropriate in identifying or selecting suitable candidates, such
as referrals from existing Directors, advertising, recommendations
from third-party agency firm and proposals from shareholders of
the Company with due consideration given to the Criteria;

(b) The Nomination Committee may adopt any process it deems
appropriate in evaluating the suitability of the candidates, such
as interviews, background checks, presentations and third party
reference checks;

(c) The proposed candidates will be asked to submit the necessary
personal information and biography for the Nomination Committee’s
consideration. The Nomination Committee may request the
candidate(s) to provide additional information and documents, if
considered necessary;

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2019
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(d) Upon considering a candidate suitable for the directorship, the
Nomination Committee will hold a meeting and/or by way of written
resolutions to, if thought fit, approve the recommendation to the
Board for appointment;

(e) The Nomination Committee will provide the relevant information
of the selected candidate to the remuneration committee of the
Company (the “Remuneration Committee”) for consideration of
remuneration package of such selected candidate;

(f)  The Nomination Committee will thereafter make the recommendation
to the Board in relation to the proposed appointment, and where a
non-executive Director is considered, the Remuneration Committee
will make the recommendation to the Board on the proposed
remuneration package;

(9) The Board may arrange for the selected candidate to be
interviewed by the members of the Board who are not members of
the Nomination Committee and the Board will thereafter deliberate
and decide the appointment as the case may be; and

(h) All appointment of Directors will be confirmed by the filing of the
prescribed form with the Companies Registry of Hong Kong and
updating (and, if necessary, filing) of the Register of Directors of
the Company.

Investment Committee

The role and main function of the Investment Committee is to assist
the Board in making investment decisions (including acquisition or
divestment opportunity) within the investment threshold of US$8 million
to US$20 million or other thresholds as authorised by the Board from
time to time.

The terms of reference of the Investment Committee have been uploaded
to the website of the Company.

As at the date of this annual report, the Investment Committee comprises
of two Non-executive Directors namely Mr. Wang Chuandong (Chairman)
and Mr. Chen Ying, and one Independent Non-executive Director namely
Mr. Wong Tak Shing.
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During 2019, the Investment Committee passed 2 written resolutions
by all members of the Investment Committee dated 11th April, 2019 to
review and approve 2 investment proposals.

Corporate Governance Committee

The role and main function of the Corporate Governance Committee is to
assist the Board in developing and reviewing the policies and practices
on corporate governance which are applicable to the Group and making
recommendations to the Board.

The terms of reference of the Corporate Governance Committee have
been uploaded to the website of the Company.

As at the date of this annual report, the Corporate Governance
Committee comprises of two Independent Non-executive Directors
namely Mr. Wong Tak Shing and Mr. Yang Yuchuan, and one Executive
Director namely Mr. Shi Baofeng (Chairman).

The Corporate Governance Committee did not hold any meeting during
2019.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board has the overall responsibility of maintaining an effective risk
management and internal control system to provide reasonable, though not
absolute, assurance against material misstatement or loss and to manage
rather than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve business objectives.

The Board, through the Audit and Risk Management Committee, conducts
annual review of the effectiveness of the Company’s systems of risk
management and internal control covering all material controls, including
financial controls, internal control and risk management systems.

The Audit and Risk Management Committee considers the major
investigation findings on risk management and internal control matter
as delegated by the Board or on its own initiative and management’s
response to these findings.

The Audit and Risk Management Committee also considers the
adequacy of resources, qualifications and experience of the Company’s
accounting, financial reporting and internal audit functions, and their
training programmes and budget. With respect to procedures and
internal controls for handling and dissemination of inside information,
the Company has set out written policies and procedures in relation to
the handling of inside information, including but not limited to measures
to ensure compliance of disclosure requirement.

The Internal Audit Division assists the Audit and Risk Management
Committee to review the effectiveness of such risk management and
internal control system in operation. The Division regularly carries out
internal audit and other related audit reviews and reports its findings
and suggestions for improvement on better internal controls to the
Audit and Risk Management Committee for their consideration. During
the year, the Internal Audit Division also conducted reviews of key risk
management system of the Company. Its findings were reported to the
Audit and Risk Management Committee for consideration and would
form the basis for further improvement in the future. Inspections and
risk assessments were carried out in key risk areas such as operation
environment (concession rights availability and their protection, pipeline
infrastructure bottlenecks, strategy execution hurdles, etc); financial
management (cash custody and management, payment approval
process, receivables management, accounting policy adherence, etc);
safety management (pipeline infrastructure inspection and maintenance
process, safety system and related safety incident reporting structure,
etc); engineering and construction management (tender process
reviews, project management procedures and practice); key materials
procurement (vendor and materials qualification process, tendering and
quality control processes, etc).
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In addition, internal audit division also closely follows up on corrective
actions by all business units on their self-inspections of key risk areas.

Based on the results of the annual review, the Board is satisfied with the
effectiveness of risk management and internal control system currently
put in place for the Company.

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS
BY DIRECTORS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions
by Directors of Listed Issuers (“Model Code”) set out in Appendix 10
to the Listing Rules as its own code of conduct in relation to Directors’
securities transactions. Having made specific enquiry of all Directors, the
Company confirmed that all Directors have complied with the required
standard set out in the Model Code during the year.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR PREPARING
THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge that it is their responsibilities in preparing the
consolidated financial statements. The statement by the Auditor about
their reporting responsibilities on the consolidated financial statements
is set out in the Independent Auditor’s Report on pages 81 to 241.

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

The Company appointed Ernst & Young as independent auditor during
the year. The remuneration for services provided during the year to the
Company’s Auditor includes:

—E-hEF

2019

FET

FriR iR % Services rendered HK$’000
BET RS Audit services 10,680
IERETRTS « PHIZERR Non-audit services for: Interim results review 1,295
A&t Total 11,975
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COMPANY SECRETARY

The Company Secretary, Mr. Lo Chi Lik Peter, is a practicing solicitor in
Hong Kong. Mr. Lo, aged 70, was appointed as the Company Secretary
with effect from 1st September, 2017. He qualified as a solicitor in Hong
Kong in 1976 and has been in continuous practice since qualification.
He is currently a partner of Messrs. Woo, Kwan, Lee & Lo. Although
Mr. Lo is not a full time employee of the Company, he reports to the
Board and in his capacity as Company Secretary advises the Board on
governance matters. The primary contact person of the Company with
Mr. Lo is Mr. Joshua Li, the Chief Financial Officer. Mr. Lo confirmed
that he had fulfilled the 15 hours of Continuing Professional Development
training required of a solicitor in respect of 2019.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

Procedures for shareholders to convene special general meeting

In accordance with the Section 74 of the Companies Act 1981 of
Bermuda (“Companies Act”), the shareholders of the Company holding
at the date of the deposit of the requisition not less than one-tenth of
such of the paid-up capital of the Company carrying the right of voting
at general meetings of the Company, shall have the right to convene a
special general meeting of the Company. If the directors do not within
twenty-one days from the date of the deposit of the requisition proceed
duly to convene a meeting, the requisitionists representing more than
one half of the total voting rights may themselves convene a meeting.

The written requisition for the special general meeting can be lodged at
the Company’s principal office in Hong Kong at Room 1901-02, China
Resources Building, 26 Harbour Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong.

Procedures for shareholders to put forward proposals at a general
meeting

Pursuant to the Sections 79 and 80 of the Companies Act, either
any number of the registered shareholders holding not less than
one-twentieth (5%) of the paid-up capital of the Company carrying the
right of voting at general meetings of the Company (“Requisitionists”),
or not less than 100 of such registered shareholders, can request
the Company in writing to (a) give to shareholders entitled to receive
notice of the next general meeting notice of any resolution which may
properly be moved and is intended to be moved at that meeting; and (b)
circulate to shareholders entitled to have notice of any general meeting
any statement of not more than 1,000 words with respect to the matter
referred to in any proposed resolution or the business to be dealt with
at that meeting.
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The requisition signed by all the Requisitionists may consist of
several documents in like form, each signed by one or more of the
Requisitionists; and it must be deposited at the Registered Office with a
sum reasonably sufficient to meet the Company’s relevant expenses, not
less than six weeks before the meeting in case of a requisition requiring
notice of a resolution or not less than one week before the meeting in the
case of any other requisition. Provided that if an AGM is called for a date
six weeks or less after the requisition has been deposited, the requisition
though not deposited within the time required shall be deemed to have
been properly deposited for the purposes thereof.

Procedures for shareholders to propose a person for election as
a director

Pursuant to bye-law 113 of the Bye-laws of the Company, the Company
may from time to time in general meeting by ordinary resolution elect, or
authorize the Directors to elect or appoint, any person to be a Director
either to fill a vacancy or to act as an additional Director up to the maximum
number of Directors determined by the members in general meeting.

Pursuant to bye-law 115 of the Bye-laws of the Company, no person,
other than a retiring Director, shall, unless recommended by the Board
for election, be eligible for election to the office of Director at any
general meeting, unless notice in writing of the intention to propose that
person for election as a Director and notice in writing by that person
of his willingness to be elected shall have been given to the Company
provided that the minimum length of the period, during which such
notices are given, shall be at least seven days. The period for lodgment
of such notices will commence no earlier than the day after the dispatch
of the notice of the meeting appointed for such election and end no later
than seven days prior to the date of such meeting.

The detailed procedures regarding the election are published on the
Company’s website under Corporate Governance section.
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Corporate Governance Report

Investor Relations

The Company has always recognised the importance of investor relations
activities, as it believes that effective communication with shareholders and
investors is very important to help investors to gain a better understanding
about the Company’s business performance and strategies.

In 2019, we hosted different types of activities through which
shareholders and investors have increased their understanding about
the Company. During the year, the Company met with more than 1,000
fund managers and analysts by means of investor seminars, advisory
meetings and telephone conferences to introduce the Company’s
operating results, development strategies and business updates.

The Company welcomes any suggestions and participation of
shareholders and investors. Any enquiries and suggestions may be
made by letter, telephone, fax or email to the Investor Relations
Department of the Company according to the contact information set
out below:

China Resources Gas Group Limited
Room 1901-02, China Resources Building
26 Harbour Road

Wanchai

Hong Kong

E-mail: investor-relations@crgas.com.hk
Tel: 852-2593-8200
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PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company is an investment holding company. The activities of its
principal subsidiaries and joint ventures are set out in note 46 and note
47 to the consolidated financial statements, respectively.

BUSINESS REVIEW

Review of the business of the Group during the year and discussion on
the Group’s prospects, the Group’s compliance with relevant laws and
regulations which have a significant impact on the Group, relationships
with its key stakeholders are provided in the Chairman’s Statement
on pages 2 to 11, Report from the Chief Executive Officer on pages
12 to 20, Management Discussion and Analysis on pages 24 to 28,
Corporate Governance Report on pages 41 to 59 and Directors’
Report on pages 60 to 80 of this annual report. Description of key risk
factors and uncertainties that the Group is facing is provided in the
Chairman’s Statement and Report from the Chief Executive Officer and
note 5 to the consolidated financial statements while the financial risk
management objectives and policies of the Group can be found in note
41 to the consolidated financial statements. An analysis of the Group’s
performance during the year using financial key performance indicators
is provided in Financial and Operational Highlights on pages 21 to 23 of
this annual report. The Group’s environmental policies and performance
and future prospects of the Group’s business are provided in the Report
from the Chief Executive Officer on pages 12 to 20 and the Chairman’s
Statement on pages 2 to 11 of this annual report respectively.

RESULTS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31st December, 2019
are set out in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income on page 91.

RESERVES

Movements in the reserves of the Group during the year are set out
in the consolidated statement of changes in equity on page 94 to the
consolidated financial statements.

The Company’s reserves available for distribution to shareholders at 31st
December, 2019, amounted to HK$8,018,907,000.

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2019
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FINAL DIVIDEND

The Directors have resolved to recommend the payment of a final
dividend of 72 HK cents per share. Together with the interim dividend of
15 HK cents per share paid in October 2019, total distribution for 2019
would thus be 87 HK cents per share (2018: 77 HK cents per share).

Subject to the approval of shareholders at the forthcoming annual
general meeting, the final dividend will be payable on 15th June, 2020
to shareholders whose names appear on the register of members of the
Company on 28th May, 2020.

DIVIDEND POLICY

In proposing any dividend payment, the Board shall also take into
account the following criteria, including:

° the Company and its subsidiaries’ (collectively, the “Group”)
actual and expected financial performance;

° shareholders’ interests;
° general business conditions and strategies;
° retained earnings and distributable reserves of the Company and

each of the other members of the Group;
° the level of the Group’s debts to equity ratio, return on equity

and financial covenants to which the Group is subject;

° any contractual restrictions on payment of dividends by the
Company to its shareholders or by the Company’s subsidiaries
to the Company;
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o the Group’s expected working capital requirements and future
expansion plans;

. liquidity position and future commitments at the time of
declaration of dividend;

o taxation considerations;

. possible effects on the Group’s creditworthiness;

o statutory and regulatory restrictions;

. general economic conditions, business cycle of the Group's

business and other internal or external factors that may have an
impact on the business or financial performance and position of
the Company; and

o other factors that the Board deems appropriate.

The Board may from time to time pay to the shareholders such interim
dividends subject to the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda and the Bye-
laws of the Company.

Except in the case of interim dividend, any dividends declared by the
Company must be approved by an ordinary resolution of shareholders
at an annual general meeting and must not exceed the amount
recommended by the Board.

Dividends may be distributed in the form of cash or shares subject to
and in accordance with the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda and the
Bye-laws of the Company.

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2019
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CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

The register of members of the Company will be closed from 18th May,
2020 to 22nd May, 2020, both days inclusive. In order to determine the
identity of members who are entitled to attend and vote at the annual
general meeting to be held on 22nd May, 2020, completed transfer forms
accompanied by the relevant share certificates must be lodged with the
Company’s Hong Kong branch share registrar and transfer office, Tricor
Secretaries Limited, at Level 54, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road
East, Hong Kong not later than 4:30 p.m. on 15th May, 2020.

Subject to the approval of shareholders at the annual general meeting,
the proposed final dividend will be payable to shareholders whose
names appear on the register of members of the Company on 28th
May, 2020 and the register of members of the Company will be closed
on 28th May, 2020. In order to qualify for the proposed final dividend,
completed transfer forms accompanied by the relevant share certificates
must be lodged with the Company’s Hong Kong branch share registrar
and transfer office, Tricor Secretaries Limited at Level 54, Hopewell
Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Hong Kong not later than 4:30 p.m.
on 27th May, 2020.

CAPITAL STRUCTURE

As at the end of the year, the authorized share capital of the Company
was HK$1,000,000,000 divided into 10,000,000,000 shares of HK$0.10
each, of which 2,224,012,871 shares had been issued and fully paid,
and the reserves of the Group was HK$26,573,036,000.
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SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS

During 2019, the Company continued to make new acquisitions and
invested or paid HK$700 million in 13 city gas projects. Most of these
projects are either wholly owned or majority owned by the Group. As at
31st December, 2019, CR Gas portfolio included 251 city gas projects
and its footprint covered 22 Chinese provinces and included 3 direct
administrative municipalities, 14 provincial capitals and 73 prefecture
level cities.

In addition, as at 31st December, 2019, the Company has announced
or the Board has approved another 5 proposed city gas distribution and
related projects with proposed investments of HK$3.26 billion.

GOING CONCERN

On the basis of current financial projections and facilities available, the
Group has adequate financial resources to continue its operation for the
foreseeable future. For this reason, the going concern basis continues to
be adopted in preparing the consolidated financial statements.

BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS

The particulars of bank and other borrowings of the Group as at 31st
December, 2019 are set out in Note 30 to the consolidated financial
statements.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A financial summary of the Group for the last five financial periods is set
out on page 242 of this annual report.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of the movements in the property, plant and equipment and
investment properties of the Group during the year are set out in note
14 and note 15 to the consolidated financial statements, respectively.

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2019
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INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Details of the movements in the goodwill and operating rights of
the Group during the year are set out in note 20 and note 21 to the
consolidated financial statements, respectively.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

For the year ended 31st December, 2019, the aggregate turnover
attributable to the five largest customers accounted for less than 10%
of the Group’s total turnover.

None of the Directors, their close associates or any shareholders (which
to the knowledge of the Directors own more than 5% of the Company’s
share capital) has any interest in any of the Group’s five largest
customers or suppliers.

CHARITABLE DONATION

During the year, the Group made donations in cash and in various forms
of goods in the total amount of approximately HK$9,437,148 (2018:
HK$6,336,000).

DIRECTORS AND SERVICE CONTRACTS

The Directors of the Company during the year and up to the date of this
annual report are:

Executive Directors:

Mr. Shi Baofeng
Mr. Ge Bin

Non-executive Directors:

Mr. Wang Chuandong (re-designated as Non-executive Director on
31st January, 2019)

Mr. Chen Ying

Mr. Wang Yan

Madam Wan Suet Fei

Mr. Jing Shiging
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Independent Non-executive Directors:

Mr. Wong Tak Shing

Mr. Yu Hon To, David

Mr. Yang Yuchuan

Mr. Hu Xiaoyong (appointed on 31st January, 2019)

The Company has received an annual confirmation from each
Independent Non-executive Director with each confirming his
independence pursuant to rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules and the
Company still considers such Directors are independent of the Company.

Pursuant to bye-law 110(A) of the bye-laws of the Company, Mr. Chen
Ying, Mr. Wang Yan, Mr. Wong Tak Shing and Mr. Yu Hon To, David
shall retire from office by rotation at the Annual General Meeting and
shall be eligible for re-election.

None of Directors, including Directors proposed for re-election at
the forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company, has a
service contract with the Company or any of its subsidiaries which
is not determinable by the Group within one year without payment of
compensation, other than statutory compensation.

The term of office of each Non-executive Director, including Independent
Non-executive Director, is for a period of three years subject to
requirement that one-third of all the Directors shall retire from office by
rotation at each annual general meeting pursuant to the Bye-laws of
the Company.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS AND CONTRACTS

There was no transaction, arrangement or contract of significance (to
which the Company or its subsidiary or its holding company or its fellow
subsidiary was a party) subsisting during or at the end of the financial
year in which a Director of the Company or his/her connected entity is
or was materially interested, either directly or indirectly.

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION

The remuneration payable to each Director is based on his relevant
qualifications, experience and expertise, his duties and responsibilities
and performance of the Company. The current market situation will also
be taken into account. Bonus and incentive awards may be granted to
individual Directors in recognition of their contribution to the Group. All
the aforesaid form the remuneration policy and long term incentive for
Directors of the Company.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN SECURITIES

Save as disclosed below, as at 31st December, 2019, none of the
Directors, chief executive of the Company and their associates had
any interests or short positions in any shares, underlying shares or
debentures of the Company or any of its associated corporations (within
the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (the
“SFO”)) which were required to be notified to the Company and the
Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO
(including interests and short positions which they are deemed or taken
to have under such provisions of the SFO) or which were required,
pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, to be entered in the register referred
to therein, or which were required, pursuant to the Model Code for
Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers, to be notified to
the Company and the Stock Exchange.

(a) Interests in issued ordinary shares of the Company

As at 31st December, 2019, none of the Directors or the chief
executive of the Company had any interests or short positions in
the shares, underlying shares or debentures of the Company.
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(b) RARRBEEEEREE (ZR) A (b)

AR ([FHEE]) ERTEBERR
HER D K

Interests in issued ordinary shares and underlying shares

of China Resources Beer (Holdings) Company Limited (“CR

Beer”), an associated corporation of the Company

Frit s

BEAIL

HREKRE BB EE Aggregate

BEEME Long or short Number of percentage

Name of Director position shares of interest’

TERE HAE 167,999 0.0052%
Mr. Wang Yan Long position

Bt Notes:
1. WARZZE-NEF+_A=+—8F 1. This represents the percentage of aggregate long position in ordinary

R TR AR T B RIS
EREB2MEBITROOBEILL ©

2. LXHRENMERERAESEAR
SEBAFDEE

(c) RALAMEBELEERELARLTF (c)
(T#EHE]) ERTEBRRABER
mH RS

shares and underlying shares of CR Beer to the total issued shares of

CR Beer as at 31st December, 2019.

2. All interests disclosed above are being held by the Director in his

capacity as beneficial owner.

Interests in issued ordinary shares and underlying shares

of China Resources Land Limited (“CRL”), an associated

corporation of the Company

i R 2

wEASH

HRHBXE R EE Aggregate

BEEME Long or short Number of percentage

Name of Director position shares of interest'

PR S A e 500,000 0.0070%
Mr. Chen Ying Long position

Bt Notes:
1. AR -—ZE—hE+-A=+—BF 1. This represents the percentage of aggregate long position in ordinary

EHEM LR ARRERGOT R BRI
EHEMR MO BITRONEDL

2. LtXHRENMAERRRAEEAR
SEAANFNRE ©

shares and underlying shares of CRL to the total issued shares of CRL

as at 31st December, 2019.

2. All interests disclosed above are being held by the Director in his

capacity as beneficial owner.
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(d) REAFMEBEIEEFEELZRER (d) Interests in issued ordinary shares and underlying shares of
AR (TEHEH]) EBRTEERRME China Resources Power Holdings Company Limited (“CRP”),
R ER an associated corporation of the Company

Frib s
BEAIL
HRRKRE BB B8 Aggregate

BEEnR Long or short Number of percentage

Name of Director position shares of interest’

TEXRE e 44,000 0.0009%

Mr. Wang Yan Long position
B3 Notes:

1. HWER-_Z—AF+_-_A=+—HFF# 1. This represents the percentage of aggregate long position in ordinary
EHE B AR DI B RS shares and underlying shares of CRP to the total issued shares of CRP
EHEN2HEETROBED L as at 31st December, 2019.
2. EXFBRENMEEGRBESUE 2. All interests disclosed above are being held by the Director in his
HHBEAEHEFE - capacity as beneficial owner.
(e) MEADTHRE EEEBEICRIERAR (e) Interests in issued ordinary shares and underlying shares of

nE (TFERXE]D ERITEBEREME
B R H R

China Resources Cement Holdings Limited (“CR Cement”), an
associated corporation of the Company

PR RS

BEISHL

HRRKRE BB EE Aggregate

EEHE Long or short Number of percentage

Name of Director position shares of interest’

BRIE S HE 230,000 0.0033%
Mr. Chen Ying Long position

B EE Notes:

1. UARZZE-AF+A=1+—Bm#E
RO L B M ABRR T A ARG
ERREZMEBITRONBEDILL ©

2. EXAEEMNMERSRMEENE
SHBEAHNEE -

1.

This represents the percentage of aggregate long position in ordinary
shares and underlying shares of CR Cement to the total issued shares

of CR Cement as at 31st December, 2019.

All interests disclosed above are being held by the Director in his

capacity as beneficial owner.
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(f) Interests in issued ordinary shares and underlying shares of
China Resources Pharmaceutical Group Limited (“CR Pharm”),
an associated corporation of the Company

Frit#Esm

BEAI

HRERKRE BB EE Aggregate

EEnR Long or short Number of percentage

Name of Director position shares of interest’

FEXE [ S=) 2,000 0.0001%
Mr. Wang Yan Long position

B - Notes:
1. HAR-—E—AE+-A=+—8F 1. This represents the percentage of aggregate long position in ordinary
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Lt o
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bt AEBER B ERRNEIEEELHE
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tRBEEENAR ([RERAD  patE
BEERADLME ERERBMSAER
BB D LARUAERERBEMARTFE
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HEEE S ERTE TREN I REER
e AR - WIRERBRBIAEE R
BREGBHERAREREESEZES - 1
HEINAARHRAEE S ERNSRME
FICEN = o BRIFHESEIRALLL - RE)
FFEIE M A BB TFAB - REERT
B SRR IR A BB B R A T 4K
HEEE BB MBI RO BIARAF]
P EBITIRAMN5%K%0.5% AR °

shares and underlying shares of CR Pharm to the total issued shares
of CR Pharm as at 31st December, 2019.

2. All interests disclosed above are being held by the spouse of the
Director concerned.

LONG TERM AWARD SCHEME

On 1st December, 2008, the Company adopted a share repurchased
cash award scheme (the “Incentive Award Scheme”), pursuant to which
selected employees of the Group or investee companies (being any
company in which the Company directly or indirectly owns 5% or more
attributable equity interests (the “Investee Company”), and in calculating
the percentage interest so attributed, the percentage interest held in
the Investee Company shall be multiplied by the percentage interest in
each level of entity through which such interest is held by the Group),
are entitled to participate in the Incentive Award Scheme pursuant to
the scheme rules.

The purpose of the Incentive Award Scheme is to recognise and
motivate the contribution of certain employees and to provide incentives
and to enable the Group and the Investee Company in retaining their
existing employees and recruiting additional employees and to provide
them with a direct economic interest in attaining the long-term business
objectives of the Company. Unless early termination by the Board, the
Incentive Award Scheme shall be valid and effective for a term of 10
years commencing on the adoption date. The maximum aggregate
numbers of award shares which can be awarded under the Incentive
Award Scheme and to a selected employee throughout its duration are
limited to 5% and 0.5% of the issued share capital of the Company from
time to time respectively.

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2019
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Pursuant to the rules of the Incentive Award Scheme, the Company has
appointed BOCI-Prudential Trustee Limited as trustee (the “Trustee”),
pursuant to which existing shares will be purchased by the Trustee from
the market out of cash contributed by the Group and be held in trust for
the relevant selected employees until such shares are vested with the
relevant selected employees in accordance with the provisions of the
Incentive Award Scheme. A total of 70,000,000 shares were purchased
at an aggregate cost of approximately HK$253,534,680 (including
transaction costs) on 7th April, 2009, representing approximately 4.95%
of the issued share capital of the Company as at date of acquisition.
The Company does not intend to purchase any further share under the
Incentive Award Scheme.

On 16th March, 2010, the Company amended the Incentive Award
Scheme such that cash instead of award shares will be awarded under
the Incentive Award Scheme. The Company will utilize the proceeds
generated from disposal of the award shares held by the Trustee for
the awards made under the scheme. The awards will be subject to
the approval of the Company’s Remuneration Committee and the cash
under the award will only be given upon fulfillment of relevant vesting
conditions imposed on the date of grant of the award.

The Scheme expired on 1st December, 2018 and the Company was
working on the closure of the Scheme. During 2019, the Company did
not grant any award share. Details of the movement of the award shares
held by the Trustee are as follows:

REBROEE
Number of
award shares

RZZEZENFEALHEER Purchased on 7th April, 2009 70,000,000
R-E—ZTERERHE Granted and disposed of during 2010 (1,818,000)
RZT——FREREE Granted and disposed of during 2011 (7,741,496)
RIZE——FREREE Granted and disposed of during 2012 (6,893,520)
RZE—=FREREE Granted and disposed of during 2013 (2,268,500)
R-E—NEREREE Granted and disposed of during 2014 (1,905,100)
RIZ-—RFREREE Granted and disposed of during 2015 (1,310,000)
R-Z—RERERLEE Granted and disposed of during 2016 (2,266,000)
RZT—EFREREE Granted and disposed of during 2017 (0)
RZZE-N\FREREE Granted and disposed of during 2018 (0)
RIZZB-NFREREE Granted and disposed of during 2019 (0)
R-E-hFE+-_A=+—BH0EHR Balance as at 31st December, 2019 45,797,384

EBPRRERBRLE —ZT-NFEFR

Al



72

EEEmE
Directors’ Report

BEXZ

AREIEHZE@EEANLTILE THAER
5 BEFEHMNT

BERERS

FR - AEEKE NG GMEEAEAT#ETE

BREERD  MZEXRPAEET MRS
T4A TR Z BRIRAFTE - BREAGEIE RN T U
e RRNRIMZBMEZTRESES:

Rl & 38 5 1) B A 1% 7B & B2 #E BII 2300055
(EAEE]) [ B R R EF B A B E R NG
BREZE| R2EEBHAETI0% BB
TR RITE T 4B B i XX 5 B0 A% SR el 4
RARENBERERH L ERE - RIFE
IR _ETTHR BIZE14A.5616K - BRI E H A%
EUTHRENRERESINEESERRL
iR AR A o ﬁiﬁﬁﬁ§$5%
BB ERERS  THERAZSHERERS
Jy:

(i)  WAEE R E B EBRET

(i) I REEGERREEETET R

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

The Company has entered into certain connected transactions with a
number of connected persons, details of which are set out bellow:

Continuing Connected Transactions

During the year, members of the Group have entered into continuing
connected transactions with connected persons which are subject to the
reporting requirements under rule 14A.71 of the Listing Rules, details
of which are summarised herein below. The Company’s auditor was
engaged to report on the Group’s continuing connected transactions in
accordance with Hong Kong Standard on Assurance Engagements 3000
(Revised) “Assurance Engagements Other Than Audits or Reviews of
Historical Financial Information” and with reference to Practice Note 740
“Auditor’s Letter on Continuing Connected Transactions under the Hong
Kong Listing Rules” issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants. The auditor has issued an unqualified letter containing
findings and conclusions in respect of the continuing connected
transactions disclosed by the Group as below in accordance with Main
Board Listing Rule 14A.56. The Independent Non-executive Directors
have reviewed the continuing connected transactions and confirmed that
the continuing connected transactions have been entered into:

(i) in the ordinary and usual course of business of the Group;

(i) on normal commercial terms or better; and

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2019
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(iii) according to the agreements governing them, and on terms that

are fair and reasonable and in the interests of the shareholders of

the Company as a whole.

Details of the above-mentioned continuing connected transactions and

the actual amount incurred for the year ended 31st December, 2019 or

the maximum daily amount are summarised as follows:

BHE
—T-hEF
+-F=+—~H
LFFE

For the year
ended

31st December,
2019

BEWHE
(EELMR : AR¥746,092,0007T)
RRARZRWMBRARIBLARARZRNER
DR (—RKRFPBERIHEREETLE 5
AMARAREBIELT (AGREERE
BRAR - KREBRRRAERDA - L RE
HEEMEERAR - EMNEBRIARA
ARGHERBRRERAR (2BHERZ
E-NF+-_A=+—HiIx¥B=_T—Ah
F-—A—BRBRER HEERE) REXRA
R RHEIBE o

RZZE—\F+ZA=+—HZFARAN
BARERLARARKN AR RBMRE X
RERARTLH B - RHBF -

Sale and Purchase Agreement
(Annual Cap: RMB746,092,000)

Purchase of natural gas for 3 years by a number of
subsidiaries of the Company from Shanxi Natural
Gas Limited (WA XA R K B R 2 7)), a limited
liability company established in the PRC which is the
substantial shareholder of the related subsidiaries of
the Company, namely Yanggquan China Resources
Gas Limited, Datong China Resources Gas Co., Ltd,
Hongdong China Resources Hengfu Gas Co., Ltd.,
Huozhou China Resources Gas Co., Ltd. and Yangqu
China Resources Gas Co., Limited (all agreements
entered on 31st December, 2018 and effective from 1st
January, 2019).

On 31st December, 2018, these subsidiaries of the
Company entered into new agreements with Shanxi
Natural Gas Limited for the purchase and supply of
natural gas for a further term of 3 years.

AE1667,281,0007T
RMB667,281,000

EERRERERAT —F-AEEH

73



@%@i&%

Directors’ Report

74
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Maximum daily amount
during the year ended

31st December,
2019

BRA TR

(FE LR : AR%1,700,000,0007T)

N R=ZF—NF+=A=+—8"

(i)(b) Br T 75 5

(if)

RN R GHE A ERITIRS 83K
BERRITROABR AR ([EH
R171) (—RHE RN IERIN T
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F-A—RBER  RH3FE (KR
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RZB-NF+_A=+—8"
ARAGEFEHRITEREF IR
FEF ARG T 3L — IR 17
HIB4F (MRIFHIRAHE—FIER) -

KRS I - AN R A E
HIRTT 2 B ERITIRS -
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AR EREE A EFE RS B BOR
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B 5T — TR ¥ - HRE
(B S HIRATE — SHER) -

Strategic Cooperation Agreements
(Annual Cap: RMB1,700,000,000)

(i)(a)On 31st December,

(i)(b)Other than deposit services,

(i)

2018,
entered into an agreement in respect of the

the Company

use of commercial bank services with China
Resources Bank of Zhuhai Co., Ltd. (“CR Bank”),
a municipal bank headquartered in Zhuhai, for
3 years effective from 1st January, 2019 (unless
extended for a further period). China Resources
Co., Limited (“CRC”) has a controlling interest of
CR Bank and the Company.

On 31st December, 2018, the Company entered
into a new agreement in respect of deposit
and non-deposit services received from CR
Bank for 3 years (unless extended for a further
period).

the Company
utilised commercial banking services provided
by CR Bank.

On 31st December, 2018, the Company entered
into an agreement in respect of the use of the
trust services with China Resources SZITIC Trust
Co., Ltd.,
1st January, 2019 (unless extended for a further

(“CR Trust”), for 3 years effective from
period). CRC has a controlling interest of CR
Trust and the Company.

On 31st December, 2018, the Company entered
into a new agreement in respect of non-deposit
services received from CR Trust for 3 years
(unless extended for a further period).

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2019
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Maximum daily amount
during the year ended
31st December,

2019

R A M5 &
(FE LR : AK%1,700,000,000

(U]

(if)

(iii)

7T)
RZZE—REF+-A=+=8"
RARGRARAR (RETAKBA
A (MR R B S B B BB RRAN))
mEN (£E) ARAR ([FEHE
BAal) - EaEERG REH
SEQANARKESANEM
MB AR (REERETER LA
A (RRARBRIN) ([EHEE LT
AR REFAHBARHEEE
T ARERETERNERR
HBEEFT L - BHASTE (K3
HR G —HITER) °

RZE-—RFE+_HA=Z+=H"
AR B FEA R BV B AR S A1
OEGIEPNGINSESE L S O E )
19 P FR B B S 9 (R AT B /BB 2 A
TEFEBRT - EHETEAR
ARIMEANEBAR) HEBER
FTRARBBARBERNEER
ANEE BET W - REI3E (Br
FEEARRACIE—PIER) ©

RZZE-AF+=ZA+NH &
RAEABET - ARKE - ZTEA
REERFTUHGHE BT
ZE-A-RARER RHBF
(BIEHREE—FER) -

Framework Loan Agreements
(Annual Cap: RMB1,700,000,000)

(i)

(if)

(iii)

On 22nd December, 2016, the Company
entered into an agreement in respect of the
intra-group lending between the Company
(and any of its subsidiaries but exclude entity
established in the PRC) and China Resources
(Holdings) Company Limited (“CRH"),
company in the CRC, CRH and its respective

any

subsidiaries, which is listed on the Main Board
of the Stock Exchange, other than the Company
(“China Resources Group listed company”) and
any of its subsidiaries in respect of Hong Kong
dollars, RMB or, United States dollars loan for 3
years (unless extended for a further period).

On 22nd December, 2016, the Company
entered into an agreement in respect of
the intra-group lending between any PRC
established subsidiary of the Company and
CRC (and any PRC established subsidiary
of CRC, excluding CR Bank, or Trust and
any subsidiaries of the Company) or a China
Resources Group listed company in respect of
RMB loan for 3 years (unless extended for a
further period).

On 18th December, 2019, the Company entered
into a new agreement in respect of Hong Kong
dollars, RMB, US dollars and RMB loan for 3
years effective from 1st January, 2020 (unless
extended for a further period).

ERRRERERAF

&R
N/A

AR%1,504,314,0007T
RMB1,504,314,000
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Related Party Transactions

Details of the material related party transactions in normal course of
business are set out in note 40 to the consolidated financial statements.
Some of these transactions constitute connected transactions as defined
under the Listing Rules which are set out as follows:

—E-hF
2019
FHET
HK$°000
HE THEBQ R IFERAR Sales to non-controlling shareholders of 379,893
subsidiaries
R R M B A B e 17 50F B U A Interest income from deposits placed in 8,670
a fellow subsidiary
mERHE A FRENERF EWA Interest income from loan to a fellow 39,205
subsidiary
M EER R BRI E R BB A Interest income from loan to an intermediate 16,739
holding company
EEWB R R IEERRAR R (M) Purchase from non-controlling shareholders of 742,777
subsidiaries (Note)
ERNRRMBRATNHEERS Rental expenses paid to fellow subsidiaries -
ERHE AR IEERREROESHAE Rental expenses paid to non-controlling 392
shareholders of subsidiaries
B R R AR MR B Interest expenses paid to an intermediate 89,364

ME eEaLARARKRNARITRBRA

ARRER RBE-ZT-NAF+ZA=
THLEFE HEET ETRAUFE14A
EVREHRE -

FERR

BRTXHBEEN RZT—-NF+-A
=t+—H BFRARFTHREEIL S
BEAAL (LFESHARBTHREE)
RARBBGD RARERD S - BEREE
B GPIEXVEE2R3D MR E AR
RRAREENERRRR - REHENRER
AERES L EGAIEI36GFEZ/RE
A ERIAE

holding company

Note: Included purchases of natural gas from Shanxi Natural Gas Limited.

The Company confirms that it has complied with the disclosure
requirements in accordance with Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules for
the year ended 31st December, 2019.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS

Save as disclosed below, the Directors and chief executive of the
Company are not aware that there was any party (other than a Director
or chief executive of the Company), who, as at 31st December, 2019
had an interest or short position in the shares and underlying shares of
the Company which would fall to be disclosed to the Company under
the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO or which were
recorded in the register maintained by the Company pursuant to Section
336 of the SFO:

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2019
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Management Company?®

AR -E-NF+-A=+—-BFRHK
NERBRBEARREHCEITRNNE
pape i

EHEEARIREGEBRAADIRARA
71,407,828,9910% A% 7 K 14,470,0000%
DA AR ZMRAFRE
B(EE) ERAANEZENB AR -
b E=E (EE) AR ARBEIERAR
7] #91,422,298,9910% % (5 7 #E A #E 25 ©
#48 (£3) 8RR 2 7 ACRC Blueskyy
2EMBAR EMBEEERNE2EHR
B EHRODATEERNZEMNBR
Al At EH(5E) BR2AA - CRC
Bluesky * %0 [ 1 BIZE B AR ER R
AAIAI1,422,298,991 A I% {5 R A HERS o

Capital Research and Management
Company &The Capital Group Companies,
Inc.k) &= & E AR - Eit - The Capital
Group Companies, Inc. #8418 BRAREIH
245,316,000/% i% 1 #E A5 #E  ©

Beneficial owner

RAEQXRNER Long Position in the Company
i s
BEEH
BEHE BEHKE RAHE  Aggregate
RREZH 54 Nature of Long or short Number of  percentage
Name of shareholder Capacity interest position shares  of interest’
EHEE (R) BRAF EREBA Baksn e 1,407,828,991 63.30%
([EREEMRT]) 2 Beneficial owner Beneficial interest Long position
CRH (Gas) Limited
(“CRH Gas")?
£H (88) BRRR? REHIARMER ARER 18 1,422,298,991 63.95%
China Resources (Holdings) Controlled company’s interest Corporate interest Long position
Company Limited?
CRC Bluesky Limited RGN A ER ARl e 1,422,298,991 63.95%
(“CRC Bluesky")? Controlled company’s interest Corporate interest Long position
ZERHBRAR ([EERR]) 2 REH R AR REER e 1,422,298,991 63.95%
China Resources Inc. (formerly Controlled company’s interest ~ Corporate interest Long position
known as China Resources Co.,
Limited (“CRCL")?
REEEERAR ([PEER])? RGN AR ARER 35 1,422,298,991 63.95%
China Resources Company Limited ~ Controlled company'’s interest Corporate interest Long position
(“CRNC")?
The Capital Group Companies, Inc.®  Zi24| A R MHER NalEs iE 245,316,000 11.03%
Controlled company’s interest Corporate interest Long position
Capital Research and EREBA Eakn 1A 245,316,000 11.03%

Beneficial interest Long position

Notes:

This represents the percentage of aggregate long position in shares to the
total issued shares of the Company as at 31st December, 2019.

CRH Gas and Commotra Company Limited directly interested in
1,407,828,991 shares and 14,470,000 shares in the Company respectively
and both companies are wholly-owned subsidiaries of China Resources
(Holdings) Company Limited. China Resources (Holdings) Company Limited
is therefore deemed to be interested in 1,422,298,991 shares of the
Company. China Resources (Holdings) Company Limited is a wholly-owned
subsidiary of CRC Bluesky, which is in turn wholly-owned by CRCL. CRCL is
a wholly-owned subsidiary of CRNC. China Resources (Holdings) Company
Limited, CRC Bluesky, CRCL and CRNC are therefore deemed to have
interest in 1,422,298,991 shares of the Company.

Capital Research and Management Company is a wholly-owned subsidiary
of The Capital Group Companies, Inc. The Capital Group Companies, Inc.
is therefore deemed to have interest in 245,316,000 shares of the Company.

EERRERERAT —F-AEEH
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SPECIFIC PERFORMANCE OBLIGATIONS ON
CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDER

On 6th August, 2015, the Company, as borrower, entered into a facility
agreement in relation to a HK$1,000 million 3-year term loan facility
with a bank. The loan facility is unsecured and interest bearing with any
outstanding amounts to be repaid in full on the date falling three years
from the date of the facility agreement.

Pursuant to the aforesaid facility agreements and facility letter, the
controlling shareholder of the Company, China Resources (Holdings)
Company Limited is required, at all times, to hold an aggregate
beneficial ownership (directly or indirectly) of not less than 50% in
the issued share capital of the Company (the “Specific Performance
Obligation”). It will be an event of default if the Specific Performance
Obligation is breached; and in such case, the relevant banks shall
declare the commitments to be cancelled and/or declare all outstanding
amounts together with interests accrued thereon and all other sums
payable by the Company to be immediately due and payable.

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2019
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DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed in this report, at no time during the year was the
Company, its parent company, or any of its subsidiaries or fellow
subsidiaries a party to any arrangements to enable the directors to
acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in, or debentures
of, the Company or any other body corporate.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

Save and except so far as the provisions of the Bye-law shall be avoided
by any provisions of the Statutes, the Board, President, Vice-president,
Managing Directors, alternate Directors, Secretary and other officers
for the time being of the Company and the trustees (if any) for the time
being acting in relation to any of the affairs of the Company, and their
respective executors or administrators, shall be indemnified and secured
harmless out of the assets of the Company from and against all actions,
costs, charges, losses, damages and expenses which they or any of
them, their or any of their executors or administrators, shall or may incur
or sustain by reason of any act done, concurred in or omitted in or about
the execution of their duty or supposed duty in their respective offices
or trusts, except such (if any) as they shall incur or sustain through their
own wilful neglect or default, fraud and dishonesty respectively.

The Company has taken out insurance against the liabilities and costs
associated with defending any proceedings which may be brought
against the Directors of the Company.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Save as disclosed in this report, no equity-linked agreements were
entered into during the year or subsisted at the end of the year.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY’S LISTED SECURITIES

Other than as disclosed in this report, neither the Company nor any of
its subsidiaries purchased, sold or redeemed any of the Company’s
securities during the year ended 31st December, 2019.
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PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s
bye-laws although there are no restrictions against such rights under
the laws of Bermuda.

PUBLIC FLOAT

An announced by the Company on 25th April, 2019, the public float of
the Company has fallen below 25% of the total issued share capital of
the Company held by the public as prescribed by Rule 8.08(1)(a) of
the Listing Rules.

The management of the Company is still in the process of working out
with relevant parties to identify feasible measures for the restorations of
the public float to an acceptable level. The Company will make further
announcement relating to the restorations of public float as and where
approximate.

AUDITOR

Messrs Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu retired at the conclusion of 2018
annual general meeting of the Company.

The financial statements for the year have been audited by Messrs
Ernst & Young. A resolution will be submitted to the forthcoming annual
general meeting of the Company to re-appoint Messrs Ernst & Young
as the auditor of the Company.

On behalf of the Board

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED
Chairman

WANG Chuandong

Hong Kong, 27th March, 2020
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Independent Auditor’s Report

Rk

To the members of
China Resources Gas Group Limited
(Incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

Opinion

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of China
Resources Gas Group Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (the
“Group”) set out on pages 91 to 241, which comprise the consolidated
statement of financial position as at 31st December, 2019, and the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income, the consolidated statement of changes in equity and the
consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and
notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a summary of
significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31st
December, 2019, and of its consolidated financial performance and
its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance
with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”)
and have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure
requirements of Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for
the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report.
We are independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's
Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have
fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
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Key audit matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment,
were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the
context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole,
and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate
opinion on these matters. For each matter below, our description of how
our audit addressed the matter is provided in the context.

We have fulfilled the responsibilities described in the Auditor’s
responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial statements
section of our report, including in relation to these matters. Accordingly,
our audit included the performance of procedures designed to respond to
our assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated
financial statements. The results of our audit procedures, including
the procedures performed to address the matters below, provide the
basis for our audit opinion on the accompanying consolidated financial
statements.
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BRETEE Key audit matter
BRETSEEES P NMEE How our audit addressed the key audit matter
B E Impairment assessment on goodwill
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We identified the impairment assessment on goodwill as a key
audit matter due to the involvement of significant judgements
and assumptions in estimating the recoverable amounts of the
cash-generated units (“CGUs”) to which goodwill has been
allocated.

As at 31st December, 2019, the carrying amount of goodwill
was HK$669,370,000. As disclosed in note 20 to the
consolidated financial statements, goodwill acquired in a
business combination was allocated to CGUs that were
expected to benefit from that business combination. The
management considered that each subsidiary represents a
separate CGU for the purpose of goodwill impairment testing.
The recoverable amounts of the CGUs were determined based
on the value-in-use calculations, which required the Group to
estimate the future cash flows expected to arise from the CGUs
and a suitable discount rate in order to calculate the present
value.

Our procedures in relation to the impairment assessment on
goodwill included:

° Obtaining an understanding of the management’s process
and basis used in preparing the cash flow forecasts,
including significant assumptions;

o Assessing the appropriateness of the discount rate used
by assessing the cost of capital of the Company and
comparable organisations in the industry, and where
relevant, involving our internal valuation specialists to
independently develop expectations for the discount rate,
and comparing the independent expectations to those
used by management;

o Evaluating the cash flow forecasts used, by comparing
them to recent performance and trend analysis;

° Assessing the adequacy of the disclosures made in the
financial statements on the impairment assessment,
specifically on the key assumptions that have the most
significant effect on the determination of the recoverable
amount of the goodwill.
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BRETEE Key audit matter

BRETSEEES P NMEE How our audit addressed the key audit matter

WAER Revenue recognition
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margins, Assets related to contract works and contract
liabilities as a key audit matter due to the involvement of a
number of judgements in the recognition.

As disclosed in notes 6, 24 and 28 to the consolidated financial
statements, the Group recorded gas connection income
amounting to HK$10,573,372,000 for the year ended 31st
December, 2019 and recognised assets related to contract
works and contract liabilities amounting to HK$3,473,424,000
and HK$13,018,460,000, respectively, as at 31st December,
2019.

Revenue from a construction contract for gas connection
is recognised using the percentage of completion method,
measured by reference to the costs incurred during the year
relative to the estimated total costs of the contract, which
requires the status of contracts to be assessed on a regular
basis. The management of the Group exercises significant
judgements in assessing the extent of progress in satisfaction
of the performance obligation in gas connection contracts,
valuation of contract variations, the completeness and
accuracy of forecast costs to complete, and the ability to
deliver contracts within forecast timescales. The complexity
of the above assessment process applied in the Group’s
recognition policies on gas connection require significant
judgments and could have a material impact on the revenue,
margins, Assets related to contract works and contract
liabilities reported in the consolidated financial statements.

Our procedures in relation to the recognition of gas connection
income, margins, Assets related to contract works and contract
liabilities included:

o Testing the key controls over the approval of construction
contracts for gas connection and monitoring the stage of
completion and development of gas connection projects;

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2019
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Key audit matter

How our audit addressed the key audit matter
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Discussing with the management to assess the
assumptions used in the recognition and the
management’s key judgements involved in determining

the extent of work;

Reviewing the construction progress reports on a sample
basis prepared by project managers by agreeing the
contract sum and budgeted total costs to the respective
signed contracts and approved budgets and checking
material costs and labour costs incurred to purchase
invoices and internal payroll records, and recalculating
the performance progress with input method based on
the costs incurred and the budgeted total costs; and

Evaluating the historical accuracy of the Group’s
estimates on the progress in satisfaction of the
performance obligation through identifying if there are any
late adjustments on the same contracts across different
years and checking completion of selected contracts
through evidencing delivery of completed contracts.
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BRETEE Key audit matter
BRETSEEES P NMEE How our audit addressed the key audit matter
REERTGHEZ Interests in joint ventures
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We identified interests in joint ventures as a key audit matter
due to the significance of these investments to the Group’s
consolidated financial statements as a whole and the
involvement of judgements in the recognition of gas connection
income which could affect the amount of interests in joint
ventures as at 31st December, 2019 and share of results of
joint ventures for the year then ended.

The Group’s principal joint ventures were engaged in the
business of the sale of natural gas, liquefied gas and
connection of gas pipelines as set out in note 47 to the
consolidated financial statements. As disclosed in note 17 to
the consolidated financial statements, the carrying amount
of interests in joint ventures as at 31st December, 2019 and
the gas connection income of the joint ventures for the year
ended 31st December, 2019 were HK$9,505,281,000 and
HK$3,784,339,000 in aggregate, respectively.

Due to the involvement of judgement explained in the above
key audit matter entitled “Revenue recognition”, we considered
the recognition of connection income as one of our focus areas
in the component audits of the significant joint ventures.

Our procedures in relation to the interests in joint ventures
included:

o Obtaining an understanding of the Group’s significant
joint ventures by reading their financial information
and discussing with their respective management and
component audit teams about the financial performance,
significant events which occurred during the year and
the key areas of judgement made in preparing their
financial information to identify and assess the risks that
are significant to the audit of the Group’s consolidated
financial statements;

o Evaluating the sufficiency and appropriateness of audit
evidence obtained from work performed by component
audit teams of the significant joint ventures of the Group
by reviewing their audit documentation and discussing
the results of their work with them; and

o Working with component audit teams of the significant
joint ventures to carry out those procedures set out in the
above key audit matter entitled “Revenue recognition”.

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2019
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Other information included in the Annual Report

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information.
The other information comprises the information included in the Annual
Report, other than the consolidated financial statements and our
auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance

conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the
consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit
or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work
we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement
of this other information, we are required to report that fact. We have
nothing to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of the directors for the consolidated financial

statements

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such
internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from

material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors of the
Company are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue
as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the
directors of the Company either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease
operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors of the Company are assisted by the Audit Committee in

discharging their responsibilities for overseeing the Group’s financial
reporting process.
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Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial

statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s
report that includes our opinion. Our report is made solely to you, as
a body, in accordance with Section 90 of the Bermuda Companies
Act 1981, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility
towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this
report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will
always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can
arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or
in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the
economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated
financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgment and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit.
We also:

° Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks,
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting
from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

. Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion
on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

° Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures
made by the directors.

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2019
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° Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence
obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events
or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability
to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our
opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained
up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or
conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going
concern.

° Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair
presentation.

. Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business activities within the Group to
express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We
are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of
the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit
findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we
identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence,
and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that
may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where
applicable, related safeguards.
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From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we determine
those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period and are therefore
the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s
report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the
matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a
matter should not be communicated in our report because the adverse
consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh
the public interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in the independent
auditor’s report is Tjen, Michael.

Ernst & Young

Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong

27th March, 2020
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HE-ZT-NGF+-A=+—HILFE For the year ended 31st December, 2019
—E-hEF =T N\F
2019 2018
B s FBT FAT
NOTES HK$’000 HK$’000
A Revenue 6 55,835,113 51,165,371
SHE KA Cost of sales (41,904,294) (37,543,643)
EF Gross profit 13,930,819 13,621,728
HAb A Other income 7 1,516,976 936,984
HERDHEALZ Selling and distribution expenses (4,363,509) (4,131,753)
TR Administrative expenses (2,836,848) (2,829,966)
S RVEEZREEIEFE Impairment losses on financial assets, net (78,726) (66,933)
B 7 A AR Finance costs 8 (533,587) (459,632)
BEEERRIEE Share of results of joint ventures 520,511 557,324
FE(REEE N R ELE Share of results of associates 235,638 249,297
R 85 Bi& A Profit before taxation 9 8,391,274 7,877,049
BE Taxation 10 (1,921,821) (1,988,638)
FE R F Profit for the year 6,469,453 5,888,411
FAEMEERKE (FAX) Other comprehensive income (expense)
for the year
BEE AT ES S S E 525 09E B Item that may be subsequently
reclassified to profit or loss
MEEFHEN Z5 Exchange differences arising on
translation (674,632) (1,407,968)
BEETEEN 7 EEEEEE Item that will not be subsequently
reclassified to profit or loss
EERBRATEI AEMEE Equity investments designated at fair
W H PRI E - value through other comprehensive
income:

NEZE (NRTIE) Changes in fair value, net of tax 19,400 (60,287)
FAN2EKEER Total comprehensive income for the year 5,814,221 4,420,156
AR AT EEFEARER : Profit for the year attributable to:

PIN/NCIEZ 2= DN Owners of the Company 5,043,477 4,450,101
eI R A Non-controlling interests 1,425,976 1,438,310
6,469,453 5,888,411
AR AT EEFAZE RS Total comprehensive income for the year
1azE attributable to:
FiN/NEIE 2 =N Owners of the Company 4,391,551 3,197,594
JEIE R R Non-controlling interests 1,422,670 1,222,562
5,814,221 4,420,156
BT BT
HK$ HK$
BRA Earnings per share
AR Basic 2.32 2.04
EHRRERERAT —ZE-IEER
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

RZE-NF+-A=+—8

At 31st December, 2019

—ZE-hE —T-N\F
2019 2018
Bt s FERT FHET
NOTES HK$’000 HK$’000
ERBEE Non-current assets
W% - BERZRE Property, plant and equipment 14 33,295,094 30,918,515
LEME Investment properties 15 81,727 68,182
FREEE Right-of-use assets 16(b) 2,524,679 -
FERFR L IE Prepaid lease payments 16(a) - 1,926,460
REZRNAIIRE Investments in joint ventures 17 9,505,281 9,510,144
REtE N BIRIRE Investments in associates 18 3,811,134 3,438,449
HE AL AT ES AEMEE  Equity investments designated at fair
W B IR AR E value through other comprehensive
income 19 146,258 123,605
5k Goodwill 20 669,370 668,860
1 Operating rights 21 1,185,695 1,234,006
BEBIREE Deferred tax assets 33 277,336 265,822
KRS Deposits for operating rights 3,143 1,593
FREEERS Deposits for right-of-use assets 139,578 =
FENBLOFRIERS Deposits for prepaid lease payments - 79,256
ME - BEREEES Deposits for property, plant and
equipment 141,609 309,642
51,780,904 48,544,534
MENE E Current assets
FE Inventories 22 857,076 940,057
FEU B 5 B 7 K2 E fih fE U 3R Trade and other receivables 23 11,670,689 10,964,798
ARIEABREE Assets related to contract works 24 3,473,424 2,625,560
T L FIE Prepaid lease payments 16(a) - 96,583
BIRFIRITIER Pledged bank deposits 25 5,208 7,550
RITEB LIRS Bank balances and cash 26 13,236,655 10,392,696
29,243,052 25,027,244
mEAE Current liabilities
B FEAREMENFK  Trade and other payables 27 21,995,513 18,485,551
aREAaR Contract liabilities 28 13,018,460 12,342,544
BT B & Government grants 29 77,953 68,116
RITREMEE Bank and other borrowings 30 2,031,347 2,634,961
HEAE Lease liabilities 16(c) 92,177 -
FEIFIIR Taxation payable 739,522 715,910
37,954,972 34,247,082
mEBEFRE Net current liabilities (8,711,920) (9,219,838)
43,068,984 39,324,696
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

RZZE—-NF+=ZA=+—H At 31st December, 2019
—B-h#E —z-N\F
2019 2018
b= FHExT FHET
NOTES HK$’000 HK$’000

BAR K fFHE Capital and reserves
A&7 Share capital 34 222,401 222,401
G Reserves 26,573,036 23,858,719

RARER AE(ER Equity attributable to owners of the

Company 26,795,437 24,081,120
FEPE AR 2 Non-controlling interests 8,561,346 7,527,360
35,356,783 31,608,480

FEREBEE Non-current liabilities
BT & Government grants 29 254,107 224,247
SRITNHMEE Bank and other borrowings 30 285,261 251,382
HEBE Lease liabilities 16(c) 268,990 -
BLEER Senior notes 31 5,545,404 5,823,508
HthRHAE Other long-term liabilities 32 243,845 188,647
EEREE Deferred tax liabilities 33 1,114,594 1,228,432
7,712,201 7,716,216
43,068,984 39,324,696

FNE2MAZHEEMBRREHETER
TECRE-A-TERBERRETE
YHTIALTRREFTSHE

The consolidated financial statements on pages 91 to 241 were approved

and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 27th March, 2020

and are signed on its behalf by:

EER
WANG CHUANDONG
BEF
DIRECTOR
FE

CHAIRMAN

Ed {4
SHI BAOFENG
BF
DIRECTOR
B
CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

ERRRERERAF

“E-NEFEFR

93



94

mEERREER
Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

BE-ZT-NAF+-A=t+—BIEE

For the year ended 31st December, 2019

AATREARE
Attributable to owners of the Company
AR
Bk BRHEE HABR EARE  ENRR SAEZRE  EMRE SRR REEd 0 FEREE BAEE
Shares
held for
incentive Non-
Share Share Contributed ~ Capital Translation award Other ~ Merger  Retained controlling  Total
capital  premium  surplus  reserve  reserve  scheme  reserves  reserve  profits  Sub-otal interests  equity
Téhn TEn  TEn  TEn  TAn  TEn  TEr TR TR TR TEn A
HK$000  HK$000  HKS000  HK$000  HKS000  HKS000  HK$000  HKS000  HK$000  HKS000  HK$000  HKS000
(M) (i) (Mike) (k)
(Notea) ~ (Note ) (Notec)  (Note d)
W=%-/\f-A-A At 1st January, 2018 222401 6378643 7,388,600 2053 (80524) (166,250) 2594262 (8727518) 14451414 22,081,563 7,176,677 29,258,240
ERigh Profit for the year - - - - - - - 4450101 445001 1438310 5888411
BRAFET AL 2EAEN Change i fair value of equity invesiments at
REREAFERS (MBHE)  fair value through other comprehensive
income, net of tax - - - - - - (60,287) - - (60,287) - (60,287)
FRABEENERZER Exchange differences arising on tranlation
Efp2Eka and other comprehensive income for the
year - - - (1,192.220) - - - = (1192200)  (215748) (1,407,968)
ER2E (%) hies Total comprehensive (expense) income for
the year - - - - (1,192220) - (60,287) - 4450101 3197504 1222562 4,420,156
SERERE Capital contribution from non-controling
interests - - - - - - - - - - 83720 83,720
BiRE (Wi12) Dividends paid (note 12) = - - - - - - = (1,198037) (1,198037) - (1,198,037)
ERNBARNE Rk ERRS Dividends paid to non-controllin interests of
subsidiaries - - - - - - - - - - (955,599) (995,599)
BRE%TIES Transfer from retained profits - - - - - - 5291 - (522,091) - - -
RZF-\Et-A=t-H At 31st December, 2018 222401 6378643 7,388,600 20535 (1272,744)  (166,250) 3,056,266 (8,727,518) 17,181,187 24,081,120 7,527,360 31,608,480
R=F-N§-A-A At 1st January, 2019 222401 6,378,643  7388,600 20535 (1,272,744)  (166,250) 3,056,266 (8,727518) 17,181,187 24,081,120 7527360 31,608,480
ERigh Profit for the year - - - - - - - - 5043477 5043477 1425976 6,469,453
BRATE AL 2 EREN Change in fair value of equity invesiments at
REREAFERS (MBHE)  fair value though other comprehensive
income, net of tax - - - - - - 9,794 - - 9,794 9606 19,400
FRABEENERZER Exchange differences arising on translation
Efp2Eka and other comprehensive income for the
ear - - - - (1) - - - - 6T0)  (12912) (6746%)
EREERELE Total comprehensive income for the year - - - - (661,720) - 9,794 - 5043477 42301551 1,422,670 5,814,221
FERER TR Capital contribution from non-controling
interests - - - - - - - - - - 13,659 13,659
£5a0 (Wikr) Business combination (note 37) - - - - - - - - - - MM 141115
BARE (Hi12) Dividends paid (nofe 12) - - - - - - - - (1677234) (1,677234) - (1,677234)
BRNBAREERERRS Dividends paid to non-controlling interests of
subsidiaries - - - - - - - - - - (543,450) (543,458)
ARBETER Transfer from retained profits - - - - - - 5T - (B737) - - -
W=E-NE+=A=1-A At 31st December, 2019 222401 6,378,643 7,388,600 20,535 (1934464)  (166,250) 3,639,777 (8,727518) 19,973,713 26,795,437 8,561,346 35,356,783
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
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BIEFE For the year ended 31st December, 2019

Notes:

Pursuant to the approval of a special resolution at the special general
meeting of the Company on 30th May, 2011, the amount of HK$7,388,600,000
standing to the credit of share premium has been reduced and transferred
to the contributed surplus. The contributed surplus is a distributable reserve
and will be used for payment of dividends and for such other purposes as
allowed by the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda.

The capital reserve arose from (i) discount on acquisition of joint ventures
from an intermediate holding company and fellow subsidiaries of the Group
in prior years; and (ii) the difference between the amount by which the
non-controlling interests are adjusted and the consideration paid for the
acquisition of additional interest in subsidiaries.

Other reserves comprise the changes in fair value of equity investments
designated at fair value through other comprehensive income, general
reserve, statutory surplus reserve, enterprise expansion fund, statutory public
welfare fund and discretionary surplus reserve of subsidiaries established in
the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”), and the changes in net assets
attributable to the Group in relation to the increase in ownership interests in
subsidiaries through cash injection.

The general reserve is appropriated each year on the basis of 5% to 10% of
the profit after taxation of certain subsidiaries as determined by their board
of directors in accordance with the Articles of Association of the subsidiaries.
This reserve should only be used for making up losses, capitalisation into
capital and expansion of production and operation.

The merger reserve represented the difference between (i) the cash
consideration paid, deemed distribution to a fellow subsidiary and shares
issued by the Company; and (ii) the amount of issued capital and premium
of the combined entities under group reorganisations.

EERRERERAT —F-AEEH

95



GERERER
Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

HE-ZT-NGF+-A=+—HBILFE For the year ended 31st December, 2019
—E-hEF —T—)\F
2019 2018
B 5% FER FHET
NOTE HK$’000 HK$’000
K OPERATING ACTIVITIES
35 AT v ) Profit before taxation 8,391,274 7,877,049
THE Adjustments for:
B & B AX Finance costs 8 533,587 459,632
FE U A Interest income 7 (362,410) (333,599)
BATESAEMEEKER  Dividend income from equity
IR ZAI% & B IR B A investments at fair value through
other comprehensive income (3,213) (484)
ERERBTREES Government grants recognised 7 (100,696) (114,927)
EBRAE AR KRB ARHF  Share of profits and losses of joint

X &8 ventures and associates (756,149) (806,621)

HEME  BER&EEIE Loss on disposal of property, plant

and equipment 9 10,793 2,195
HEFEMNBLAFIEEE Loss on disposal of prepaid lease

payments 9 - 1,227
HEFRAEEENERE Loss on disposal of right-of-use

assets 9 388 —
HEGE AN Gain on disposal of joint ventures 7 (153) (12,936)
WAHEBS NTEOELZE  Gain on deemed disposal of partial

Wz interest in an associate 7 (224,083) -
EWE S EFRE Impairment of trade receivables 9 71,607 39,333
H R ERE Impairment/(reversal of impairment)

CRERRE) of other receivables 9 (5,435) 27,600
BRIBERE Impairment of contract assets 12,554 -
ME - BERZETE Depreciation of property, plant and

equipment 9 1,670,049 1,626,869
FRHEEAENE Depreciation of right-of-use assets/

R TB A 4 708 Release of prepaid lease payments 9 184,556 60,415
REMENE Depreciation of investment properties 9 3,952 1,803
R G Amortisation of operating rights 9 63,465 53,444

LBELHBANL LIRS RE Operating cash flows before movements

in working capital 9,490,086 8,881,000
FERL 3Em) Decrease/(increase) in inventories 63,568 (345,006)
JEURE 5 BE 7k K H A JEUR SR AN Increase in trade and other receivables (851,900) (344,823)
ERTIEEEEELM Increase in Assets related to contract

works (921,619) (368,201)
BN E SRR N E b N FIE AN Increase in trade and other payables 1,749,164 1,627,956
AR ELM Increase in contract liabilities 962,742 699,048
KEHEBEENRE Cash generated from operations 10,491,951 10,149,974
BT B E SR PRC Enterprise Income Tax paid (2,001,033) (1,808,444)
R IR ETE IR SRR NET CASH FROM OPERATING

ACTIVITIES 8,490,918 8,341,530
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

F—A=+—HIEFE

For the year ended 31st December, 2019

=E-NF —N\F
2019 2018
FERT FHET
HK$’000 HK$'000
REXEK INVESTING ACTIVITIES
f& B Kb (F R FT 1S IR Proceeds from redemption of other deposits 32,740,658 35,453,324
P REER A EER Repayment from an intermediate holding
company 555,829
EREENBIRE Dividends received from joint ventures 295,538 309,960
BB Interest received 364,616 324,179
HEYE  BENREMERE Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and
equipment 149,345 474,831
B E R FIRE Dividends received from associates 106,904 45,078
BEEYE  BEMKXEEBEN Receipt of government grants for property, plant
BT & and equipment 146,782 203,479
IR IR ITER Withdrawal of pledged bank deposits 2,177 7,253
W BB R B A A Acquisition of subsidiaries 52,963 =
TR E M AT 3R Placement of other deposits (33,036,390) (35,453,324)
BEME - BE REEONRK Payments for acquisition of property, plant and
equipment (3,919,712) (5,462,599)
RREMBAGIREAEREI  Advances of loans to a fellow subsidiary (781,611) (925,222)
FR B A TIREREREE  Advances of loans to an intermediate holding
company - (573,610)
KEELRATNER Repayment from/(advances of loans to) joint
(MEERRREHERBF) ventures 12,331 (5,659)
[FEE &R B E N ERBR Advances of loans to associates (50,571) =
KB IR S A R A B R Repayment from non-controlling interests of
shareholders - 174,218
RAELERNAINRE Investments in joint ventures (44,467) (275,334)
REEE QAR E Investment in associates (3,339) =
M - BEREREBES Deposits for property, plant and equipment (106,162) (50,789)
ERREERS Deposits for right-of-use assets (62,054) =
S B AL IE Disposal of prepaid lease payments - 9,932
KRR Deposits for operating rights (1,585) =
BN R Payments for operating rights (24,707) (28,179)
FREEE ZFENTELFKIE  Right-of-use assets/prepaid lease payments
made (271,222) (378,807)
FHREBRITFER Placement of pledged bank deposits - (3,050)
REXEKRFARSFE NET CASH USED IN INVESTING ACTIVITIES (3,874,677) (6,154,319)
EHARERERLT —B-NEFEH 97
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

HE-ZT-NGF+-A=+—HBILFE For the year ended 31st December, 2019
—E-hEF —N\F
2019 2018
FHET FAET
HK$’000 HK$'000
MEXRK FINANCING ACTIVITIES
FBIRITREMEE New bank and other loans 4,882,052 2,634,129
JEAT R AR X B RIR Amount due to an intermediate holding
company 1,500,000 3,501,781
NI I VNCIEN Amount due to fellow subsidiaries 280,048 =
EREE AR ,TAIE/ Amount due to/(repayment to) joint ventures
(A& & RRIER) 344,869 (65,917)
B YNCIbFA Repayment to associates (36,197) =
EEWB AR R ER Repayment to non-controlling interests of
subsidiaries (22,343) (51,318)
IR R TE Contribution from non-controlling shareholders 13,659 83,720
EEBITREMESR Repayment of bank and other loans (5,453,814) (5,322,822)
BARE Dividends paid (1,677,234) (1,198,037)
BT IR AR AR R AR B Dividends paid to non-controlling shareholders (543,458) (955,599)
EAHIE Interest paid (504,808) (425,294)
EEELEE Repayment of senior notes (276,988) -
BHONREZEH D Principal portion of lease payments (118,459) =
MELBHFARS IR NET CASH USED IN FINANCING ACTIVITIES (1,612,673) (1,799,357)
HeRBESESEYEMNTE NET INCREASE IN CASH AND CASH
EQUIVALENTS 3,003,568 387,854
FYNRERBESEEY CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT
BEGINNING OF THE YEAR 10,392,696 10,355,981
EXFeHNTE  FH Effect of exchange rate changes, net (159,609) (351,139)
FRESRELEEY CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT END
RITEBRRERS OF THE YEAR, REPRESENTED BY BANK
BALANCES AND CASH 13,236,655 10,392,696

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2019
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

#*bZ=

S

- NF+ZA=+—HILFE For the year ended 31st December, 2019

GENERAL

The Company is a listed public company incorporated in Bermuda
as an exempted company with limited liability and its shares are
listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”). The Company’s intermediate parent company is China
Resources (Holdings) Company Limited (*CRH"), a company
incorporated in Hong Kong, and its ultimate holding company
is China Resources Company Limited (“CRCL”) (formerly known
as “China Resources National Corp.”), a company established in
the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”). The addresses of the
registered office and principal place of business of the Company
are disclosed in the Corporate Information of the annual report.

The Company is an investment holding company. The activities of
its principal subsidiaries, joint ventures and associates are set out
in notes 46, 47 and 48, respectively.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong
Kong dollars ("HK$"”) as the Company is a public company with
its shares listed on the Stock Exchange in Hong Kong where
most of its investors are located, and therefore, the directors of
the Company consider that HK$ is preferable in presenting the
operating result and financial position of the Group.

BASIS OF PREPARATION

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
of the Company have given careful consideration to the future
liquidity of the Group in light of the fact that the Group’s current
liabilities exceeded its current assets by HK$8,711,920,000, and
the Group had capital commitments of HK$2,912,944,000 as at
31st December, 2019. As at 31st December, 2019, the Group had
bank and other borrowings totalling HK$2,316,608,000, of which
HK$2,031,347,000 was classified as current liabilities. The directors
of the Company are of the opinion that there are good track records
and relationship with banks which would enhance the Group’s
ability on renewing the borrowing facilities.

The directors of the Company are of the opinion that, taking into
account of the unutilised banking facilities of HK$15,479,424,000
and internally generated funds of the Group and the other factors
described above, the Group has sufficient working capital
for its present requirements for the next twelve months from
31st December, 2019. Accordingly, the consolidated financial
statements have been prepared on a going concern basis.

EERRERERAT —F-AEEH
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

RE-F-AET-A=+-ALTE

For the year ended 31st D

3.1 BEHBERERHE

ecember, 2019

3.1 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND

DISCLOSURES

AEBEERAFENPBHRE B RR
TR ET RASIERT BB M IS S 24

The Group has adopted the following new and revised HKFRSs for
the first time for the current year’s financial statements.

Al o
EBMERELER A5BFEZ Amendments to HKFRS 9 Prepayment Features with Negative
FEITRMIEET TR 1% Compensation
EEPRRELR HE HKFRS 16 Leases
1657
BB ETER FFEIEET - 4B Amendments to HKAS 19 Plan Amendment, Curtailment or
E195R R EET EE Settlement
EHE ezt XEA| Vi AT Amendments to HKAS 28 Long-term interests in Associates
F285 M EE] AERRLZ and Joint Ventures
RA#w
&5 (BBEBER AEHEES HK(IFRIC)-Int 23 Uncertainty over Income Tax
ERBLREg) - THTEM Treatments
RIEFE235
EEPERELER] FERERE Annual improvements to Amendments to HKFRS 3,
—ET-hHEFZE B35 HKFRSs 2015-2017 Cycle HKFRS11, HKAS 12 and HKAS
—E—tFBEH BB BIRE 23
#F E ol AR5 -
BB AEL
F125R BB
R AR
235 HEF]
BREGRASENBRIEMZEE Except for the amendments to HKFRS 9 and HKAS 19, and Annual

MM ELANFORMBE B G ERIE
19RMERI R BB BREEN-F
—hEE_T-LFRYNFRENE

Improvements to HKFRSs 2015-2017 Cycle, which are not relevant
to the preparation of the Group’s financial statements, the nature
and the impact of the new and revised HKFRSs are described

N ZEFIIRBEBIEBMBRE below:
HAZ HE REBHBLT
(a) BABUMBHMEEAFI6FIMRE (a) HKFRS 16 replaces HKAS 17 Leases, HK(IFRIC)-Int 4

BEHERFI7TEHEE B
(ARG HRERELZES) -
REFAGTECTLHREGREMR
g 55 (ElREZEg) -
REFISHLLEHE -BEER
5% (ERlREZES) - 2B
FTHAHS RAERREAR
SHIND o ZERIFHITER © 71
2 EREFEREZRA I
BERARAEE —EEABRE
NFFEMEHENER LTS
FREEERHERRE HET
ERAERRIN - BBETHIRE%E
BIZE165E RSBV AR BTt 4R
FITHR AL HAZEHEREEA
X HEAABEREFRESSS
FTERIE17HREL 2 RABHEE
DEAKLEHERMERE -
It BAEMBIREERE 1657 Y
AEE (EAHBA) 2HEY
MR E -

e
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Determining whether an Arrangement contains a Lease,
HK(SIC)-Int 15 Operating Leases — Incentives and HK(SIC)-
Int 27 Evaluating the Substance of Transactions Involving the
Legal Form of a Lease. The standard sets out the principles
for the recognition, measurement, presentation and disclosure
of leases and requires lessees to account for all leases under
a single on-balance sheet model to recognise and measure
right-of-use assets and lease liabilities, except for certain
recognition exemptions. Lessor accounting under HKFRS 16
is substantially unchanged from HKAS 17. Lessors continue
to classify leases as either operating or finance leases using
similar principles as in HKAS 17. Therefore, HKFRS 16 did
not have any financial impact on leases where the Group is
the lessor.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BIEFE For the year ended 31st December, 2019

3.1 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
DISCLOSURES (Continued)

The Group has adopted HKFRS 16 using the modified
retrospective method of adoption with the date of initial
application of 1 January 2019. Under this method, the
standard has been applied retrospectively with the cumulative
effect of initial adoption recognised as an adjustment to
the opening balance of retained profits at 1 January 2019,
and the comparative information for 2018 was not restated
and continued to be reported under HKAS 17 and related
interpretations.

New definition of a lease

Under HKFRS 16, a contract is, or contains, a lease if the
contract conveys a right to control the use of an identified
asset for a period of time in exchange for consideration.
Control is conveyed where the customer has both the right
to obtain substantially all of the economic benefits from use
of the identified asset and the right to direct the use of the
identified asset. The Group elected to use the transition
practical expedient allowing the standard to be applied only
to contracts that were previously identified as leases applying
HKAS 17 and HK(IFRIC)-Int 4 at the date of initial application.
Contracts that were not identified as leases under HKAS 17
and HK(IFRIC)-Int 4 were not reassessed. Therefore, the
definition of a lease under HKFRS 16 has been applied only to
contracts entered into or changed on or after 1 January 2019.

As a lessee — Leases previously classified as operating leases

Nature of the effect of adoption of HKFRS 16

The Group has lease contracts for various items of property,
machinery, motor vehicles and other equipment. As a lessee,
the Group previously classified leases as either finance leases
or operating leases based on the assessment of whether
the lease transferred substantially all the rewards and risks
of ownership of assets to the Group. Under HKFRS 16, the
Group applies a single approach to recognise and measure
right-of-use assets and lease liabilities for all leases, except
for two elective exemptions for leases of low-value assets
(elected on a lease-by-lease basis) and leases with a lease
term of 12 months or less (“short-term leases”) (elected by
class of underlying asset). Instead of recognising rental
expenses under operating leases on a straight-line basis over
the lease term commencing from 1 January 2019, the Group
recognises depreciation (and impairment, if any) of the right-
of-use assets and interest accrued on the outstanding lease
liabilities (as finance costs).

EERRERERAT —F-AEEH
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

RE-F-AET-A=+-ALTE

B1ERTEREBERKE (&)

For the year ended 31st December, 2019

3.1 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND

DISCLOSURES (Continued)

ERARMA — LI D ERELHEZ
HE (&)

R FHE
R-ZZB-NF-—A-RzHEAER
BRTHENKAERR  ER_F—
NE-A-BZEEBEENKRPBRIL
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ERHEAESHEAE  UHEARE
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BB REELF16HEBFEEERAT
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FEERA
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As a lessee — Leases previously classified as operating leases
(Continued)

Impact on transition

Lease liabilities at 1 January 2019 were recognised based
on the present value of the remaining lease payments,
discounted using the incremental borrowing rate at 1
January 2019 and included in interest-bearing bank and
other borrowings. The right-of-use assets were measured at
the amount of the lease liability, adjusted by the amount of
any prepaid or accrued lease payments relating to the lease
recognised in the statement of financial position immediately
before 1 January 2019.

The Group has used the following elective practical
expedients when applying HKFRS 16 at 1 January 2019:

o Applying the short-term lease exemptions to leases with
a lease term that ends within 12 months from the date of
initial application;

. Using hindsight in determining the lease term where the
contract contains options to extend/terminate the lease;

o Applying a single discount rate to a portfolio of leases
with reasonably similar characteristics when measuring
the lease liabilities at 1 January 2019, relying on the
entity’s assessment of whether leases were onerous by
applying HKAS 37 immediately before 1 January 2019
as an alternative to performing an impairment review,
and excluding initial direct costs from the measurement
of the right-of-use asset at the date of initial application
when applying HKFRS 16.C8(b)(i)



B1ERTEREBERKE (&)

g

i Ny =] /\

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

NE+HZA=+-ALEE

o
o
X

p

For the year ended 31st December, 2019

3.1 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND

DISCLOSURES (Continued)

Ro-E-NF—F—HANYBEE Financial impact at 1 January 2019
RZZE-—NF—-—A—BRANEENE The impact arising from the adoption of HKFRS 16 as at 1
RMEELFB16RAMTZEMT ¢ January 2019 was as follows:
#n, G
Increase/
(decrease)
FHET
HK$’000
BE Assets
EREEEL N Increase in right-of-use assets 2,500,506
FE -+ + 3 FH & FRIEE Decrease in prepaid land lease payments (2,023,043)
TERRRIE - KRR R Decrease in prepayments, other receivables and
H & =R other assets (11,033)
4B EE Increase in total assets 466,430
af& Liabilities
HEAELM Increase in lease liabilities 466,430
M EEM Increase in total liabilities 466,430
BIFa i Decrease in retained earnings -
—NWF—A—HWEEaEHE— The lease liabilities as at 1 January 2019 reconciled to the
E-NE+-_A=+—HHRKLHEE operating lease commitments as at 31 December 2018 are
AGEWEEMT - as follows:
FHET
HK$’000
RZB-NE+=ZA=+—HH Operating lease commitments as at
f@ﬁ‘?ﬂﬁ?‘ﬁ% 31 December 2018 584,149
R-ZT—NE— A —H&EFY  Weighted average incremental borrowing rate
HEEEFE as at 1 January 2019 4.22%
—T-NF— A —BHITIRALEL  Discounted operating lease commitments as at
%ﬁh%&‘a‘% 1 January 2019 502,237
B B HAEE KR TR Less: Commitments relating to short-term leases and
—E-AF+—A=t+—H8= those leases with a remaining lease term ended on
ZRERNAER B &R or before 31 December 2019 (35,807)
R-Z—hE—A—HBWHEEAE Lease liabilities as at 1 January 2019 466,430
EHRIERERLT —Z—NEER

ﬁ%#ﬁm@
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For the year ended 31st December, 2019

3.1 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND

CLOSURES (Continued)

Amendments to HKAS 28 clarify that the scope exclusion
of HKFRS 9 only includes interests in an associate or joint
venture to which the equity method is applied and does
not include long-term interests that in substance form part
of the net investment in the associate or joint venture, to
which the equity method has not been applied. Therefore, an
entity applies HKFRS 9, rather than HKAS 28, including the
impairment requirements under HKFRS 9, in accounting for
such long-term interests. HKAS 28 is then applied to the net
investment, which includes the long-term interests, only in the
context of recognising losses of an associate or joint venture
and impairment of the net investment in the associate or joint
venture. The Group assessed its business model for its long-
term interests in associates and joint ventures upon adoption
of the amendments on 1 January 2019 and concluded that the
long-term interests in associates and joint ventures continue
to be measured at amortised cost in accordance with HKFRS
9. Accordingly, the amendments did not have any impact on
the financial position or performance of the Group.

HK(IFRIC)-Int 23 addresses the accounting for income
taxes (current and deferred) when tax treatments involve
uncertainty that affects the application of HKAS 12 (often
referred to as “uncertain tax positions”). The interpretation
does not apply to taxes or levies outside the scope of
HKAS 12, nor does it specifically include requirements
relating to interest and penalties associated with uncertain
tax treatments. The interpretation specifically addresses
(i) whether an entity considers uncertain tax treatments
separately; (ii) the assumptions an entity makes about the
examination of tax treatments by taxation authorities; (iii)
how an entity determines taxable profits or tax losses, tax
bases, unused tax losses, unused tax credits and tax rates;
and (iv) how an entity considers changes in facts and
circumstances. Upon adoption of the interpretation, the Group
considered whether it has any uncertain tax positions arising
from the transfer pricing on its intergroup sales. Based on
the Group’s tax compliance and transfer pricing study, the
Group determined that it is probable that its transfer pricing
policy will be accepted by the tax authorities. Accordingly,
the interpretation did not have any impact on the financial
position or performance of the Group.
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32 EEMERMRERNEERY 3.2 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG

iR E %A KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
NEBRRERZE B HRER R REK The Group has not applied the following new and revised HKFRSs,
T FBAR R 8 R A RO R ET KA that have been issued but not yet effective, in these financial
BRI BBMBmEER - statements.
EBIMFEIRERER] B TET Amendments to HKFRS 3 Definition of a Business'
E3RHEE]
BB RIRELR| F KRB EIE Amendments to HKFRS 9, Interest Rate Benchmark Reform’
F958 - BB HKAS 39 and HKFRS 7
B AERIEI95R
RBEAUBRE
AR TR
&5
ERMRIRELR| REZHH Amendments to HKFRS 10 Sale or Contribution of Assets
F10E NEB A A AY-]| and HKAS 28 (2011) between an Investor and its
SR F28YE CAMEEHE Associate or Joint Venture®
(20114F) & AT EC
I
BB ERELR] RpL [E? HKFRS 17 Insurance Contracts?
EXVE i
HEAS | BAMZEET Amendments to HKAS 1 Definition of Material’
ERESE and HKAS 8
R 2ER|ZE 8%
HEET
1 RZEZTF—-A—ARUERRZ 1 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2020
FEHRER
2 RZTZ—F—A—BUERRZ 2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2021
F[E AR AR
3 M AREE RSB - BA] TR E No mandatory effective date yet determined but available for adoption
A
BHBEERARAEBZZEE BB Further information about those HKFRSs that are expected to be
HEER 2 — S ER T X - applicable to the Group is described as below.

ERMRRERERLA —ZE-AFFR 105
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3.2 EEMERKRERNEB 3.2 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG
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BHZEEITTEEAEENN B R
RERFMERTZE -

KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(Continued)

Amendments to HKFRS 3 clarify and provide additional guidance
on the definition of a business. The amendments clarify that for
an integrated set of activities and assets to be considered a
business, it must include, at a minimum, an input and a substantive
process that together significantly contribute to the ability to create
output. A business can exist without including all of the inputs and
processes needed to create outputs. The amendments remove
the assessment of whether market participants are capable of
acquiring the business and continue to produce outputs. Instead,
the focus is on whether acquired inputs and acquired substantive
processes together significantly contribute to the ability to create
outputs. The amendments have also narrowed down the definition
of outputs to focus on goods or services provided to customers,
investment income or other income from ordinary activities.
Furthermore, the amendments provide guidance to assess whether
an acquired process is substantive and introduce an optional
fair value concentration test to permit a simplified assessment of
whether an acquired set of activities and assets is not a business.
The Group expects to adopt the amendments prospectively from
1 January 2020. Since the amendments apply prospectively to
transactions or other events that occur on or after the date of first
application, the Group will not be affected by these amendments
on the date of transition.

Amendments to HKFRS9, HKAS 39 and HKFRS 7 address the
effects of interbank offered rate reform on financial reporting.
The amendments provide temporary reliefs which enable hedge
accounting to continue during the period of uncertainty before the
replacement of an existing interest rate benchmark. In addition, the
amendments require companies to provide additional information
to investors about their hedging relationships which are directly
affected by these uncertainties. The amendments are effective
for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2020. Early
application is permitted. The amendments are not expected to
have any significant impact on the Group’s financial statements.

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2019
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BIEFE For the year ended 31st December, 2019

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA. In addition, the
consolidated financial statements include applicable disclosures
required by the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the
Stock Exchange and by the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the
historical cost basis except for certain financial instruments which
are measured at fair values at the end of each reporting period, as
explained in the accounting policies set out below.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the
consideration given in exchange for goods and services.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or
paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market
participants at the measurement date, regardless of whether that
price is directly observable or estimated using another valuation
technique. In estimating the fair value of an asset or a liability,
the Group takes into account the characteristics of the asset or
liability if market participants would take those characteristics into
account when pricing the asset or liability at the measurement
date. Fair value for measurement and/or disclosure purposes in
these consolidated financial statements is determined on such a
basis, except for share-based payment transactions that are within
the scope of HKFRS 2 Share-based payment, leasing transactions
that are within the scope of HKAS 17, and measurements that have
some similarities to fair value but are not fair value, such as net
realisable value in HKAS 2 Inventories or value in use in HKAS 36
Impairment of assets.

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value
measurements are categorised into Level 1, 2 or 3 based on the
degree to which the inputs to the fair value measurements are
observable and the significance of the inputs to the fair value
measurement in its entirety, which are described as follows:

° Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities that the entity can
access at the measurement date;

° Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices included
within Level 1, that are observable for the asset or liability,
either directly or indirectly; and

o Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or
liability.

EERRERERAT —F-AEEH
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HE-ZT-NGF+-A=+—HBILFE For the year ended 31st December, 2019

4. FTESTHBE (&) 4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)
SOtE%E Basis of consolidation
e MR B IE AR B R E AT The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial

E BEREWBRRMNMIBRE o A statements of the Company and entities controlled by the Company

NEIFFE A TR - BIEISHEGIRE : and its subsidiaries. Control is achieved where the Company:

e HHEKEHRITEES e has power over the investee;

. 2 /\Txﬁﬂ?ﬁif%ﬁ’ﬁ%x%éb e is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its
@i&ﬁ’\]ﬂﬁfﬂﬁkq—ﬁ*&ﬁ" 3 involvement with the investee; and

s ARRNAEENTEEARR - e has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.

WEEERBERBT LM =TAZFE The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts

Z —HENZHEEBRES  AEEK and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one or more

BT HESEEHIREHR - of the three elements of control listed above.

AR EBRIEH RO BRGNS When the Group has less than a majority of the voting rights of

AREE - BERERZREZUM TARE an investee, it has power over the investee when the voting rights

EERENATETFAMERRELHRZ are sufficient to give it the practical ability to direct the relevant

HAEBR  AEBAEHRENRE activities of the investee unilaterally. The Group considers all

BEN - EHAEBRIREHRE relevant facts and circumstances in assessing whether or not the

REERSRUE TEHRENR K& Group’s voting rights in an investee are sufficient to give it power,

EZRABEHEBEERIER B including:

o AREEBBREEZRBERRE e the size of the Group’s holding of voting rights relative to the
IR EREFE AMFIRERE 2R size and dispersion of holdings of the other vote holders;
BRYHE

e AKEE - EMREEFEEASHE e potential voting rights held by the Group, other vote holders
MATHREZEERERE or other parties;

o HthERTHESZET e rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and

e RFBEELATR  ANEBEA e the current ability to direct the relevant activities at the time
BEDERAREENEMEMS that decisions need to be made, including voting patterns at
ERER (BRERBERRAE previous shareholders’ meetings.

ERREFA) -
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BIEFE For the year ended 31st December, 2019

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Basis of consolidation (Continued)

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains
control over the subsidiary and ceases when the Group loses
control of the subsidiary. Specifically, income and expenses
of a subsidiary acquired or disposed of during the year are
included in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income from the date the Group gains control until
the date when the Group ceases to control the subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each item of other comprehensive income are
attributed to the owners of the Company and to the non-controlling
interests. Total comprehensive income of subsidiaries is attributed
to the owners of the Company and to the non-controlling interests
even if this results in the non-controlling interests having a deficit
balance.

When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements
of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies into line with the
Group’s accounting policies.

All intragroup assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and
cash flows relating to transactions between members of the Group
are eliminated in full on consolidation.

Changes in the Group’s ownership interests in existing subsidiaries

Changes in the Group’s ownership interests in existing subsidiaries
that do not result in the Group losing control over the subsidiaries
are accounted for as equity transactions. The carrying amounts
of the Group’s relevant components of equity and the non-
controlling interests are adjusted to reflect the changes in their
relative interests in the subsidiaries, including re-attribution of
relevant reserves between the Group and the non-controlling
interests according to the Group’s and the non-controlling interests’
proportionate interests.

Any difference between the amount by which the non-controlling
interests are adjusted after re-attribution of the relevant equity
component, and the fair value of the consideration paid or received
is recognised directly in equity and attributed to owners of the
Company.

EERRERERAT —F-AEEH
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HE-ZT-NGF+-A=+—HBILFE For the year ended 31st December, 2019

4. FTESTHBE (&) 4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

E=KEHt Business combinations
I IEE OF 2 B 458 1) 35 75 O U B ZE TS K Acquisitions of businesses that are not combinations of business
ABEEAR - EBa0h 2EER under common control are accounted for using the acquisition
BIRATESNE  MAELEALE method. The consideration transferred in a business combination
EfEEEE ALEFHRBETR is measured at fair value, which is calculated as the sum of
MR AR 2 B ERAEE AR the acquisition-date fair values of the assets transferred by the
fET z ke EErT 2 RIEN KBS Group, liabilities incurred by the Group to the former owners of the
Bz AT ERE BREKEZKANR acquiree and the equity interests issued by the Group in exchange
FREERNIERTER for control of the acquiree. Acquisition-related costs are generally

recognised in profit or loss as incurred.

R RE - FTE 2 A HBEE R At the acquisition date, the identifiable assets acquired and
Az BETRIKERIZA T ER the liabilities assumed are recognised at their fair value at the
R MEATIERERS - acquisition date, except that:

o REFEEENBEREERF e deferred tax assets or liabilities, and assets or liabilities
ZHMEANEEXBRNREE or assets related to employee benefit arrangements are
DREB AT ER E125% [ AT recognised and measured in accordance with HKAS 12
SR REB G EAFE195 Income taxes and HKAS 19 Employee benefits respectively;

[EE®EH ] ERREE

o ERIFURETTHY AR R EREE) e liabilities or equity instruments related to share-based
TR HE SR B 1 LS R 0T 9 DA AR payment arrangements of the acquiree or share-based
D RERNNREZEEME] LA AR payment arrangements of the Group entered into to replace
SEH ARG BERO N RL share-based payment arrangements of the acquiree are
FHEAMAESERTIA - TR measured in accordance with HKFRS 2 at the acquisition
BB A BV HRE ERIE2 date; and

Wit R

o WMEBEEBY KRS ERFESR e assets (or disposal groups) that are classified as held for sale
[FIEEERERDEERER in accordance with HKFRS 5 Non-current assets held for sale
IHEEEE ] DB AKFELERN and discontinued operations are measured in accordance
BE (KL EHB) RIFZER with that standard.

B2 o

BEBEAER KRB - JEERER Goodwill is measured as the excess of the sum of the consideration

R TP h e RS AT transferred, the amount of any non-controlling interests in the

HAEZHKESREZ XA TFE (1E) acquiree, and the fair value of the acquirer’s previously held

ZABAN - R P U 2 AT BRI A EE RS equity interest in the acquiree (if any) over the net amount of

WHE B B BEZFER T the identifiable assets acquired and the liabilities assumed as at

B2 ZREHE o WK EME - AT acquisition date. If, after re-assessment, the net of the acquisition-

B8 2 AIEE R & E P A B AR IR date amounts of the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities

HEZ FEaRNER 2 RE - FER assumed exceeds the sum of the consideration transferred, the

T 2 O 4 W B 77 FR BT 2 58 DA R W B amount of any non-controlling interests in the acquiree and the

TAERE 2 BT R 2 AT E fair value of the acquirer’s previously held interest in the acquiree

(tnF) z#F0 - B ZZERNERIEEA (if any), the excess is recognised immediately in profit or loss as

R RZEBERE R - a bargain purchase gain.
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BIEFE For the year ended 31st December, 2019

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Business combinations (Continued)

Non-controlling interests that are present ownership interests
and entitle their holders to a proportionate share of the relevant
subsidiary’s net assets in the event of liquidation are initially
measured at the non-controlling interests’ proportionate share of
the recognised amounts of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets
or at fair value. The choice of measurement basis is made on a
transaction-by-transaction basis. Other types of non-controlling
interests are measured at their fair value.

Goodwill

Goodwill arising on an acquisition of a business is carried at cost
as established at the date of acquisition of the business (see the
accounting policy above) less accumulated impairment losses, if
any.

For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill is allocated to
each of the Group’s cash-generating units (or groups of cash-
generating units) that are expected to benefit from the synergies
of the combination, which represent the lowest level at which the
goodwill is monitored for internal management purposes and not
larger than an operating segment.

A cash-generating unit (or group of cash-generating units) to which
goodwill has been allocated is tested for impairment annually, or
more frequently whenever there is indication that the unit may
be impaired. For goodwill arising on an acquisition in a reporting
period, the cash-generating unit (or group of cash-generating
units) to which goodwill has been allocated is tested for impairment
before the end of that reporting period. If the recoverable amount
of the cash-generating unit is less than its carrying amount, the
impairment loss is allocated first to reduce the carrying amount
of any goodwill, and then to the other assets on a pro-rata basis
based on the carrying amount of each asset in the unit (or group
of cash-generating units).
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Goodwill (Continued)

On disposal of the relevant cash-generating unit, the attributable
amount of goodwill is included in the determination of the amount
of profit or loss on disposal (or any of the cash-generating unit
within group of cash-generating units in which the Group monitors
goodwill).

The Group’s policy for goodwill arising on the acquisition of an
associate and a joint venture is described below.

Investments in associates and joint ventures

An associate is an entity over which the Group has significant
influence. Significant influence is the power to participate in the
financial and operating policy decisions of the investee but is not
control or joint control over those policies.

A joint venture is a joint arrangement whereby the parties that have
joint control of the arrangement have rights to the net assets of the
joint arrangement. Joint control is the contractually agreed sharing
of control of an arrangement, which exists only when decisions
about the relevant activities require unanimous consent of the
parties sharing control.

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2019
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BIEFE For the year ended 31st December, 2019

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Investments in associates and joint ventures (Continued)

The results and assets and liabilities of associates or joint ventures
are incorporated in these consolidated financial statements using
the equity method of accounting. The financial statements of
associates and joint ventures used for equity accounting purposes
are prepared using uniform accounting policies as those of the
Group for like transactions and events in similar circumstances.
Under the equity method, an investment in an associate or a
joint venture is initially recognised in the consolidated statement
of financial position at cost and adjusted thereafter to recognise
the Group’s share of the profit or loss and other comprehensive
income of the associate or joint venture. Changes in net assets
of the associate/joint venture other than profit or loss and other
comprehensive income are not accounted for unless such changes
resulted in changes in ownership interest held by the Group. When
the Group’s share of losses of an associate or a joint venture
exceeds the Group’s interest in that associate or joint venture,
the Group discontinues recognising its share of further losses.
Additional losses are recognised only to the extent that the Group
has incurred legal or constructive obligations or made payments
on behalf of the associate or joint venture.

An investment in an associate or a joint venture is accounted
for using the equity method from the date on which the investee
becomes an associate or a joint venture. On acquisition of the
investment in an associate or a joint venture, any excess of the
cost of the investment over the Group’s share of the net fair value
of the identifiable assets and liabilities of the investee is recognised
as goodwill, which is included within the carrying amount of the
investment. Any excess of the Group’s share of the net fair value of
the identifiable assets and liabilities over the cost of the investment,
after reassessment, is recognised immediately in profit or loss in
the period in which the investment is acquired.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Investments in associates and joint ventures (Continued)

The requirements of HKAS 39 are applied to determine whether
it is necessary to recognise any impairment loss with respect to
the Group’s investment in an associate or a joint venture. When
necessary, the entire carrying amount of the investment (including
goodwill) is tested for impairment in accordance with HKAS 36
as a single asset by comparing its recoverable amount (higher of
value in use and fair value less costs of disposal) with its carrying
amount. Any impairment loss recognised forms part of the carrying
amount of the investment. Any reversal of that impairment loss is
recognised in accordance with HKAS 36 to the extent that the
recoverable amount of the investment subsequently increases.

When the Group ceases to have significant influence over an
associate or joint control over a joint venture, it is accounted for as
a disposal of the entire interest in the investee with a resulting gain
or loss being recognised in profit or loss. When the Group retains
an interest in the former associate or joint venture and the retained
interest is a financial asset within the scope of HKAS 39, the Group
measures the retained interest at fair value at that date and the
fair value is regarded as its fair value on initial recognition. The
difference between the carrying amount of the associate or joint
venture and the fair value of any retained interest and any proceeds
from disposing the relevant interest in the associate or joint venture
is included in the determination of the gain or loss on disposal of
the associate or joint venture. In addition, the Group accounts for
all amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive income
in relation to that associate or joint venture on the same basis as
would be required if that associate or joint venture had directly
disposed of the related assets or liabilities. Therefore, if a gain
or loss previously recognised in other comprehensive income by
that associate or joint venture would be reclassified to profit or
loss on the disposal of the related assets or liabilities, the Group
reclassifies the gain or loss from equity to profit or loss (as a
reclassification adjustment) upon disposal/partial disposal of the

relevant associate or joint venture.

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2019



TESHEE (&)

EEQTNKRE (&)

&
ERBEARZIRERABEEE AR
ZRAERNE E R A 2R A AL
ERRIZERER  NEBEEETRAE
ok NIRRT AR £ EEE - T
SHNTEETENE -

EAEEERNEEARREGE QA
ZFT AR B AR R R RR
el LA 7 7 L At 2 T b 2 T 2R B HUORL
PR Rt s 2 BB ED D #A H & A8 R
EEFBEREHOREER X
SEEBZABEN O HAEELS °

f—E B A R E 2 B AT
SEATRS  BEBEATNRA E
NEIRGFEAZIBHR TR M
ERAREENAI HEm B EEE
BMEOBERT A REAEEZEEMH
TEMRIER

BRI
KEEF&RKZE

REREFPARNKENEYRRHGE
HEEEEEPHER  EeBERMR
AEE RPN BZEEYHIRE M
BRESHRE -

ERPHRESENESER - K
E@%&i%ﬁﬁﬁzﬁﬁlﬁﬁéﬁi%ﬁ%ﬁ
REBE=F P MAMNSHE - A&
RERGRMGFHGHFLZRS B
ERE#KRENERIAREZELR
R ERERH R RS S B RE
WaBEmE R T EEERL -

s

A

FRE KR ERMET
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
nE+=A=+

BIEFE For the year ended 31st December, 2019

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Investments in associates and joint ventures (Continued)

The Group continues to use the equity method when an investment
in an associate becomes an investment in a joint venture or
an investment in a joint venture becomes an investment in an
associate. There is no remeasurement to fair value upon such
changes in ownership interests.

When the Group reduces its ownership interest in an associate or
a joint venture but the Group continues to use the equity method,
the Group reclassifies to profit or loss the proportion of the gain or
loss that had previously been recognised in other comprehensive
income relating to that reduction in ownership interest if that gain
or loss would be reclassified to profit or loss on the disposal of the
related assets or liabilities.

When a group entity transacts with an associate or a joint venture
of the Group, profits and losses resulting from the transactions
with the associate or joint venture are recognised in the Group’s
consolidated financial statements only to the extent of interests
in the associate or joint venture that are not related to the Group.

Revenue recognition
Revenue from contracts with customers

Revenue from contracts with customers is recognised when control
of goods or services is transferred to the customers at an amount
that reflects the consideration to which the Group expects to be
entitled in exchange for those goods or services.

When the consideration in a contract includes a variable amount,
the amount of consideration is estimated to which the Group will
be entitled in exchange for transferring the goods or services
to the customer. The variable consideration is estimated at
contract inception and constrained until it is highly probable that
a significant revenue reversal in the amount of cumulative revenue
recognised will not occur when the associated uncertainty with the

variable consideration is subsequently resolved.
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Revenue recognition (Continued)
Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)

When the contract contains a financing component which provides
the customer with a significant benefit of financing the transfer
of goods or services to the customer for more than one year,
revenue is measured at the present value of the amount receivable,
discounted using the discount rate that would be reflected in
a separate financing transaction between the Group and the
customer at contract inception. When the contract contains a
financing component which provides the Group a significant
financial benefit for more than one year, revenue recognised

r the contract includes the interest expense accreted on the

contract liability under the effective interest method. For a contract
where the period between the payment by the customer and the
transfer of the promised goods or services is one year or less, the
transaction price is not adjusted for the effects of a significant
financing component, using the practical expedient in HKFRS 15.

Sale of goods (including gas fuel, gas appliances and related
products)

Revenue from the sale of industrial products is recognised at
the point in time when control of the asset is transferred to
the customer, generally on delivery of the industrial products.

Gas connection/design and construction services

Revenue from the provision of gas connection and design and
construction services is recognised over time, using an input
method to measure progress towards complete satisfaction
of the service, because the Group’s performance creates or
enhances an asset that the customer controls as the asset is
created or enhanced. The input method recognises revenue
based on the proportion of the costs incurred, relative to
the estimated total costs for satisfaction of the construction

services.
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BIEFE For the year ended 31st December, 2019

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)
Revenue recognition (Continued)
Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)

(b) Gas connection/design and construction services (Continued)

Claims to customers are amounts that the Group seeks to
collect from the customers as reimbursement of costs and
margins for scope of works not included in the original
construction contract. Claims are accounted for as variable
consideration and constrained until it is highly probable that
a significant revenue reversal in the amount of cumulative
revenue recognised will not occur when the associated
uncertainty with the variable consideration is subsequently
resolved. The Group uses the expected value method to
estimate the amounts of claims because this method best
predicts the amount of variable consideration to which the
Group will be entitled.

Revenue from other sources

Rental income is recognised on a time proportion basis over the
lease terms. Variable lease payments that do not depend on an
index or a rate are recognised as income in the accounting period
in which they are incurred.

Other income

Interest income is recognised on an accrual basis using the
effective interest method by applying the rate that exactly discounts
the estimated future cash receipts over the expected life of the
financial instrument or a shorter period, when appropriate, to the
net carrying amount of the financial asset.

Dividend income is recognised when the shareholders’ right to
receive payment has been established, it is probable that the
economic benefits associated with the dividend will flow to the
Group and the amount of the dividend can be measured reliably.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Revenue recognition

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received
or receivable and represents amounts receivable for goods sold
and services provided in the normal course of business, net of
discounts and taxes.

Revenue is recognised when the amount of revenue can be reliably
measured; when it is probable that future economic benefits will
flow to the Group and when specific criteria have been met for
each of the Group’s activities, as described below.

Revenue from a construction contract for gas connection is
recognised when the outcome of the construction contract for gas
connection can be estimated reliably and the stage of completion
at the end of reporting period can be measured reliably. Revenue
from and expenses on construction contracts for gas connection
are recognised using the percentage of completion method,
measured by reference to the costs incurred during the year
relative to the estimated total costs of the contract. When the
outcome of a construction contract for gas connection cannot
be estimated reliably, revenue is recognised only to the extent of
contract cost incurred that is probable to be recoverable.

Revenue from gas supply is recognised when gas is used by
customers.

Revenue from sales of goods is recognised when goods are
delivered and title has passed.

Service income is recognised when services are provided.

Interest income is accrued on a time basis, by reference to the
principal outstanding and at the effective interest rate applicable,
which is the rate that exactly discounts the estimated future cash
receipts through the expected life of the financial asset to that
asset’s net carrying amount on initial recognition.

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2019
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HIEFE For the year ended 31st December, 2019

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Revenue recognition (Continued)

Dividend income from investments is recognised when the
shareholders’ rights to receive payment have been established.

The Group’s accounting policy for recognition of revenue from
operating leases is described in the accounting policy for leasing
below.

Contract assets

A contract asset is the right to consideration in exchange for goods
or services transferred to the customer. If the Group performs by
transferring goods or services to a customer before the customer
pays consideration or before payment is due, a contract asset
is recognised for the earned consideration that is conditional.
Contract assets are subject to impairment assessment, details of
which are included in the accounting policies for impairment of
financial assets.The contract assets are disclosed under a separate
financial statement line item named “Assets related to contract
works” as at 31st, December, 2019.

Contract liabilities

A contract liability is recognised when a payment is received or a
payment is due (whichever is earlier) from a customer before the
Group transfers the related goods or services. Contract liabilities
are recognised as revenue when the Group performs under the
contract (i.e., transfers control of the related goods or services to
the customer).
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Contract costs

Other than the costs which are capitalised as inventories, and
intangible assets, costs incurred to fulfil a contract with a customer
are capitalised as an asset if all of the following criteria are met:

(a) The costs relate directly to a contract or to an anticipated
contract that the entity can specifically identify.

(b) The costs generate or enhance resources of the entity that will
be used in satisfying (or in continuing to satisfy) performance
obligations in the future.

(c) The costs are expected to be recovered.

The capitalised contract costs are amortised and charged to the
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income on a
systematic basis that is consistent with the pattern of the revenue
to which the asset related is recognised. Other contract costs are
expensed as incurred.

Construction contracts

When the outcome of a construction contract for gas connection
can be estimated reliably and the stage of contract completion at
the end of the reporting period can be measured reliably, revenue
and costs are recognised by reference to the stage of completion
of the contract activity at the end of the reporting period, measured
based on the proportion that contract costs incurred for work
performed to date relative to the estimated total contract costs.

When the outcome of a construction contract for gas connection
cannot be estimated reliably, contract costs are recognised as
an expense in the period in which they are incurred. When it is
probable that total contracts costs will exceed contract revenue,
the expected loss is recognised as an expense immediately.

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2019
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BIEFE For the year ended 31st December, 2019

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Construction contracts (Continued)

Where contract costs incurred to date plus recognised profits less
recognised losses exceed progress billings, the surplus is shown
as amounts due from customers for contract works. For contracts
where progress billings exceed contract costs incurred to date
plus recognised profits less recognised losses, the surplus is
shown as amounts due to customers for contract works. Amounts
received before the related work is performed are included in
the consolidated statement of financial position, as a liability, as
advances received. Amounts billed for work performed but not yet
paid by the customer are included in the consolidated statement
of financial position under trade and other receivables.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment including buildings held for use in
the production or supply of goods or services, or for administrative
purposes (other than construction in progress) are stated in the
consolidated statement of financial position at cost less subsequent
accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses,
if any.

Construction in progress includes property, plant and equipment in
the course of construction for production or for own use purposes.
Construction in progress is carried at cost less any recognised
impairment loss. Construction in progress is classified to the
appropriate category of property, plant and equipment when
completed and ready for intended use. Depreciation of these
assets, on the same basis as other property assets commence
when the assets are ready for their intended use.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost of items of
property, plant and equipment other than construction in progress
over their estimated useful lives and after taking into account their
estimated residual values, using the straight-line method. The
estimated useful lives, residual values and depreciation method
are reviewed at the end of each reporting period, with the effect
of any changes in estimate accounted for on a prospective basis.
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For the year ended 31st December, 2019

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon
disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected to arise
from the continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss arising on the
disposal or retirement of an item of property, plant and equipment
is determined as the difference between the sales proceeds and
the carrying amount of the asset and is recognised in profit or loss.

Leasehold land and buildings under development for future
owner-occupied purpose

When the leasehold land and buildings are in the course of
development for production or for administrative purposes, the
leasehold land component is classified as a right-of-use asset
and amortised on a straight-line basis over the lease term. During
the construction period, the amortisation charge provided for the
leasehold land is included as part of costs of buildings under
construction. Buildings under construction are carried at cost, less
any identified impairment losses and are classified as property,
plant and equipment. Depreciation of buildings commences when
they are available for use (i.e. when they are in the location and
condition necessary for them to be capable of operating in the
manner intended by management).

Investment properties

Investment properties are properties held to earn rentals and/or
for capital appreciation.

Investment properties are initially measured at cost, including any
directly attributable expenditure. Subsequent to initial recognition,
investment properties are stated at cost less subsequent
accumulated depreciation and any accumulated impairment losses.
Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost of investment
properties over their estimated useful lives and after taking into
account their estimated residual values, using the straight-line
method.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Investment properties (Continued)

An investment property is derecognised upon disposal or when
the investment property is permanently withdrawn from use and
no future economic benefits are expected from its disposals. Any
gain or loss arising on derecognition of the asset (calculated as
the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying
amount of the asset) is included in the profit or loss in the period
in which the item is derecognised.

Intangible assets (other than goodwill)

Intangible assets refer to the operating rights for city pipeline
network.

Intangible assets acquired separately

Intangible assets acquired separately and with finite useful lives
are carried at costs less accumulated amortisation and any
accumulated impairment losses. Amortisation for intangible assets
with finite useful lives is provided on a straight-line basis over their
estimated useful lives.

Intangible assets acquired in a business combination

Intangible assets acquired in a business combination are
recognised separately from goodwill and are initially recognised
at their fair value at the acquisition date (which is regarded as

their cost).

Subsequent to initial recognition, intangible assets acquired in a
business combination with finite useful lives are reported at costs
less accumulated amortisation and any accumulated impairment
losses, on the same basis as intangible assets that are acquired
separately.

An intangible asset is derecognised upon disposal or when no
future economic benefits are expected to arise from the continued
use of the asset. Any gain or loss arising from derecognition of
an intangible asset is measured as the difference between the
net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and
is recognised in profit or loss in the period when the asset is
derecognised.
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For the year ended 31st December, 2019

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Leases (applicable from 1 January 2019)

The Group assesses at contract inception whether a contract is, or
contains, a lease. A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract
conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset for a
period of time in exchange for consideration.

Group as a lessee

The Group applies a single recognition and measurement approach
for all leases, except for short-term leases and leases for low-
value assets. The Group recognises lease liabilities to make lease
payments and right-of-use assets representing the right to use the
underlying assets.

(a) Right-of-use assets

Right-of-use assets are recognised at the commencement
date of the lease (that is the date the underlying asset is
available for use). Right-of-use assets are measured at cost,
less any accumulated depreciation and any impairment
losses, and adjusted for any remeasurement of lease
liabilities. The cost of right-of-use assets includes the amount
of lease liabilities recognised, initial direct costs incurred,
and lease payments made at or before the commencement
date less any lease incentives received. Right-of-use assets
are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the shorter of
the lease terms and the estimated useful lives of the assets

as follows:

Leasehold land 2 to 50 years

Buildings 2 to 25 years
Plant, machinery and equipment 2 to 24 years

If ownership of the leased asset transfers to the Group by
the end of the lease term or the cost reflects the exercise
of a purchase option, depreciation is calculated using the

estimated useful life of the asset.
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HIEFE For the year ended 31st December, 2019

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Leases (applicable from 1 January 2019) (Continued)

Group as a lessee (Continued)

(b) Lease liabilities

Lease liabilities are recognised at the commencement date
of the lease at the present value of lease payments to be
made over the lease term. The lease payments include
fixed payments (including in-substance fixed payments) less
any lease incentives receivable, variable lease payments
that depend on an index or a rate, and amounts expected
to be paid under residual value guarantees. The lease
payments also include the exercise price of a purchase
option reasonably certain to be exercised by the Group and
payments of penalties for termination of a lease, if the lease
term reflects the Group exercising the option to terminate. The
variable lease payments that do not depend on an index or a
rate are recognised as an expense in the period in which the
event or condition that triggers the payment occurs.

In calculating the present value of lease payments, the
Group uses its incremental borrowing rate at the lease
commencement date because the interest rate implicit in the
lease is not readily determinable. After the commencement
date, the amount of lease liabilities is increased to reflect
the accretion of interest and reduced for the lease payments
made. In addition, the carrying amount of lease liabilities is
remeasured if there is a modification, a change in the lease
term, a change in lease payments (e.g., a change to future
lease payments resulting from a change in an index or rate)
or a change in assessment of an option to purchase the
underlying asset.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Leases (applicable from 1 January 2019) (Continued)

Group as a lessee (Continued)
(c) Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition exemption
to its short-term leases of machinery and equipment (that
is those leases that have a lease term of 12 months or less
from the commencement date and do not contain a purchase
option). It also applies the recognition exemption for leases
of low-value assets to leases of office equipment that are
considered to be of low value.

Lease payments on short-term leases and leases of low-value
assets are recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis
over the lease term.

Group as a lessor

When the Group acts as a lessor, it classifies at lease inception
(or when there is a lease modification) each of its leases as either
an operating lease or a finance lease.

Leases in which the Group does not transfer substantially all the
risks and rewards incidental to ownership of an asset are classified
as operating leases. When a contract contains lease and non-lease
components, the Group allocates the consideration in the contract
to each component on a relative stand-alone selling price basis.
Rental income is accounted for on a straight-line basis over the
lease terms and is included in revenue in profit or loss due to its
operating nature. Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating and
arranging an operating lease are added to the carrying amount of
the leased asset and recognised over the lease term on the same
basis as rental income. Contingent rents are recognised as revenue
in the period in which they are earned.
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HIEFE For the year ended 31st December, 2019

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Treasury shares

Own equity instruments which are reacquired and held by the
Company are recognised directly in equity at cost. No gain or
loss is recognised in profit or loss on the purchase, sale, issue or
cancellation of the Group’s own equity instruments.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value.
Cost is calculated using the weighted average method.

Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows,
cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and demand
deposits, and short term highly liquid investments that are
readily convertible into known amounts of cash, are subject to an
insignificant risk of changes in value, and have a short maturity of
generally within three months when acquired, less bank overdrafts
which are repayable on demand and form an integral part of the
Group’s cash management.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of financial position,
cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and at banks,
including term deposits, and assets similar in nature to cash, which
are not restricted as to use.

Investments and other financial assets
Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised on the
consolidated statement of financial position when a group entity
becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Investments and other financial assets (Continued)
Initial recognition and measurement (Continued)

The classification of financial assets at initial recognition depends
on the financial asset’s contractual cash flow characteristics and
the Group’s business model for managing them. With the exception
of trade receivables that do not contain a significant financing
component or for which the Group has applied the practical
expedient of not adjusting the effect of a significant financing
component, the Group initially measures a financial asset at its
fair value, plus in the case of a financial asset not at fair value
through profit or loss, transaction costs. Trade receivables that
do not contain a significant financing component or for which the
Group has applied the practical expedient are measured at the
transaction price determined under HKFRS 15 in accordance with
the policies set out for “Revenue recognition” above.

In order for a financial asset to be classified and measured at
amortised cost or fair value through other comprehensive income,
it needs to give rise to cash flows that are solely payments of
principal and interest (“SPPI”) on the principal amount outstanding.
Financial assets with cash flows that are not SPPI are classified
and measured at fair value through profit or loss, irrespective of
the business model.

The Group’s business model for managing financial assets refers
to how it manages its financial assets in order to generate cash
flows. The business model determines whether cash flows will
result from collecting contractual cash flows, selling the financial
assets, or both. Financial assets classified and measured at
amortised cost are held within a business model with the objective
to hold financial assets in order to collect contractual cash flows,
while financial assets classified and measured at fair value through
other comprehensive income are held within a business model
with the objective of both holding to collect contractual cash
flows and selling. Financial assets which are not held within the
aforementioned business models are classified and measured at
fair value through profit or loss.

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2019
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Investments and other financial assets (Continued)
Initial recognition and measurement (Continued)

All regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are
recognised on the trade date, that is, the date that the Group
commits to purchase or sell the asset. Regular way purchases
or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets that require
delivery of assets within the period generally established by
regulation or convention in the marketplace.

Subsequent measurement

The subsequent measurement of financial assets depends on their
classification as follows:

Financial assets at amortised cost (debt instruments)

Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently measured
using the effective interest method and are subject to impairment.
Gains and losses are recognised in the statement of profit or loss
and other comprehensive income when the asset is derecognised,
modified or impaired.

Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income
(debt instruments)

For debt investments at fair value through other comprehensive

income, interest income, foreign exchange revaluation and
impairment losses or reversals are recognised in the statement of
profit or loss and other comprehensive income and computed in
the same manner as for financial assets measured at amortised
cost. The remaining fair value changes are recognised in other
comprehensive income. Upon derecognition, the cumulative fair
value change recognised in other comprehensive income is
recycled to the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive

income.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Investments and other financial assets (Continued)

Financial assets designated at fair value through other
comprehensive income (equity investments)

Upon initial recognition, the Group can elect to classify irrevocably
its equity investments as equity investments designated at fair value
through other comprehensive income when they meet the definition
of equity under HKAS 32 Financial Instruments: Presentation and
are not held for trading. The classification is determined on an
instrument-by-instrument basis.

Gains and losses on these financial assets are never recycled to
the statement of comprehensive income. Dividends are recognised
as other income in the statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income when the right of payment has been
established, it is probable that the economic benefits associated
with the dividend will flow to the Group and the amount of the
dividend can be measured reliably, except when the Group
benefits from such proceeds as a recovery of part of the cost
of the financial asset, in which case, such gains are recorded in
other comprehensive income. Equity investments designated at
fair value through other comprehensive income are not subject to
impairment assessment.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are carried in
the statement of financial position at fair value with net changes
in fair value recognised in the statement of profit or loss and other

comprehensive income.

This category includes derivative instruments and equity
investments which the Group had not irrevocably elected to classify
at fair value through other comprehensive income. Dividends
on equity investments classified as financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss are also recognised as other income in
profit or loss when the right of payment has been established, it is
probable that the economic benefits associated with the dividend
will flow to the Group and the amount of the dividend can be
measured reliably.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Investments and other financial assets (Continued)
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (Continued)

A derivative embedded in a hybrid contract, with a financial liability
or non-financial host, is separated from the host and accounted for
as a separate derivative if the economic characteristics and risks
are not closely related to the host; a separate instrument with the
same terms as the embedded derivative would meet the definition
of a derivative; and the hybrid contract is not measured at fair
value through profit or loss. Embedded derivatives are measured
at fair value with changes in fair value recognised in the statement
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income.

Reassessment only occurs if there is either a change in the terms
of the contract that significantly modifies the cash flows that would
otherwise be required or a reclassification of a financial asset out
of the fair value through profit or loss category.

A derivative embedded within a hybrid contract containing a
financial asset host is not accounted for separately. The financial
asset host together with the embedded derivative is required to be
classified in its entirety as a financial asset at fair value through
profit or loss.

Derecognition of financial assets

A financial asset is primarily derecognised (i.e., removed from the
Group’s consolidated statement of financial position) when:

o the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired;
or

o the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from
the asset or has assumed an obligation to pay the received
cash flows in full without material delay to a third party under
a “pass-through” arrangement; and either (a) the Group
has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of the
asset, or (b) the Group has neither transferred nor retained
substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, but has
transferred control of the asset.
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RIEBASHEE (#)

HMAKBCDERENNEERERE
MK E R L8 F 2 AEER
HEEDRAMEEEREZEENR
B E R K D4R o 84N 5 B ET R
aﬁﬁﬂﬁé’aﬁiﬁﬁ‘iﬁﬁ*ﬁ D L B =
CMEBEZEENEGIE KK
%ﬁ%ﬁhﬂl&%lz%éﬁé}ﬁiﬁ%ﬁﬁq
BEE - HUBERT  AEETT S
RIEHAE EHBREAERBBEE
INAKEFRE ZARENRETAE
EETE -

NEEEEERRAXNFESLBAE
f" CPRAEZRBEREAERENER

BEREREMZERRECEME
EP&&WE&%EJrE °

SREERE

REBBEREW IR AFEF ARR
BENMEEFS TABEHEERIE
([FEEREEEE]) MiEE - EHEE
BEDENREERIBANERRES
MERRNEEFERRERNMABERESR
EvHNEEMET @ WAREERF
EHBEALIERR - BHRSRERE
REEMBEANRESRENAEAXE

EHERE B 5 BRI

—R 5%

HHEEBES MERRER - 3B
T ERERGBEZIENNEERR
MmE - BAKI2EA AR EEENE
WEAMBENEEBE (12HA &
HEEBR) FHERNEEERE - 5t
BYIFERRECEZENNEER
B E - TwARELRLY  RAET
R FHANEREREIRS AR
EREE (2HERAGEEER) -

(Continued)
Derecognition of financial assets (Continued)

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows
from an asset or has entered into a pass-through arrangement,
it evaluates if, and to what extent, it has retained the risk and
rewards of ownership of the asset. When it has neither transferred
nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset nor
transferred control of the asset, the Group continues to recognise
the transferred asset to the extent of the Group’s continuing
involvement. In that case, the Group also recognises an associated
liability. The transferred asset and the associated liability are
measured on a basis that reflects the rights and obligations that
the Group has retained.

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee over the
transferred asset is measured at the lower of the original carrying
amount of the asset and the maximum amount of consideration that
the Group could be required to repay.

Impairment of financial assets

The Group recognises an allowance for expected credit
losses(“ECLs”) for all debt instruments not held at fair value through
profit or loss. ECLs are based on the difference between the
contractual cash flows due in accordance with the contract and all
the cash flows that the Group expects to receive, discounted at an
approximation of the original effective interest rate. The expected
cash flows will include cash flows from the sale of collateral held
or other credit enhancements that are integral to the contractual
terms.

General approach

ECLs are recognised in two stages. For credit exposures for
which there has not been a significant increase in credit risk since
initial recognition, ECLs are provided for credit losses that result
from default events that are possible within the next 12 months (a
12-month ECL). For those credit exposures for which there has
been a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition,
a loss allowance is required for credit losses expected over the
remaining life of the exposure, irrespective of the timing of the
default (a lifetime ECL).
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
General approach (Continued)

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether the credit risk
on a financial instrument has increased significantly since initial
recognition. When making the assessment, the Group compares
the risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument as at the
reporting date with the risk of a default occurring on the financial
instrument as at the date of initial recognition and considers
reasonable and supportable information that is available without
undue cost or effort, including historical and forward-looking
information.

The Group considers a financial asset in default when contractual
payments are 90 days past due. However, in certain cases,
the Group may also consider a financial asset to be in default
when internal or external information indicates that the Group is
unlikely to receive the outstanding contractual amounts in full
before taking into account any credit enhancements held by the
Group. A financial asset is written off when there is no reasonable
expectation of recovering the contractual cash flows.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
General approach (Continued)

Debt investments at fair value through other comprehensive
income and financial assets at amortised cost are subject to
impairment under the general approach and they are classified
within the following stages for measurement of ECLs except for
trade receivables and Assets related to contract works which apply
the simplified approach as detailed below.

Stage 1 - Financial instruments for which credit risk has not
increased significantly since initial recognition and
for which the loss allowance is measured at an
amount equal to 12-month ECLs

Stage 2 - Financial instruments for which credit risk has
increased significantly since initial recognition but
that are not credit-impaired financial assets and for
which the loss allowance is measured at an amount
equal to lifetime ECLs

Stage 3 - Financial assets that are credit-impaired at the
reporting date (but that are not purchased or
originated credit-impaired) and for which the loss
allowance is measured at an amount equal to
lifetime ECLs

Simplified approach

For trade receivables and Assets related to contract works that do
not contain a significant financing component or when the Group
applies the practical expedient of not adjusting the effect of a
significant financing component, the Group applies the simplified
approach in calculating ECLs. Under the simplified approach, the
Group does not track changes in credit risk, but instead recognises
a loss allowance based on lifetime ECLs at each reporting date.
The Group has established a provision matrix that is based on
its historical credit loss experience, adjusted for forward-looking
factors specific to the debtors and the economic environment.
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BIEFE For the year ended 31st December, 2019

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
Simplified approach (Continued)

For trade receivables and Assets related to contract works that
contain a significant financing component and lease receivables,
the Group chooses as its accounting policy to adopt the simplified
approach in calculating ECLs with policies as described above.

The Group assesses at the end of each reporting period whether
there is objective evidence that a financial asset or a group
of financial assets is impaired. An impairment exists if one or
more events that occurred after the initial recognition of the
asset have an impact on the estimated future cash flows of the
financial asset or the group of financial assets that can be reliably
estimated. Evidence of impairment may include indications that a
debtor or a group of debtors is experiencing significant financial
difficulty, default or delinquency in interest or principal payments,
the probability that they will enter bankruptcy or other financial
reorganisation and observable data indicating that there is a
measurable decrease in the estimated future cash flows, such
as changes in arrears or economic conditions that correlate with
defaults.

Financial assets carried at amortised cost

For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the Group first
assesses whether impairment exists individually for financial assets
that are individually significant, or collectively for financial assets
that are not individually significant. If the Group determines that
no objective evidence of impairment exists for an individually
assessed financial asset, whether significant or not, it includes
the asset in a group of financial assets with similar credit risk
characteristics and collectively assesses them for impairment.
Assets that are individually assessed for impairment and for which
an impairment loss is, or continues to be, recognised are not

included in a collective assessment of impairment.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
Financial assets carried at amortised cost (Continued)

The amount of any impairment loss identified is measured as the
difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the present
value of estimated future cash flows (excluding future credit losses
that have not yet been incurred). The present value of the estimated
future cash flows is discounted at the financial asset’s original
effective interest rate (i.e., the effective interest rate computed at
initial recognition).

The carrying amount of the asset is reduced through the use of
an allowance account and the loss is recognised in the statement
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income. Interest income
continues to be accrued on the reduced carrying amount using
the rate of interest used to discount the future cash flows for the
purpose of measuring the impairment loss. Loans and receivables
together with any associated allowance are written off when there is
no realistic prospect of future recovery and all collateral has been
realised or has been transferred to the Group.

If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the estimated impairment
loss increases or decreases because of an event occurring
after the impairment was recognised, the previously recognised
impairment loss is increased or reduced by adjusting the allowance
account. If a write-off is later recovered, the recovery is credited
to other expenses in the statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income.

Assets carried at cost

If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss has been
incurred on an unquoted equity instrument that is not carried at
fair value because its fair value cannot be reliably measured, or on
a derivative asset that is linked to and must be settled by delivery
of such an unquoted equity instrument, the amount of the loss is
measured as the difference between the asset’s carrying amount
and the present value of estimated future cash flows discounted
at the current market rate of return for a similar financial asset.
Impairment losses on these assets are not reversed.
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BIEFE For the year ended 31st December, 2019

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial liabilities
Initial recognition and measurement

Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition, as financial
liabilities at fair value through profit or loss, loans and borrowings,
payables, or as derivatives designated as hedging instruments in
an effective hedge, as appropriate.

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value and, in
the case of loans and borrowings and payables, net of directly
attributable transaction costs.

The Group’s financial liabilities include trade and other payables,
an amount due to the ultimate holding company, derivative financial
instruments and interest-bearing bank and other borrowings.

Subsequent measurement

The subsequent measurement of financial liabilities depends on
their classification as follows:

Financial liabilities at amortised cost(loans and borrowings)

After initial recognition, interest-bearing loans and borrowings
are subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the effective
interest rate method unless the effect of discounting would be
immaterial, in which case they are stated at cost. Gains and
losses are recognised in the statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income when the liabilities are derecognised as

well as through the effective interest rate amortisation process.

Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any discount or
premium on acquisition and fees or costs that are an integral part
of the effective interest rate. The effective interest rate amortisation
is included in finance costs in the statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial liabilities (Continued)
Subsequent measurement (Continued)
Financial guarantee contracts

Financial guarantee contracts issued by the Group are those
contracts that require a payment to be made to reimburse the
holder for a loss it incurs because the specified debtor fails to
make a payment when due in accordance with the terms of a
debt instrument. A financial guarantee contract is recognised
initially as a liability at its fair value, adjusted for transaction costs
that are directly attributable to the issuance of the guarantee.
Subsequent to initial recognition, the Group measures the financial
guarantee contracts at the higher of: (i) the ECL allowance
determined in accordance with the policy as set out in “Impairment
of financial assets”; and (ii) the amount initially recognised less,
when appropriate, the cumulative amount of income recognised.

HHIERE A Financial guarantee contracts
WS ERERVFPEREATFEERS A financial guarantee contract is recognised initially as a liability
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attributable to the issuance of the guarantee. Subsequent to
initial recognition, the Group measures the financial guarantee
contract at the higher of (i) the amount of the best estimate of the
expenditure required to settle the present obligation at the end of
the reporting period; and (ii) the amount initially recognised less,

when appropriate, cumulative amortisation.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the
liability is discharged or cancelled, or expires.

When an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the
same lender on substantially different terms, or the terms of an
existing liability are substantially modified, such an exchange or
modification is treated as a derecognition of the original liability
and a recognition of a new liability, and the difference between
the respective carrying amounts is recognised in the statement of
profit or loss and other comprehensive income.
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HIEFE For the year ended 31st December, 2019

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Offsetting of financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net
amount is reported in the statement of financial position if there is
a currently enforceable legal right to offset the recognised amounts
and there is an intention to settle on a net basis, or to realise the
assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction
or production of qualifying assets, which are assets that necessarily
take a substantial period of time to get ready for their intended use
or sale, are added to the costs of those assets until such time as
the assets are substantially ready for their intended use or sale.

Investment income earned on the temporary investment of specific
borrowings pending their expenditure on qualifying assets is
deducted from the borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the
period in which they are incurred.

Retirement benefit costs

Payments to defined contribution retirement benefit plans/state-
managed retirement benefit schemes/the Mandatory Provident
Fund Scheme are recognised as an expense when employees have
rendered service entitling them to the contributions.

Short-term employee benefits

Short-term employee benefits are recognised at the undiscounted
amount of the benefits expected to be paid as and when employees
rendered the services. All short-term employee benefits are
recognised as an expense unless another HKFRS requires or
permits the inclusion of the benefit in the cost of an asset.

A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to employees (such as
wages and salaries, annual leave and sick leave) after deducting
any amount already paid.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
(Continued)

POLICIES

Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently
payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year.
Taxable profit differs from profit before taxation as reported in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income because it excludes items of income or expense that are
taxable or deductible in other years and it further excludes items
that are never taxable or deductible. The Group’s liability for
current tax is calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on differences between the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities in the consolidated financial
statements and the corresponding tax bases used in the
computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally
recognised for all taxable temporary differences. Deferred tax
assets are generally recognised for all deductible temporary
differences to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will
be available against which those deductible temporary differences
can be utilised. Such assets and liabilities are not recognised if
the temporary difference arises from goodwill or from the initial
recognition (other than in a business combination) of other assets
and liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the taxable profit
nor the accounting profit.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences associated with investments in subsidiaries, associates
and joint ventures, except where the Group is able to control the
reversal of the temporary difference and it is probable that the
temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future.
Deferred tax assets arising from deductible temporary differences
associated with such investments and interests are only recognised
to the extent that it is probable that there will be sufficient taxable
profits against which to utilise the benefits of the temporary
differences and they are expected to reverse in the foreseeable
future.
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BIEFE For the year ended 31st December, 2019

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Taxation (Continued)

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end
of the reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is no longer
probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all
or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates
that are expected to apply in the period in which the liability is
settled or the asset is realised, based on tax rate (and tax laws)
that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the
reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects the
tax consequences that would follow from the manner in which the
Group expects, at the end of the reporting period, to recover or
settle the carrying amount of its assets and liabilities.

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss, except
when they relate to items that are recognised in other comprehensive
income or directly in equity, in which case, the current and deferred
tax are also recognised in other comprehensive income or directly
in equity respectively. Where current tax or deferred tax arises from
the initial accounting for a business combination, the tax effect is
included in the accounting for the business combination.

Dividends

Final dividends are recognised as a liability when they are
approved by the shareholders in a general meeting. Proposed final
dividends are disclosed in the notes to the financial statements.

Interim dividends are simultaneously proposed and declared,
because the Company’s memorandum and articles of association
grant the directors the authority to declare interim dividends.
Consequently, interim dividends are recognised immediately as a
liability when they are proposed and declared.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Foreign currencies

ltems included in the financial statements of each of the group
entities are measured using the currency of the primary economic
environment in which the entity operates (the “functional currency”).
The consolidated financial statements are presented in HK$, which
is the Company'’s functional currency and the Group’s presentation
currency.

In preparing the financial statements of each individual group
entity, transactions in currencies other than the functional currency
of that entity (foreign currencies) are recognised at the rates of
exchanges prevailing on the dates of the transactions. At the end
of the reporting period, monetary items denominated in foreign
currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing at that date.
Non-monetary items carried at fair value that are denominated in
foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing on the
date when the fair value was determined. Non-monetary items that
are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are
not retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary items,
and on the retranslation of monetary items, are recognised in profit
or loss in the period in which they arise, except for exchange
differences on monetary items receivable from or payable to a
foreign operation for which settlement is neither planned nor likely
to occur (therefore forming part of the net investment in the foreign
operation), which are recognised initially in other comprehensive
income and are reclassified from equity to profit or loss on disposal
or partial disposal of the Group’s interests in associates or joint
ventures.

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated financial
statements, the assets and liabilities of the group entities are
translated into the presentation currency of the Group (i.e.
HK$) using exchange rates prevailing at the end of reporting
period. Income and expenses items are translated at the average
exchange rates for the year. Exchange differences arising, if any,
are recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated

in equity under the heading of translation reserve.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Foreign currencies (Continued)

The functional currency of a group entity is changed only where
there is a change to the underlying transactions, events and
conditions relevant to the group entity. The group entity applies the
translation procedures applicable to the new functional currency
prospectively from the date of the change. At the date of the
change, the group entity translates all items into the new functional
currency using the prevailing exchange rate at that date and the
resulting translated amounts for non-monetary items are treated
as their historical cost.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments on identifiable assets acquired
arising on an acquisition of a foreign operation on or after 1st
January, 2005 are treated as assets and liabilities of that foreign
operation and translated at the rate of exchange prevailing at the
end of the reporting period. Exchange differences arising are
recognised in the translation reserve.

Impairment losses of tangible and intangible assets other than
goodwill

At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews the carrying
amounts of its tangible and intangible assets with finite useful
lives to determine whether there is any indication that those assets
have suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication exists, the
recoverable amount of the relevant asset is estimated in order to
determine the extent of the impairment loss, if any.

When it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an
asset individually, the Group estimates the recoverable amount
of the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs. When a
reasonable and consistent basis of allocation can be identified,
corporate assets are also allocated to individual cash- generating
units, or otherwise they are allocated to the smallest group of cash-
generating units for which a reasonable and consistent allocation
basis can be identified.
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For the year ended 31st December, 2019

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Impairment losses of tangible and intangible assets other than
goodwill (Continued)

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs of
disposal and value in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated
future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a
pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of
the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset (or a
cash-generating unit) for which the estimates of future cash flows
have not been adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a cash-generating unit)
is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying
amount of the asset (or a cash-generating unit) is reduced to
its recoverable amount. In allocating the impairment loss, the
impairment loss is allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of
any goodwill (if applicable) and then to the other assets on a pro-
rata basis based on the carrying amount of each asset in the unit.
The carrying amount of an asset is not reduced below the highest
of its fair value less costs of disposal (if measurable), its value in
use (if determinable) and zero. The amount of the impairment loss
that would otherwise have been allocated to the asset is allocated
pro rata to the other assets of the unit. An impairment loss is
recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying
amount of the asset (or a cash-generating unit) is increased to
the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the
increased carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount
that would have been determined had no impairment loss been
recognised for the asset (or a cash-generating unit) in prior years.
A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised immediately in
profit or loss.

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2019
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BIEFE For the year ended 31st December, 2019

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Government grants

Government grants are not recognised until there is reasonable
assurance that the Group will comply with the conditions attaching
to them and that the grants will be received.

Government grants are recognised in profit or loss on a systematic
basis over the periods in which the Group recognises as expenses
the related costs for which the grants are intended to compensate.
Government grants related to depreciable assets are recognised as
deferred income in the consolidated statement of financial position
and transferred to profit or loss on a systematic and rational basis
over the useful lives of the related assets. Other government grants
are recognised as revenue over the periods necessary to match
them with the costs for which they are intended to compensate,
on a systematic basis. Government grants that are receivable as
compensation for expenses or losses already incurred or for the
purpose of giving immediate financial support to the Group with no
future related costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period in
which they become receivable.

Long term award scheme

The cost of acquisition of the Company’s shares pursuant to the
long term award scheme is recorded as shares held for incentive
award scheme. The shares held for incentive award scheme will
be disposed of for cash which will be distributed to the eligible
employees.

When the shares held for long term award scheme are disposed
of and the resulting proceeds from disposal are distributed
to the employees, the proceeds distributed to employees are
recognised as expenses (staff costs), and the difference between
the consideration received and the cost of the shares will be
credited to retained profits.
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For the year ended 31st December, 2019

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which are
described in note 4, the directors of the Company are required to
make judgements, estimates and assumptions about the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent
from other sources. The estimates and associated assumptions
are based on historical experience and other factors that are
considered to be relevant. Actual results may differ from these
estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an
on-going basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised
in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects
only that period, or in the period of the revision and future periods
if the revision affects both current and future periods.

Critical judgements in applying accounting policies

The followings are the critical judgements, apart from those
involving estimations (see below), that the directors have made in
the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies and that
have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the
consolidated financial statements.

Control over EEZEBMRAER L &

EBEMRA AR AE is a subsidiary of the Group although the
Group has only 50% ownership interest and voting rights in = 5%
AR AR AR The Group had the 50% ownership interest since
June 2006 on EEEEMAAMRAF and the remaining 50% of
equity interest is owned by a shareholder that is unrelated to the
Group. Details of these are set out in note 46.

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2019
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HIEFE For the year ended 31st December, 2019

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

Critical judgements in applying accounting policies (Continued)
Control over EBEZFMRAE R A 7 (Continued)

The directors of the Company assessed whether or not the Group
has control over E[5EMEMRABGMR AR based on whether the
Group has the practical ability to direct the relevant activities of
Ef5E B A AR A A unilaterally. In making their judgement, the
directors considered the Group’s voting power of shareholding in
EBEMRR AR AR The board of directors of EfFEBMRRAR
73 8) comprise 7 directors. The Group nominated and appointed 4
directors in EF5EERRER A and the relevant activities of &
b5 IR R B BR A 7] require over 50% of directors’ approval. After
assessment, the directors concluded that the Group has sufficiently
dominant voting interest to direct the relevant activities of =P
HRRABR A A], and therefore, the Group has control over &[5 %
HRRARAA.

Control over BB ZEFHMREIR L 7, BEZFHMRER L A and &
STEFHRERA A (the “PRC Entities”)

The PRC Entities are subsidiaries of the Group although the Group
has only 50% or 51% ownership interests and voting rights in the
PRC Entities and the remaining equity interests of the PRC Entities
are owned by shareholders that are unrelated to the Group. Details
of these are set out in note 46.

The directors of the Company assessed whether or not the
Group has control over the PRC Entities based on whether the
Group has the practical ability to direct the relevant activities
of the PRC Entities unilaterally. In making their judgement, the
directors considered the Group’s voting power of shareholding
in the PRC Entities. The shareholders of the PRC Entities signed
memorandums in which the other shareholders would agree the
Group’s decisions on operating, investing and financing activities
of the PRC Entities, and the other shareholders would agree
the appointment of the entire senior management of the PRC
Entities nominated by the Group. After assessment, the directors
concluded that the Group has sufficiently dominant voting interest
to direct the relevant activities of the PRC Entities, and therefore,
the Group has control over the PRC Entities.
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For the year ended 31st December, 2019

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

Estimation uncertainty

The followings are the key assumptions concerning the future,
and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the
reporting period, that have a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets within the next
financial year.

Estimation of useful lives of property, plant and equipment

Management estimates the useful lives of property, plant and
equipment based on the expected lifespan of those property, plant
and equipment. The useful lives of property, plant and equipment
could change significantly as a result of technical innovation.
When the actual useful lives of property, plant and equipment are
different from their estimated useful lives due to the change of
commercial and technological environment, such difference will
impact the depreciation charges and the amounts of assets written
down for future periods.

The carrying amount of property, plant and equipment
at 31st December, 2019 was HK$33,295,094,000 (2018:
HK$30,918,515,000).

Impairment of goodwill

Determining whether goodwill is impaired requires an estimation
of the recoverable amount of the cash-generating units to which
goodwill has been allocated, which is the higher of the value
in use and fair value less costs of disposal. The value-in-use
calculation requires the Group to estimate the future cash flows
expected to arise from the cash-generating unit and a suitable
discount rate in order to calculate the present value. Where the
actual future cash flows are less than expected, or changes in
facts and circumstances result in downward revision of future
cash, a material impairment loss may arise. As at 31st December,
2019, the carrying amount of goodwill was HK$669,370,000 (2018:
HK$668,860,000). Details of the recoverable amount calculation
are disclosed in note 20.
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BIEFE For the year ended 31st December, 2019

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

Estimation uncertainty (Continued)
Leases - Estimating the incremental borrowing rate

The Group cannot readily determine the interest rate implicit in a
lease, and therefore, it uses an incremental borrowing rate (“IBR”)
to measure lease liabilities. The IBR is the rate of interest that
the Group would have to pay to borrow over a similar term, and
with a similar security, the funds necessary to obtain an asset
of a similar value to the right-of-use asset in a similar economic
environment. The IBR therefore reflects what the Group”would have
to pay”, which requires estimation when no observable rates are
available (such as for subsidiaries that do not enter into financing
transactions) or when it needs to be adjusted to reflect the terms
and conditions of the lease (for example, when leases are not in
the subsidiary’s functional currency). The Group estimates the
IBR using observable inputs (such as market interest rates) when
available and is required to make certain entity-specific estimates
(such as the subsidiary’s stand-alone credit rating).

Revenue recognition of gas connection contract

Construction revenue from gas connection contracts is recognised
over time, using an input method to measure progress towards
complete satisfaction of the service. The input method recognises
revenue based on the proportion of the costs incurred relative
to the estimated total costs for satisfaction of the construction
services. Accordingly, any changes to the estimated total contract
cost may have material impact on the contract revenue recognised
in each accounting period over the contract term.

Allowance for inventories

The Group makes allowance for inventories based on an assessment
of the net realisable value of inventories. Allowances are applied to
inventories where events or changes in circumstances indicate that
the net realisable value is lower than the cost of inventories. The
identification of obsolete inventories requires the use of judgment
and estimates on the conditions and usefulness of the inventories.
In cases where the net realisable value of inventories assessed
are less than expected, a material recognition of allowance for
inventories may arise, which would be recognised in profit or loss
in the period in which such recognition takes place.

EERRERERAT —F-AEEH

149



<f;kjﬁﬁ$WH

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

150

s

> Z

HE_T-NF+=

A=+—HLLFE

B0 42 4 & 3T 4 B R 4531 T
% 8 B % ) = EAOR ()

EETTABEE (&)

FEBE (&)
—hE+=-A=+—HB &F&

)8R {8 4£857,076,000/8 7T (—ZF—

N\ : 940,057,000/ 7T) °

k2 BE
BRERANRRDEEEFHARD
TTEE (DT ELEREE) Rt

ZER  BEMRARNEMRIEHRRSE

B EEL -

$%@$EF%§°%H7T%$E%2%EU%B%E@
M\/‘\:kgﬁu‘r

() HERDHIBRHRBBE
m—HERAREBRIERE
T BENTERRECABR

(i) MRER-REBERRERAR
BERARER

(i) HEMRBA - HEEMRERL
R ABRAE M

(iv) ReTREXRE - BERRE
BIE B MRRE - BR - BRRE
b2

(v) IR — R RATINE I EE
*ﬁéw‘ﬁﬂ"

REBAEEZERDER WES

PHCEHHE -

7 FRZEAE R % o0 SR P R O BR A5 BT AR
Mo ERBEEBRA - FBHEA -
HEWA - BHERA  REWER
E PROBRAREZEHD - T
REBTARANTEFRIELRED
KA BRBEHTTH -

For the year ended 31st December, 2019

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

Estimation uncertainty (Continued)
Allowance for inventories (Continued)

At 31st December, 2019, the carrying amount of inventories was
HK$857,076,000 (2018: HK$940,057,000).

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

Information reported to the executive directors of the Company,
being the chief operating decision maker, for the purposes of
resource allocation and assessment of segment performance,
focuses on types of goods or services delivered or provided.

The Group’s operating segments under HKFRS 8 are as follows:

(i)  Sale and distribution of gas fuel and related products — sale of
natural gas and to a much lesser extent, liquefied petroleum
gas for residential, commercial and industrial use;

(if)  Gas connection — construction of gas pipeline networks under
gas connection contracts;

(iii) Sale of gas appliances — sale of gas appliances and related
products;

(iv) Design and construction services — design, construction,
consultancy and management for gas connection projects;

(v) Gas stations - sale of gas fuel in natural gas filling stations.

No operating segments have been aggregated in arriving at the
reportable segments of the Group.

Segment results represent the profit before taxation earned by
each segment, excluding sundry income, interest income, rental
income, finance costs, depreciation of investment properties,
central administrative costs and directors’ salaries. This is the
measure reported to the executive directors of the Company in
the purpose of revenue allocation and assessment of segment
performance.

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2019
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E-NF+-A=+—BIEFE For the year ended 31st December, 2019

REVENUE AND SEGMENT
(Continued)

The information of segment revenue, segment results, segment

INFORMATION

assets and segment liabilities is as follows:

WERkIEER (&) 6.
DEWE  DBREE DBEEERS
HEENERNT
BE-Z-NAF+-A=+—HLEFE

For the year ended 31st December, 2019

T M am REE Segment revenue and results
HERDHRE
RAREBER RRER SERRHE JAREREH JilE=A"S fit
Sale and
distribution
of gas fuel Sale of  Design and
and related Gas gas construction Gas
products  connection  appliances services stations Total
TR FET FET TR TR Tix
HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Wz Revenue
hEH External sales 40,417292 10,573,372 383,785 678,975 3,781,689 55,835,113
E7 Results
PREE Segment results 4,916,929 4577114 40,810 80,761 663,018 10,278,632
EEASNRIEE Share of results of joint ventures 520,511
BB ENRIEE Share of results of associates 235,638
B A Finance costs (other than interest
(HERENSRI) on lease liabilities) (517,797)
AARBA Unallocated income 1,057,132
APERX Unallocated expenses (3,182,842)
BRHAER Profit before taxation 8,391,274
EHERRERERAT —Z-hEFR
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BE-Z-hFE+=-A=+—HL%E

For the year ended 31st December, 2019

6. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

(Continued)

For the year ended 31st December, 2019 (Continued)

E (#&)
PEEEREE Segment assets and liabilities
HERDHRRE
RERERER REBR HERRHE KHRERRH MR CH)
Sale and
distribution
of gas fuel Sale of  Design and
and related Gas gas construction Gas
products  connection  appliances services stations Total
TR THET TET TR TR TR
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$000 HK$’000
EE ASSETS
DEEE Segment assets 39,362,649 5,289,235 148,124 207572 1,459,037 46,466,617
WAL RTHER Interests in joint ventures 9,505,281
REE R RIRER Interests in associates 3,811,134
EERBEE Deferred tax assets 277,336
APEAREE (Mza)  Unallocated corporate assets (Note a) 20,963,588
81,023,956
8% LIABILITIES
BN Segment liabilities 4,554,812 14,357673 101,112 1,403,621 101,148 20,518,366
[N Taxation payable 739,522
EEFIBEARG Deferred tax liabilities 1,114,594
KABRARERE (M)  Unallocated corporate liabilities
(Note b) 23,294,691
45,667,173
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RS EER (&) 6. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION
(Continued)
BE-Z-hEFE+=-A=+—HL%E For the year ended 31st December, 2019 (Continued)
E (&)
HEEx Other information
FrESHEEMESBEEEMTAZR Amounts included in the measure of segment profit and segment
18 assets:
HERAH
RERBR
HEER AEER HERREE JHARERXERE  ME% RO At
Sale and
distribution
of gas fuel Sale of  Design and
and related Gas gas construction Gas
products connection appliances services  stations Unallocated Total
TERn ThR TEn Thn TEx Thn TEn
HK$'000  HK$000  HK$'000 HK$'000  HK$’000 HK$'000  HK$’000
REFRDEE Additions to non-current assets 5,030,960 - - 6,525 129,944 - 5167429
WERESH Depreciation and amortisation 1,854,803 - - 2,984 64,235 - 1,922,022
BB BER (Reversal of impairment loss)/
(REREER)/ impairment loss on trade
REBRFHE receivables, net (8,097) 81,778 (91) 1,827 (3,810) - 71,607
HinEWERERRE  Reversal of Impairment loss on
BOFE other receivables, net - - - - - (5,435) (5,435)
AREERESRFE Impairment loss on contract
assets, net - 12,554 - - - - 12,554
HEME BER  Loss on disposal of property,
REER plant and equipment 10,793 - - - - - 10,793
HEBNRBLFESRE Loss on disposal of prepaid lease
payments 388 - - - - - 388
EHRRERERAT —ZE-IEER
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HE-_T-NGF+-A=+—"HBILFE For the year ended 31st December, 2019

6. WERDEEHR (&) 6.

BE-Z-N\F+-A=1t—-HILEFE
ke ES

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

(Continued)
For the year ended 31st December, 2018

Segment revenue and results

BERDHRE

BEREEER  MRER HERRSR RHARERRH MR At
Sale and
distribution
of gas fuel Sale of  Design and
and related Gas gas  construction Gas
products  connection  appliances services stations Total
ThL ThL T FhEr TATL TR
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Yoz Revenue
plsiz External sales 35,750,705 9,942,691 337,697 676,404 4,457,874 51,165,371
E7 | Results
PEEE Segment results 4,439,350 4,131,634 53,366 102,369 799,950 9,526,669
NG E Share of results of joint ventures 557,304
e R RRE Share of results of associates 249,297
BIRERAR Finance costs (459,632)
FL 0N Unallocated income 576,270
AOERX Unallocated expenses (2,572,879)
BRART Profit before taxation 7,877,049

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2019
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WERDEER (&) 6. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION
(Continued)
BE-Z-N\E+=-ZHA=+—HLHF For the year ended 31st December, 2018 (Continued)
E (&)
PEEEREE Segment assets and liabilities
HERDHAE
MEREBER MEES HEMRRE HIRERRE JiiE=h At
Sale and
distribution
of gas fuel Sale of  Design and
and related Gas gas  construction Gas
products  connection  appliances services stations Total
TR ThL T ThEr TFiEn TET
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
EE ASSETS
PREE Segment assets 36,686,161 4,343,318 155,602 136,702 1,656,750 42,978,533
RABDRINER Interests in joint ventures 9,510,144
REERFMER Interests in associates 3,438,449
EXREEE Deferred tax assets 265,822
FARAFEE (MiFa)  Unallocated corporate assets (Note a) 17,378,830
73,571,778
af LIABILITIES
NEEE Segment liabilities 3,843,698 14,011,947 100,713 1,090,049 96,994 19,143,401
[ENTHIE Taxation payable 715,910
EEHEARG Deferred tax liabilities 1,228,432
KABRAREE (M)  Unallocated corporate liabilities
(Note b) 20,875,555
41,963,298

EERREZERBERAF

“E-NEER
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HE-_Z-NGE+-_A=+—"HBILtEE

For the year ended 31st December, 2019

6. WERDEEHR (&) 6. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION
(Continued)
BE-Z-\E+=-HA=+—HLHF For the year ended 31st December, 2018 (Continued)
E (&)
HE&Ex Other information
FrESEEMESBEEEMTAZR Amounts included in the measure of segment profit and segment
18 assets:
HERDER
BRI RAAH HEMR  RERER
Em  HRER #a TR ik Rk ast
Sale and
distribution
of gas fuel Saleof  Design and
and related Gas gas  construction Gas
products  connection  appliances services stations  Unallocated Total
T Tx Tr Tir T Tir THr
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
REFNBEE Additions to non-current assets 6,556,513 = = 6,765 65,034 36,732 6,665,044
WEREH Depreciation and amortization 1,594,753 = = 1,127 84,433 1803 1,682,116
BRBEMENZE Release of prepaid lease payments 60,415 - - - - - 60,415
FEWEHED (FfE  (Reversal of impairment loss)/
EBiEER),/ HE impairment loss on trade
BEFE receivables, net (25,237) 60,209 (490) 226 4625 = 39,333
Hit A E Impairment loss on other
EEFE receivables, net _ _ _ ~ ~ 27600 27600
HENE BER  Loss on disposal of property,
REER plant and equipment 2,195 - - - - - 2,195
HEEMBLFERE Loss on disposal of prepaid
lease payments 1,227 - - - - - 1,227
MEE - Notes:
a. RO ARBERKEWBARE a. Unallocated corporate assets represent goodwill arising on acquisition

EWEE - REME  EERAFE
SPARMEEREARARE - Hi
UK - BEIRRITER - bR
ARSRITRBRAS

b.  ARABARAEREMEMNR - RT
REMEEARELERE - RITRHE
EEREERERASENFEE
TEE  HOBRRRDIRARARE -

of subsidiaries, investment properties, equity investments designated
at fair value through other comprehensive income, other receivables,
pledged bank deposits, other deposits and bank balances and cash.

b. Unallocated corporate liabilities represent other payables, bank and

other borrowings and senior notes. Bank and other borrowings and
senior notes are classified as unallocated corporate liabilities because
they are managed centrally by the treasury function of the Group.

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2019
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HE-ZT-NGF+-A=+—HILFE For the year ended 31st December, 2019
RS EER (&) 6. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION
(Continued)
ih & & K Geographical information

FAREBIERTHEE (TEESR Information about the Group’s non-current assets (excluding
TAREERIEEE) HERBEE financial instruments and deferred tax assets) is presented based

EFEME7 on the locations of the assets:
—E-hF —E-)N\F
2019 2018
THER FAET
HK$’000 HK$'000
=235 PRC 51,353,237 48,154,121
B Hong Kong 4,073 986
51,357,310 48,155,107

REZMERN » REE KA R G E
EE -

The Group’s revenue is arisen in the PRC during both years.

WA RS Timing of revenue recognition

REFEREEE R Goods transferred at a point in time 44,582,766 40,546,276
i B ) 28 2 R 7SS Services transferred over time 11,252,347 10,619,095
RERFARMWALLSE Total revenue from contracts with customers 55,835,113 51,165,371
EETERFHER Information about major customers

REMER  WEREE PR
R MM A LB IR ES10%3 A L -

REEFARHKA
) PIFRAEH
TR RS BRI EBEMA
S8 EHEERRSHNRE
AHRBTROREHERDHA
GEUE

No single external customer contributed revenue from transactions
amounting to 10% or more of the revenue of the Group during
both years.

Revenue from contracts with customers
(i)  Disaggregated revenue information

The following table shows the amounts of revenue recognised
in the current reporting period that were included in the
contract liabilities at the beginning of the reporting period
and recognised from performance obligations satisfied in
previous periods:

—E-hF —E-N\FE
2019 2018
FBT FHT
HK$’000 HK$'000
FrEsR B A Revenue recognised that was included in
(BERHREBHTH contract liabilities at the beginning of the
ARAME) : reporting period:
PREEE SBEFREHRRIS  Gas connection/design and construction
services 5,875,957 7,495,215

EEMAZRERLT —B-NETR
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HE-ZT-NGF+-A=+—HBILFE For the year ended 31st D

6. WEkIBEHR (&)

6. REVENUE AND SEGMENT

ecember, 2019

INFORMATION

(Continued)

REEBFSRANKA (4)

() EREF (i)
AMALEEOE AR
T

HER 7 SR EERH R G R dn

BHBRENRIRRRERTT
NFBERZSEI0H NEIL -

B X B (EFE = IRA OB M &
EBRET  NRBERTEREER
BEPEXRIY  FEFP,BE
ZALRRI AR o

HEMREA

BHEENRINIEXEREER
17 NFBERIEEH -

Rt RIZRIRE

JE 49 (E 8 AR RO TR 414 1 2 8
BT NHRBERERELERE
FPEXZRIEY  EHEFPAREA
BRI o

W Ed

BHRERINRREERETT
BERATR

BT EHE T CRETK
DPREBT) R-_ZT—NAE+
A=+ BHXRBERA
16,770,642,9118 7T (=T — N\
fF 1 15,509,555,661/%8 jT) ° £
MRESKEENBTRAOSEEE
S ETNBRE = EHEANERE
BT -

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2019

Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)

Performance obligations

Information about the Group’s performance obligations is
summarised below:

Sale and distribution of gas fuel and related products

The performance obligation is satisfied upon delivery of gas
and payment is generally due within 30 days from delivery.

Gas connection

The performance obligation is satisfied over time as services
are rendered and payment is generally due upon completion
of installation and customer acceptance, except for new
customers, where payment in advance is normally required.

Sale of gas appliances

The performance obligation is satisfied upon delivery of
the industrial products and payment is generally due upon
delivery.

Design and construction services

The performance obligation is satisfied over time as services
are rendered and payment is generally due upon completion
of installation and customer acceptance, except for new
customers, where payment in advance is normally required.

Gas stations

The performance obligation is satisfied upon delivery of gas
and payment is generally in advance.

The transaction prices allocated to the remaining performance
(unsatisfied or partially unsatisfied) as at 31st December,
2019 are HK$16,770,642,911 (2018: HK$15,509,555,661). The
remaining performance obligations related to gas connection
are expected to be recognised and satisfied within no more
than three years.
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For the year ended 31st December, 2019

HAbK A 7. OTHER INCOME
—EB-hF —E-N\F
2019 2018
FHER FAET
HK$’000 HK$'000
Hi WA B 4E Other income included:
JEfER AR ASUR A Extended service income 569,875 286,049
REBERIA Integrated energy income 77,691 37,056
BImE e (M5E29) Government grants (note 29) 100,696 114,927
RITIFEHF B WA Interest income from bank deposits 29,965 12,362
EFRA BUA (Fiza) Interest income from other deposits (note a) 263,193 274,933
KETiHAFEST A HE 2 mEDividend income from equity investments
WS IR AN B IR B U A designated at fair value through other
comprehensive income 3,213 484
L YEREA LGB ES I EPNGL:EY) Interest income from deposits placed with a
TR A WA fellow subsidiary 8,670 36,883
LN G By NGIE S Interest income from a loan to a fellow
BERHF B HA subsidiary 39,205 4,441
RERMETHEZERAA Interest income from a loan to an intermediate
SRR BUA holding company 16,739 2,951
REAE DR HF EWA Interest income from joint ventures 1,326 2,028
NS VNGRS N Interest income from associates 299 =
REKLERHNE KA Rental income from operating leases 31,999 28,981
HEEE TN Gain on disposal of joint ventures 153 12,936
B\ADSHE ML AGH Gain on deemed partial disposal of an
hzs (BisEb) associate (note b) 224,083 =

BYEE -

RZE—h&E+=-A=+—8 " kg a.
HihE RO F EWABIER AR F
B Y SRTT B R A A RS SHER R A

Notes:

Tk R ARTT B A 2E dn O A S o

b. FAR  KBRREERMHERAA b.
(TEEIRR L) MR E LBFHFR
SFTET™ o Elt - REBRKERE
H)HE 25 FR36%H 8 £32.4% + ANEE
AR B & KA R A R 25 T
R #£224,083,000/8 7T °

IR,

ERRRERERAF

At 31st December, 2019, interest income from other deposits consisted
of interest income from principal protected deposits and bank
financing products denominated in RMB issued by banks in the PRC.

During the year, B EMAS & BRR (D AR A F(“EPAS") listed its shares
on Shanghai Stock Exchange. As a result, the Group’s interest in %
#BIAS was diluted from 36% to 32.4% and the Group recognised a
gain of HK$224,083,000 on deemed partial disposal of interest in X

—E-NEER
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BE-_Z-NF+-_A=+—HBHILEFE

For the year ended 31st December, 2019

8. IR 8. FINANCE COSTS
—E-hEF T )N\F
2019 2018
FTHERT FHET
HK$’000 HK$’000
THBERNE Interests on:

SRITREMER Bank and other borrowings 144,428 168,161
BREE Senior notes 274,039 277,180
HEBBENFE Interest on lease liabilities 15,790 _
FERT A &N RIFIE Amounts due to joint ventures 7,366 9,725

FERT R EAR A BRI RIA Amounts due to intermediate holding
companies 89,364 1,781
HipREAE Other long-term liabilities 2,600 2,785
533,587 459,632

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2019
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HE-ZT-NGF+-A=+—HILFE For the year ended 31st December, 2019
BRBL A% R 9. PROFIT BEFORE TAXATION
—E-hEF —ZT—)N\F
2019 2018
Bt 5 FERT FHT
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
BRAL AT A E Profit before taxation has been arrived
ek (Gt A) - at after charging/(crediting):
BIMA Staff costs
= Directors’ emoluments 11 14,770 14,691
H@ET Other staff
— ¥e RALA — Salaries and bonus 3,209,515 2,711,211
— HAb 1w — Other benefits 773,788 799,210
— RIRRERIET B R — Retirement benefit scheme
contributions 568,280 583,592
BIRALREE Total staff costs 4,566,353 4,108,704
ZEEN S Auditor’'s remuneration 11,975 11,857
ME  MEKLEZEITER Depreciation and impairment of
RIE property, plant and equipment 14 1,670,049 1,626,869
REMESRE Depreciation of investment properties 15 3,952 1,803
FREEERE Depreciation of right-of-use assets 16(a) 184,556 -
TEAITE 40 R IE B 85 Amortisation of prepaid lease
payments - 60,415
A R B Amortisation of operating rights
(Bt ATTHRR) (included in administrative
expenses) 21 63,465 53,444
SRRAEREERMEEEE Impairment of financial and contract
assets, net
— BB SEFREFSE - Impairment of trade receivables,
net 23 71,607 39,333
— Eh R EORE — Impairment/(reversal of impairment)
CRERE) F5 of other receivables, net 23 (5,435) 27,600
—AREERBEFE — Impairment of contract assets, net 24 12,554 =
HeEME  BERB#EESE Loss on disposal of property, plant and
equipment 10,793 2,195
HEFHRELERE Loss on disposal of right-of-use assets 388 =
B AN E A FIAEE Loss on disposal of prepaid lease
payments - 1,227
R AHEGEHEDN Lease payments not included in the
FEFSEREY measurement of lease liabilities 16(d) 108,749 -
THEM* K LHLT S Operating lease rentals in respect of
rented premises - 211,932
EHRRERERAT —ZE-IEER
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HE-ZT-NGF+-A=+—HBILFE For the year ended 31st December, 2019

10. B8 10. TAXATION
—Z2-hE —E-N\E
2019 2018
FHET FAT
HK$’000 HK$'000
WA HEE - The tax charge comprises:
BNERRR IR Current taxation
R EEFTISHL PRC Enterprise Income Tax 1,940,648 2,030,151
BEFEREIR Underprovision/(overprovision) in prior years
(EBEERE) 36,416 (60,810)
BRARBEEED DIREF & Withholding tax paid for distributed
EEANEHAZFHTENR profits and intergroup restructuring of
investments in the PRC 44,424 92,530
2,021,488 2,061,871
RIEFIE (M17533) Deferred taxation (note 33) (99,667) (73,233)
1,921,821 1,988,638

F R E BTG IR & G5 ER
i o 32 Bt £16.5% (Z T — )\ F :
16.5%) it HREE - AAARERNE
RN B AR R MEFE R E
FERBHEF - At - WERLRE M
MERNFHRB AN GHBME -

REBHPEARAMBELERAFHE
(TREEMEBED REEMBHE
EhEd PENBEARMNKRER
25% METEEERZEREESR
BRI R

RIE IR EREEEREE T
BB (R ——E$15%) © 4
BrEERAIBBESEDRENZ
LT )\F— A — B 5 BEENA 5 F B Al
e BMIEINR MR ZBBIRE
BT 2R A MRS BIBREFH
EEIGE R BT AR EFAE R
Bl 59115 5% 84 10%H) B = 41 4 1
¥FBH (AFRERBNR) o

Hong Kong Profits Tax has been provided at the rate of 16.5%
(2018: 16.5%) on the estimated assessable profits for the year.
The company and its subsidiaries operating in Hong Kong did not
have assessable profits, accordingly no provision for Hong Kong
Profits Tax has been made in the consolidated financial statements
for the both years.

Under the Law of the People’s Republic of China on Enterprise
Income Tax (the “EIT Law”) and Implementation Regulation of the
EIT Law, the tax rate of the PRC subsidiaries is 25% except for
certain group entities which are entitled to various concessionary
tax rates or tax exemptions and reliefs.

According to a joint circular of the Ministry of Finance and State
Administration of Taxation, Cai Shui 2011 No. 1, only the profits
earned by foreign-investment enterprise prior to 1st January, 2008,
when distributed to foreign investors, can be grandfathered and
exempted from withholding tax. Whereas, dividend distributed
out of the profits generated thereafter, shall be subject to the
Enterprise Income Tax at 5% or 10% and withheld by the PRC
entities, pursuant to Articles 3 and 27 of the New Law and Article
91 of its Detailed Implementation Rules.

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2019
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HIEFE For the year ended 31st December, 2019

10. TAXATION (Continued)

The tax charge for the year can be reconciled to the profit before
taxation per consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income as follows:

—E-NEF —N\F
2019 2018
FERT FHET
HK$’000 HK$'000
B F5 AT Y4 ) Profit before taxation 8,391,274 7,877,049
BRI AR %25% (==& — )\ Tax at the applicable income tax rate of 25%
F : 25%) stERTHIA (2018: 25%) 2,097,819 1,969,262
FAER S AR i S AT HR B 2 HY Tax effect of expenses not deductible for tax
T2 purposes 193,859 253,833
IS AR B AR AR Tax effect of income not taxable for tax
B e purposes (139,296) (52,147)
BIHAE R EENTETE  Tax effect of share of results of joint ventures (130,128) (139,331)
FEIEEE AR EENTIETE  Tax effect of share of results of associates (58,910) (62,324)
RERRIBEENR G E Tax effect of tax losses not recognised 76,459 14,408
BB AEI RERNFIEETR  Utilisation of tax losses previously not
recognised (32,296) (26,070)
REBEHEFERREH Income tax at concessionary rates (83,293) (55,883)
BT RIEE R DR ST E Withholding tax for undistributed profits of
A investments in the PRC (80,571) 52,088
EBATBEIEEE SRS E Withholding tax paid for distributed profits and
EFERNEAXHHIEMB intergroup restructuring of investments in
the PRC 44,424 92,530
BAEERETR /(HBEEHE )Underprovision/(Overprovision) in prior years 36,416 (60,810)
Hih Others (2,662) 3,082
FARAFEBELH Tax charge for the year 1,921,821 1,988,638
EPRREBERAT —T-hEFR
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BE-_Z-NF+-_A=+—HBHILEFE

M. EERTREATIMERESR

RE¥FES

=

ENHENESHOMESIT

For the year ended 31st December, 2019

AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES

Directors

11. DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S EMOLUMENTS

The emoluments paid or payable to the directors are as follows:

ZE-hE ZE-)\E
2019 2018
#eR EINER ek RINEHN
ik RER AnTENRE BE TS At #e EftER AnEnge HElER Ait
Performance  Retirement Performance Retirement
Salaries related benefit Salaries related benefit
and other incentive schemes and other incentive schemes
L Name of directors Fees benefits payments contributions Total Fees benefits payments  contributions Total
Tén TER Tin TEn Tén TH#R THR Thr Thn TH#R
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS$'000 HKS§'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
HrEE Executive directors
SEE () shiBaofeng (Note (a)) - 1,775 4,746 9% 6,619 7 1,008 3001 102 4098
Bl Ge Bin - 1,512 5,755 101 7,368 70 1,500 2,692 9 4,361
REM () shi Shanbo (Note () - - - - - 63 140 3943 72 5518
FUTES Non-executive directors
TR (iz(c)  Wang Chuandong (Note (c)) - - - - - - - - - -
IRIE (¥5E(c)  Chen Ying (Note (c) - - - - - - - - - B
TEZ(WEC)  Wang Yan (Note (c) - - - - - = - - = =
3 Wan Suet Fei
(R (Note () and (0) - - - - - . . . . .
sttE Jing Shiging
(R (Note (0 and () - - - - - - - - - -
BUKHTES  Independent non-
executive directors
RRE Wong Tak Sing 200 - - - 200 180 = = = 180
ARE ¥u Hon To, David 200 - - - 200 180 - - - 180
BN (HE(e)  Yang Yuchuan (Note (e) 200 - - - 200 iz = = - 74
#5EZ (HE0)  Hu Xiaoyong (Note (1) 183 - - - 183 - = = - -
FH% (W) Qin Chaokui (Note (g)) - - - - - 105 - = = 105
TR (HER) Yo dian (Note () - - - - - 15 = = s 45
783 3,287 10,501 199 14,770 724 4,038 9,656 213 14,691

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2019
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BE (F)

BEE

(a)

(b)

(c)

(d)

(e)

()

(9)

(h)

FEEBEEENR_T-NF+—A-+
NARERTES -

BEEEEAER-_ZT—N\F+—A=+
J\NBBERITES -

FEREE BRELELE  TEXRE
BERZETRSEFTEER T —
NER-F-/\FHOMehER (£
®) BRABAE -

BERZEIEREEFELER TN
FNAZBRERTES -

BEINEER=ZZ-NFNA=EH
EBILERTES -

HREELEEN_T-NF—A=1t—
BREBLIFNTES -

RPAZRGRER_T-—N\FENA=B#
EBIIEHITES -

FRIZEtR=_T-N\FHEA=T=H
BHEB U IENITES -

N EMBATESHIME DT R

W

HARRRAEEEREHREHR

BVBRTS o A LPRESETTE S KRB
FRTEENME DT EH RS
REABERHRT -

TBAESENESRERZMESF
EREEAME -

o
H
[

!
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

HIEFE For the year ended 31st December, 2019

11. DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S EMOLUMENTS
AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES (Continued)

Directors (Continued)

Notes:

(@)

(b)

(d)

(e)

Mr. Shi Baofeng served as an executive director on 28th November,
2018.

Mr. Shi Shanbo resigned as executive director on 28th November,
2018.

The emoluments of Mr. Wang Chuandong, Mr. Chen Ying, Mr. Wang
Yan, Ms. Wan Suet Fei and Mr. Jing Shiging for 2019 and 2018 are
borne by China Resources (Holdings) Company Limited.

Ms. Wan Suet Fei and Mr. Jing Shiging were appointed as non-

executive directors on 3rd August, 2018.

Mr. Yang Yuchuan was appointed as an independent non-executive
director on 3rd August, 2018.

Mr. Hu Xiaoyong was appointed as an independent non-executive
director on 31st January, 2019.

Mr. Qin Chaokui resigned as an independent non-executive director
on 3rd August, 2018.

Ms. Yu Jian resigned as an independent non-executive director on
23rd May, 2018.

The executive directors’ emoluments shown above were paid for

their services in connection with the management of the affairs of

the Company and the Group. The emoluments of the non-executive

directors and independent non-executive directors shown above

were paid for their services as directors of the Company.

Neither the chief executive nor any of the directors waived any

emoluments in both years.

EEMALRERAT —T-NEER
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HE-_T-NGF+-A=+—"HBILFE For the year ended 31st December, 2019

M. EERTHREAZMERTER 11. DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S EMOLUMENTS

BE%ES (& AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES (Continued)
&8 Employees

rEEBREGERTATRERSE (= The five highest paid individuals of the Group included two (2018:

T-N\F:WB) RPTEE " FEH two) executive directors, details of whose emoluments are set out

MEeFBHREX - EBR=% (=% above. The emoluments of the remaining three (2018: three) highest

—NF: =) ZaHES (BEEILFE paid employees who are neither a director nor chief executive of
AEBMESKITHRAR) ST ¢ the Group are as follows:

—E-hEF T )\F

2019 2018

FERT FAET

HK$’000 HK$'000

e REMBA Salaries and other benefits 4,031 4,236

WINTTER S Performance related incentive payments 14,061 9,790

BIRE AT K Retirement benefit schemes contributions 298 213

18,390 14,239

LitEENMEN FIATER : The emoluments of the above employees are within the following

bands:

—E-hEF —ZT—N\F

2019 2018

EEAH EBEAH

Number of Number of

employees employees

4,500,001 70 %E5,000,00087c HK$4,500,001 to HK$5,000,000 - 3

5,500,001 756,000,000/ HK$5,500,001 to HK$6,000,000 1 -

6,000,001 756,500,000/ 7T HK$6,000,001 to HK$6,500,000 2 -

3 S
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HE-ZT-NGF+-A=+—HILFE For the year ended 31st December, 2019
12. RE 12. DIVIDENDS
—E-hF —ZT-)N\F
2019 2018
FHERT FHET
HK$’000 HK$'000
FANERR/D KRS Dividends recognised as distribution during
the year:
“E-NFHHRE - 2019 interim dividend -
FRE1571L 15 HK cents per share
(ZZ2—NF: ZT—N\F (2018: 2018 interim dividend —
PHIRR S — FAR157810) 15 HK cents per share) 326,740 326,741
- \FRERKRE — 2018 final dividend —
Fhk6281L 62 HK cents per share
(ZB—NF:ZT—+5F (2018: 2017 final dividend —
KREAE S — BIR4075(L) 40 HK cents per share) 1,350,494 871,296
1,677,234 1,198,037

EERBRENBE_T—hh&+=A
=+ —RIEFEHRBREGR72%E
W (=T — ) \F:6281l)  HEE
1,568,315,000% 7t (= T — J\ & :
1,350,494,000/8 7T ) °

13. ERER
SRR TR e E

13.

The directors recommend the payment of a final dividend of 72
HK cents (2018: 62 HK cents) per share for the year ended 31st
December, 2019 in an aggregate amount of HK$1,568,315,000
(2018: HK$1,350,494,000).

EARNINGS PER SHARE

The calculation of the basic earnings per share is based on the
following data:

—E-hF —T)N\%F
2019 2018
FHET FHET
HK$’000 HK$'000
BF Earnings:
AU E B REREF Earnings for the purposes of basic earnings
BA (RAFHE A per share (profit for the year attributable to
FEAEE @A) owners of the Company) 5,043,477 4,450,101
—B-NEF —E)N\F
2019 2018

RHEE :
AT E S RER R

T BEHTRMNEE
B EEE AT Bl A R Bk

Number of shares:

Weighted average number of shares in issue
less shares held for incentive award scheme
for the purpose of basic earnings per share

2,178,215,487 2,178,215,487

HAMEFELEE ETNEELR
B - B2 5 FRREE R T o

No diluted earnings per share are presented as there were no
potential ordinary shares in issue for both years.
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BE-ZT-NAF+-A=t+—BIEE

14. Y% - BERRE

For the year ended 31st December, 2019

14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

BE - HE
B Rt RREE  GARKE RENEEE RE HRIB &it
Plant,
machinery
and Gas Furniture Leasehold Motor ~ Construction
Buildings ~ equipment pipelines  and fixtures  improvements vehicles i progress Total
Thi Thr T Thr Thr Thr Thr Thr
HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$1000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$1000 HK$ 000
piv-1. | THE GROUP
A oSt
R=5-)\§-A-R A 1st January, 2018 4,183,300 3229338 22980935 531,012 388,043 664,830 2181505 34,158,963
hE Additions 48770 171,166 588,493 28718 12850 60,562 4541547 5822,106
ij Disposals (36,224) (151,296) (289,877) (22,791) (1,135) (68971) (37,008) (607,302)
ENAE Reclassffication 411461 209,580 2470,661 23% 7634 - (310173 -
EaENE Transfer to investment
properties (20,739) - - - - - - (20.739)
ExA Fxchange adjusiments (214,179) (189.118)  (1,052400) (26937) (10,266) (37.743) (270651)  (1,801,204)
R=E-\F+ZA=t-A At 315t December, 2018 4,742,389 3260670 24697812 512,398 397,126 618678 3313661 37551734
hE Additions 26,539 322,063 133,293 212,387 32,344 49,569 3,869,056 4,645,251
WEHBAA Acquisition of subsidiaries 26,933 16,811 214,187 3454 67 1307 28,39 291,155
i Disposals (24,366) (103320) (65812) (23280) (7565) (50,013) (40,119) (314,475)
EHE Reclassification 311,631 193271 4,281,388 4547 31,052 - (4821889) -
ELFRELE Transfer to right-of-use assets - - - - - - (22,012) (22,212)
ExiEnE Transfer to investment
properties (12,993) - - - - - - (12,993)
EXR Exchange adjusiments (109.960) (89,000) (563314) (12,030) (5,580) (17,088) (116,775) (913747)
RZE-NE+ZA=1-H At 315t December, 2019 4960,173 360949 28697554 697476 447 444 602453 2210058 41204653
HEREE DEPRECIATION AND
IMPAIRMENT
R=E-\5-A-A At 1st January, 2018 501,891 75434 3442819 289,692 203281 290727 26,831 5,550,675
EEEE Provided for the year 167,800 315,004 952,082 60,203 48152 83,628 = 1,626,869
HERHR Eliminated on disposals (9.778) (28,683) (25,322) (14,33) (447) (51,376) (334) (130,276)
BERANE Transfer to investment
properties (6,383) - - - - - - (6,383)
EH8% Bxchange adjusiments (43,688) (91,286) (223 466) (18,640) (5817) (2459) (173) (407 666)
RZE-NE+ZA=1-H At 315t December, 2018 609,842 970469 4,146,113 316919 265,169 298383 26,324 6,633,219
FEEE Provided for the year 181,291 343416 976,680 73679 20,509 74474 = 1,670,049
In ERHR Eliminated on disposals (4563) (70,693) (10443) (16,737) (3406) (45,161) (3333) (154,336)
#xENE Transfer to investment
properties (2437) - - - - - - (2,437)
EfRE Exchange adjusiments (23,781) (46,923) (122,002) (9.329) (3072) (11,616) (13) (216,936)
R=E-hE+=A=t-A At 315t December, 2019 760352 1,196,269 4,990,348 364,532 279200 316,080 2778 7.929559
BEE CARRYING VALUES
RZE-NE+=A=1-H At 315t December, 2019 4,199,821 2413226 23707206 332,044 168,244 286,373 2187280 33295004
RZE-\E+ZA=1-A At 31st December, 2018 4132547 2299201 20,551,699 195479 131,957 320,29 3287337 30918515
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14. Y% - BERRE (&)

L% BERKFHER (EET
BRI AR A E B F AR A
HETRIRBERABRETIAFTE

BF

Buildings

Plant, machinery and equipment
MREE

Gas pipelines

R EE

Furniture and fixtures
HEmERE

Leasehold improvements

e

Motor vehicles

AEENEFURTE L E -

i

14. PROPERTY,

A

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

nE+=A=+

(Continued)

HILFE

42 AR

=13

ﬁ%i&‘%@w@

For the year ended 31st December, 2019

PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

The above items of property, plant and equipment, other than

construction in progress, are depreciated over their estimated

useful lives and after taking into account their estimated residual

values, using the straight-line method, as follows:

25F40%F

25 to 40 years
5%204F

5 to 20 years
20£304F

20 to 30 years
3E12F

3to 12 years
3E55F

3 to 5 years
3hZE10%F
3'/5to 10 years

The Group’s buildings situated on land in the PRC.

EERREZERBERAF
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BE-T- A+ AST-ALEE

s

15. REWE

For the year ended 31st December, 2019

15. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

B 5E FHT

Notes HK$'000
2% COST
RZZE—-—NE—HA—H At 1st January, 2018 69,450
BiEf AT IEE Transfer from prepaid lease payments 15,993
BY¥E  BMELREED Transfer from property, plant and equipment 20,739
IE 3 Exchange adjustments (1,747)
R-E—NE+-_A=+—H At 31st December, 2018 104,435
I HEH B A A Acquisition of a subsidiary 37 157
BEAESEED Transfer from right-of-use assets 16(b) 9,767
BYE - BE&EEETL Transfer from property, plant and equipment 12,993
P& o Ff 2K Exchange adjustments (2,602)
RZZE-hF+=—A=+—H At 31st December, 2019 124,750
e DEPRECIATION
RZZE—-—NE—HA—H At 1st January, 2018 23,299
FIE R Provided for the year 1,803
BIB AL FRIEE 5 Transfer from prepaid lease payments 5,661
HY¥E  BMELREEL Transfer from property, plant and equipment 6,383
ER kS Exchange adjustments (893)
R-ZE—NE+-_A=+—8H At 31st December, 2018 36,253
FEEE Provided for the year 3,952
BiEAEEEE LD Transfer from right-of-use assets 16(b) 1,443
B9 - BEIREED Transfer from property, plant and equipment 14 2,437
PE A% Exchange adjustments (1,062)
RZZE—NF+=ZA=+—H At 31st December, 2019 43,023
IREE CARRYING VALUES
RZE-hFE+ZA=+—H At 31st December, 2019 81,727
RZZE—-—NF+=—A=+—H At 31st December, 2018 68,182

AEEMEARDES IRARIEER
RERENY RS UARARAG
B UOBRREMEAR - TED
BRSHEEFHUEREMFEREY

ES:0)0 %N T
n=
+_
AR E o

B m 4

—NERZF-NF+_H=
C AEENMEREMESN

All of the Group’s property interests to earn rentals or for capital

appreciation purposes are measured using the cost model and are

classified and accounted for as investment properties. Depreciation

is provided to write off the cost of investment properties using the

straight-line method over the remaining terms of the leases.

At 31 December, 2019 and 2018, all of the Group’s investment

properties were situated in the PRC.

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2019
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16. HE 16. LEASES

AEEEREEA

AEBEAREEBEENET |
B #ELLFBELZEEENHES
4o DIRAEH — X MENFAREE
WHEMEE i - HE A2E505F - M
BEZETHHEENKRR - B Treg
BYNEWRIE - BFOREEE A2
Z25%F - MERE -« #2532 )18 A7
BENF2E24F -

(a) FRNNLHHEEHE (ZFE-NF

A

NFEFT-A=+—HLFE

The Group as a lessee

ﬁé%ﬁﬁ%ﬁ;i>

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31st December, 2019

The Group has lease contracts for various items of buildings,

plant, machinery and equipment used in its operations. Lump

sum payments were generally made upfront to acquire the leased
land from the owners with lease periods of 2 to 50 years, and no
ongoing payments will be made under the terms of these land
leases. Leases of buildings generally have lease terms between 2
and 25 years, and leases of plant, machinery and equipment have
lease terms between 2 and 24 years.

(a) Prepaid land lease payments (before 1 January 2019)

—HA—HZA)
FHET
HK$'000
RZE—N\F—A—HNE@E Carrying amount at 1 January 2018 1,804,872
NE Additions 278,586
FRANERER Recognised in profit or loss during the year (60,415)
RZZE—N\F+_A=+—HHNEEMME Carrying amount at 31 December 2018 2,023,043

b)) EHESE
REBERFEREEENERE@E

(b) Right-of-use assets

The carrying amounts of the Group’s right-of-use assets and

REFMT : the movements during the year are as follows:
B - #aE
HEL# gF ET a5t
Plant,
machinery
Leasehold and
land Buildings equipment Total
i3 TET TET TR TEx
Notes HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$’000 HK$’000
RZZE—NEF—A—H As at 1 January 2019 2,218,496 269,436 12,574 2,500,506
NE Additions 227438 5,971 59 233,468
e 1nEING Acquisition of subsidiaries 37 20,928 - - 20,928
BY%E  BERREEL  Transfer from property, plant
and equipment 14 22,272 - - 22,272
ERREYE Transfer to investment properties 15 (8,324) - - (8,324)
HE Disposals (2,029) - - (2,029)
HERX Depreciation charge (108,757) (78,155) (2,644) (184,556)
X AR Exchange adjustments (51,130) (6,173) (283) (57,586)
R-Z—NF
+=R=+-8 As at 31 December 2019 2,323,894 191,079 9706 2,524,679

ERRRERERAF

—E-NEER
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HE-_Z-NGE+-_A=+—"HBILtEE

16. 1HE (&)
(c) HEEE

FRHEEAENEEE (Gt AG
BIRTTREMEFTAT) RES)

For the year ended 31st December, 2019

16. LEASES (Continued)

(c) Lease liabilities

The carrying amount of lease liabilities (included under

interest-bearing bank and other borrowings) and the

U movements during the year are as follows:
—E-hF
2019
FBT
HK$’000
Lease liabilities
HESE
R—A—BMEEE Carrying amount at 1 January 466,430
e New leases 21,699
F AN R EILE Accretion of interest recognised during the year 15,790
BE 5, 2 Exchange adjustments (8,503)
(NE7S Payments (134,249)
Rt+=ZA=+—BMEEE (M) Carrying amount at 31 December (Note) 361,167

DA Analysed into:

RENE S Current portion 92,177
ETRENE Non-current portion 268,990

B3 7 & & {563,882,00075 7T A FE
NERMBAR -

(d) REZFRINEEEBTEN

Note: Lease liability of HK63,882,000 is to a fellow subsidiary.

(d) The amounts recognised in profit or loss in relation to

T leases are as follows:
—E-hEF
2019
FHET
HK$’000
HEAEFNE Interest on lease liabilities 15,790
FREEENERY Depreciation charge of right-of-use assets 184,556
EHAZ I E R T A Expense relating to short-term leases and other
R-ZE—NF+-_A=+—H leases with remaining lease terms ended
KA ERNEMEER AR on or before 31 December 2019 (included
GIATTHAXZ REERDHERAS) in administrative expenses and selling and
distribution expenses) 108,749
B ERPIERTE Total amount recognised in profit or loss 309,095

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2019
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AEBEAEBEA

RZE-—NF+ZA=+—H HBH#E
AEBRFEEBPL 2 N BEHKLE
HEMEYCRRRBEERBENT

45 A
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

HE-ZT-NGF+-A=+—HILFE For the year ended 31st December, 2019

16. LEASES (Continued)

The Group as a lessor

leases with its tenants are as follows:

At 31 December 2019, the undiscounted lease payments receivable
by the Group in future periods under non-cancellable operating

—E-hF —ZT—N\F
2019 2018
FERT FAT
HK$’000 HK$'000
—FR Within one year 9,195 8,920
E_FEERF
(BIEEEME) In the second to fifth year inclusive 21,437 28,963
AFLAE After five years 8,382 3,744
39,014 41,627
17. REE D TINER 17. INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES

—E-hF —E-)N\F
2019 2018
FERT FAT
HK$’000 HK$'000
IR EE Share of net assets 8,602,164 8,586,843
W E AR E Goodwill on acquisition 903,117 923,301
9,505,281 9,510,144
RIBEHR  AEEHNETESE AT Details of the Group’s principal joint ventures at the end of the

B M 47 - reporting period are set out in note 47.

EERREZERBERAF
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HE-ZT-NGF+-A=+—HBILFE For the year ended 31st December, 2019

17. REERRINER (& 17. INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES (Continued)
BEEMESYFBEANESE ATNE Aggregate information of joint ventures that are not individually
FER material

—E-hEF —E—N\F
2019 2018
FET FHT
HK$’000 HK$'000
AEBE RGN & The Group’s share of profit and total
HEM AR comprehensive income 346,999 315,520
MREIE BN 258 Aggregate gas connection income 1,762,709 1,570,632
AEBRZESE AT Aggregate carrying amount of the Group's
R REAELRE interests in these joint ventures 3,594,321 3,494,997
18. NEEZ N B MVRES 18. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES
—B-NEF —E-N\F
2019 2018
FHERT FHET
HK$°000 HK$'000
IR EE Share of net assets 3,806,364 3,433,572
WEEENEE Goodwill on acquisition 4,770 4,877
3,811,134 3,438,449
FHRENAFE (HisE) Fair value of listed investments (Note) 9,068,624 2,843,643
Wi : RGO B A AL (B—H/AT Note: The fair value measurements of the listed shares (Level 1 fair value
B E) DEEERTEN T ER measurements) are derived from quoted prices in an active market.
{g °
RIBEHR » REEHTIEBE AT Details of the Group's principal associates at the end of the
IR E A M FE48 o reporting period are set out in note 48.
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18. REF & N AR (&)
TEBRENTNTBEERSTE

AEENTIERENTNEENRER
BPBERRR (TEEMR]) KK
REEBMDERDA ([REBRR]) 8
FHERBEHRTNMT -

ZEHE N BN ERAE AR ANERER

18. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (Continued)

Summarised financial information of material associates

Summarised financial information in respect of EEMREBID B
RAR(EEMRR") and KERREERMD AR A F(RERR"), the

Group’s material associates, are set out below.

The associates are accounted for using the equity method in these

B ARz AR o consolidated financial statements.
EERR RERR
—ZE-hF —Z-N\F —E-hF —Z-N\F
2019 2018 2019 2018
THET FHAT FHEx THAT
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$’000
mEBEE Current assets 2,807,791 3,016,911 3,216,729 1,945,325
FERBEE Non-current assets 7,069,145 6,987,696 4,281,998 4,079,912
mEEE Current liabilities (2,630,476) (2,879,229) (2,967,587) (3,118,058)
FERBEE Non-current liabilities (2,196,184)  (2,279,052) (460,616) (278,300)
IR M 2 Non-controlling interests 449,149 428,520 177,267 231,252
BEERR REBRR
—2-AF  —2\F  ZB-RF  —T)\F
2019 2018 2019 2018
FHT FAET Fix FTAT
HK$’000 HK$°000 HK$’000 HK$'000
WA Revenue 7,892,698 6,818,015 5,378,986 5,137,836
E R R Profit and total comprehensive
HEMERE income for the year 448,560 396,640 549,271 520,043
FREWEE R ERE Dividends received from the
associate for the year 28,051 51,920 - 41,087

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2019
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For the year ended 31st December, 2019

18. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (Continued)

Summarised financial information of material associates

A reconciliation of the above summarised financial information to
the carrying amounts of the interests in the associates recognised

N in the consolidated financial statements is as follows:
EEMRK BERR
—E-hE —NE —E-hE —N&F
2019 2018 2019 2018
FTEx THT FEx FET
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$°000 HK$'000
A AEGEE DRI Net assets of the associate
BEFE attributable to owners 4,601,127 4,417,806 3,893,257 2,397,627
REEREE N R Proportion of the Group’s
R ownership interests in
associates 22.49% 22.49% 32.40% 36.00%
(EES Goodwill 3,257 3,330 1,514 1,547
RUEER A T EHRE Effect of fair value adjustments
M2 at acquisition 564,445 607,432 119,822 130,667
REEREE AR Carrying amount of the Group’s
HEREE interests in associates 1,602,495 1,604,326 1,382,751 995,360

FEBENR DN EBHEHEAEEIE
HASEHEERRR LR
{tABER  BEMRERERETH
MREH EERREBEENHR
CEREREEURREKAR
MEGHERERAGEER
BN E o

UREE) -

i 2

Ex2g

EEMSAFEBERNBEQAMNA

principal place of business is the PRC.

The material associates are principally engaged in similar activities
to the Group and is strategic to the Group’s activities of the
sale of natural gas and liquefied petroleum gas, construction of
gas pipelines networks under gas connection contracts, design,
construction, consultancy and management for gas connection
projects and the sale of gas fuel in natural gas filling stations. Their

Aggregate information of associates that are not individually

SFER material

ZE-RF —N\F
2019 2018
FERT FHT
HK$’000 HK$'000

REBEWEERN (EE) The Group’s share of profit/(loss) and total
RE2E () B comprehensive Income/(loss) 23,017 (27,122)

REBNZESH A NTIHELZ  Aggregate carrying amount of the Group’s
KIAREEAR R interests in these associates 825,888 838,763

EERREZERBERAF
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HE-_T-NGF+-A=+—"HBILFE For the year ended 31st December, 2019

19. EERAFEFTAREMEE

19. EQUITY INVESTMENTS DESIGNATED AT FAIR

KB BRAKRE VALUE THROUGH OTHER COMPREHENSIVE
INCOME

—E-hE —E-N\F
2019 2018
FTHET FAT
HK$’000 HK$'000

EEZRAFEFTAEM Equity investments designated at fair value

2EHRBHRERE through other comprehensive income

ETRAKRE R ATFE Listed equity investments, at fair value 4,264 5,456
FELETRAKRE  ZATE Unlisted equity investments, at fair value 141,994 118,149
146,258 123,605

L AR E RN HE 3 E R A
FEFAEMGEEKE  AARNER
RRZEREBEIEE -

RBEE-_T—AF+=-_A=+—8H
IEFE AEEBERAERE LU
% £3,213,000% ;T (= T — /A F -
484,000/ 7C) °

The above equity investments were irrevocably designated at fair
value through other comprehensive income as the Group considers
these investments to be strategic in nature.

During the year ended 31st December 2019, the Group received
dividends in the amount of HK$3,213,000 (2018: HK$484,000) from
the equity investments.

20. HE 20. GOODWILL
Bt FHET
Notes HK$'000
BREE CARRYING VALUE
R=ZZE—N\F—H—H At 1st January, 2018 677,681
NE Addition 23,238
bEE 2 Exchange adjustments (82,059)
RZE-—NFE+ZA=+—H At 31st December, 2018 668,860
W BB R A A Acquisition of a subsidiary 37 15,402
AR Exchange adjustments (14,892)
RZEBE—hE+=-A=+—8 At 31st December, 2019 669,370
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HE-ZT-NGF+-A=+—HILFE For the year ended 31st December, 2019

20. GOODWILL (Continued)

Goodwill acquired in a business combination is allocated to cash-
generating units (*“CGUs”) that are expected to benefit from that
business combination. The management considers that each
subsidiary represents a separate CGU for the purpose of goodwill
impairment testing. At the end of the reporting period, the carrying
amount of goodwill mainly represented goodwill arising from the
acquisition of subsidiaries as follows:

—B-nE —T-N\F

2019 2018

FTHERT FHT

HK$’000 HK$'000

ZMNEBRRER AR (HiEa) ZMEBRRER DA (Note a) 213,439 218,208

REZRHMEARLF (Hita) REFERMAER AT (Note a) 118,486 121,133

EEME (L8) BRAT EHMRA (B8 ARAQA

(RITE [ B8 L EH (formerly known as “_E/&E LZEH

MEAR AR (Kitta) MEAMR QT (Note a) 114,636 117,197

REZEBRBARDF (Fitb) REZFERRRAER AT (Note b) 72,986 74,616

ZBEBRRER LR (Hita) 25 EERR AR AT (Note a) 30,384 31,063

ENERRRRM BRI (Ffita) EMEBRIIRMGBERLF (Note a) 27,257 27,866

REFEHRAER AR (Ffta) REZEBREAER AT (Note a) 20,839 21,304

WIDETIERRRERAR (Mzb) RDEIZEBRIER2AE (Note b) 15,125 =

HAth (Mizta) Others (Note a) 56,218 57,473

669,370 668,860

a. REREELBMMIREEDR

B ()VHE RS HRBMHRIBREE
s (R ER  R(i)HERR R

°

So

\
/

b. HREELBNMSREEDES
(VA& Ry HREEBME RABEER :
(VMBER  (iI)VHEMAERE: &
(iv) g o

Notes:

a. These CGUs are engaged in the operating segments of (i) sales and
distribution of gas fuel and related products; (ii) gas connection; and
(iii) sale of gas appliances.

b. This CGU is engaged in the operating segments of (i) sales and
distribution of gas fuel and related products; (ii) gas connection; (iii)
sale of gas appliances; and (iv) gas stations.
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20. B& (&) 20. GOODWILL (Continued)

ReEEBMA A KESETIRER
BEFETEETE - st EEREBEER
MEEMREFRE HREREE
HERKANTRRAEHEM - TRE
DEAARREBREELENRA
BB RE MR b IR 1T T 5 A A
BATEL RAAFT R K  MERRER
BERNAE SERERKANE
PARBEED RIEAT IS RRE
MEE

REBERBESREEERESBRK
hF GHERERMMRRERELH
— R R & 500 B M BORH iR B
Ben8WA - RERERFOMHIE
RER5% LR T L FH BT R E
2% (ZZ—N\F: EHFERNK
RIBREF R2%) SR HE b 78 B 2 1R HAR
MBRERE - RARSELEMNE
EREMBNMEXR6.7% (ZF—
NE:71%) - BEEZRR - RREH
R MREBNHEL KRB EME
ANREEE BEERR ZERR
NERSERREEH TSGR RCE
EEUMNERERARBEAZREESL
B MR EEREE -

The recoverable amounts of the CGUs are determined based on
value-in-use calculations. The key assumptions for the value-in-
use calculations are those regarding the discount rates, growth
rates and expected changes to selling prices and direct costs.
Management estimates discount rates using pre-tax rates that
reflect current market assessments of the time value of money
and the risks specific to the CGUs. The growth rates are based
on industry growth forecasts. Changes in selling prices and direct
costs are based on past practices and expectations of future
changes in the market.

The Group prepares cash flow forecasts derived from the most
recent financial budgets approved by senior management for the
next 5 years, which is the general development period for the sale
of liquefied gas and the gas connection business and extrapolates
cash flows for the period beyond the budget period based on the
estimated growth rate of 5% for the first 5 years and 2% for the
remaining 7 years (2018: 5% for the first 5 years and 2% for the
remaining 7 years). The rate used to discount the forecast cash
flows for the CGUs is 6.7% (2018: 7.1%). In the opinion of the
directors, no material impairment loss of goodwill on gas operation
is identified at the end of the reporting period. Management
believes that any reasonably possible change in any of these
assumptions would not cause the aggregate carrying amount of
the CGU to exceed the recoverable carrying amount of the CGU.
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21. K&’ 21. OPERATING RIGHTS

B 5 FHET

Notes HK$'000

[5%:S COST
RZTE—-—NFE—H—H At 1st January, 2018 1,568,450
NE Additions 51,919
bEE W A EE Exchange adjustments (30,498)
RZZE—-—N\F+=ZA=+—H At 31st December, 2018 1,589,871
NE Additions 4,380
SNPGRS Acquisition from a subsidiary 37 16,304
bE 7 S Exchange adjustments (9,029)
R-ZE—hhF+=-A=+—8H At 31st December, 2019 1,601,526
b E AMORTISATION
RZE—N\E—H—H At 1st January, 2018 309,637
FEREE Provided for the year 53 444
bEE 5 3 28 Exchange adjustments (7,216)
RZE—N\F+=-A=+—H At 31st December, 2018 355,865
FERE Provided for the year 63 465
bEE A Exchange adjustments (8,499)
RZZE-—NF+ZA=+—H At 31st December, 2019 415,831
BREE CARRYING VALUES
RZZE—hF+=ZA=+—H At 31st December, 2019 1,185,695
R-ZZB-N\E+=A=+—H At 31st December, 2018 1,234,006
W BARAEERTIAESER The operating rights for city pipeline network are amortised over
flat A A FHA10E50F A8 - the estimated useful life ranging from 10 to 50 years on a straight-
line basis.
22. & 22. INVENTORIES

—E-NF —ZT—N\F

2019 2018

FERT FHET

HK$’000 HK$'000

HEME Construction materials 728,110 740,647
RURK i Finished goods 128,966 199,410
857,076 940,057
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23. EWE ZRF R EMERR

For the year ended 31st December, 2019

23. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

—E-hF —E-N\F

2019 2018

FHET FHET

HK$’000 HK$'000

EWE SRR Trade receivables 5,110,380 4,374,971

B Impairment (264,061) (196,970)

4,846,319 4,178,001

e & & A RIFRIA (FisEa) Amounts due from joint ventures (Note a) 308,534 430,443

JE U B & A B3k B (M aED) Amounts due from associates (Note b) 78,861 48,494
FEMISEFEAR AR 3R Amounts due from non-controlling

FIB (MsEe) shareholders (Note c) 78,724 18,750

FEUL R K H 8 2 A Amounts due from fellow

FIE (H5Ed) subsidiaries (Note d) 2,023,154 1,216,695
FEU P EERAE] Amounts due from an intermediate

I (Kizke) holding company (Note e) - 573,610

R (BEr) Deposits (Note f) 1,103,624 1,638,844

A RIE (Mi5Eg) Prepayments (Note g) 2,474,512 2,228,047

H b U (M sEh) Other receivables (Note h) 805,949 700,069

BERE (HiEh) Impairment allowance (Note h) (48,988) (68,155)

11,670,689 10,964,798
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a. BREWRSEEAFIFIIE40,933,0007% T
(=Z — )\ 4 : 53,264,000/ 7T) %
IR - RN T3.92E £4.28F (=
T—)\F : 3.92FF4.28F) TEH
FEFEANRFERER —FREE
N EBRABERE - 2B RAREX

RRER

b. BHRBL2AFRBHMNERRE
50,571,000/ 7t (=T — \F : &)
BEEE - R4BENFFRFER
AR —ERNEEN - i*@%‘z%?%ﬁﬁ# .
BB RBEREREEE

c. [RUEHERT RIFERBIRFIALE
I 2B RARERRER -

d KRARRWMNEBRRRENERKE
1,679,286,000/ 7T (ZZ — )\ F :
917,494,000/ 7t) A EE A « 2 F
MEA4IBE(ZT— N\F:4.79E)
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B - 2B RAREREEE
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NFE+ZA=+—HILFE For the year ended 31st December, 2019

. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (Continued)

Except for the amount due from joint ventures of HK$40,933,000 (2018:
HK$53,264,000) which are unsecured, bear variable interest at rates
ranging from 3.92% to 4.28% (2018: 3.92% to 4.28%) per annum and
are repayable within one year, the balances are unsecured, interest-
free and repayable on demand.

Except for the amount of loans to associates of HK$50,57 1,000 (2018:
Nil) which are unsecured, bear interest at a rate of 4.35% per annum
and are repayable within one year, the balances are unsecured,
interest-free and repayable on demand.

Amounts due from associates and non-controlling shareholders are
unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand.

Except for the amount of loan to a fellow subsidiary of HK$1,679,286,000
(2018: HK$917,494,000) which is unsecured, bears interest at a rate
of 4.35% (2018: 4.79%) per annum and is repayable within one year,
the balances are unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand.

Amounts due from an intermediate holding company bears interest at
a rate of 4.35% per annum and is repayable within one year.

Deposits mainly include deposits paid to gas suppliers, rental deposits
and deposits of taxes.

Prepayments mainly include prepayments for purchase of gas fuel and
related goods.

Except for the impairment provided for certain other receivables
which indicates that the Group is unlikely to receive the outstanding
contractual amounts in full, no impairment allowance is provided for
other receivables for which credit risk has not increased significantly
since initial recognition.

ERRRERERAT —F-hEFFER

185



186

AU RENE

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

iy =]

#pZ

BHE_Z-HNF+_A=+—BLILEE

23.

FEWL & 5 BR 70N H h FE WK
(&)

AEELTEEFPOHEEH—RR30
AEIOK - EMBEEBBEOHEKE
SEFNBERREREZBH (A
ERERAERBEY) ORRIIT2
B -

For the year ended 31st December, 2019

23. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (Continued)

The Group generally allows credit periods ranging from 30 to 90
days to its customers. The ageing analysis of trade receivables,
net of loss allowance, is presented based on the invoice date at the
end of the reporting period, which approximated to the respective
revenue recognition date as follows:

—E-hEF —ZT—N\F

2019 2018

FET FHT

HK$’000 HK$'000

0E90K 0 to 90 days 4,078,942 3,561,184
91E180K 91 to 180 days 350,374 297,942
181%2365K 181 to 365 days 310,963 210,670
365K A L Over 365 days 106,040 108,205
4,846,319 4,178,001

FEWE 5 R B EB BB A EEHH
SR -

The movements in the loss allowance for impairment of trade
receivables are as follows:

—E-hF —ZT—N\F

2019 2018

FHET FHET

HK$’000 HK$'000

REH] At beginning of year 196,970 163,251
BE H A% Exchange adjustments (4,516) (5,614)
VEEE (B F5E Impairment losses/(reversals), net 71,607 39,333
RER At end of year 264,061 196,970

K& E B RABEREETR
BELHT - Ut ERMEEERE - Bl
ENERAREERUEBEERANS
BAEFDMETHAE (AiRE - E
mARR - PR R A AR A R AE A RE
REMEAEERRNEZEESR )
s B HETE - Rt ERBREIA
EMEER  BERERRRSE BH
AN ARBESER  ERMRER
REBIGEETRINA R RAEEHR -
BE HERBESRFAHBE—F
BEANZRHBITIEESMRR - BT A

An impairment analysis is performed at each reporting date using a
provision matrix to measure expected credit losses. The provision
rates are based on days past due for groupings of various
customer segments with similar loss patterns (i.e., by geographical
region, product type, customer type and rating, and coverage by
letters of credit or other forms of credit insurance). The calculation
reflects the probability-weighted outcome, the time value of money
and reasonable and supportable information that is available at the
reporting date about past events, current conditions and forecasts
of future economic conditions. Generally, trade receivables are
written off if past due for more than one year and are not subject
to enforcement activity.
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FHZA=1+—HLFE For the year ended 31st December, 2019

23. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (Continued)

Set out below is the information about the credit risk exposure on
the Group’s trade receivables using a provision matrix:

As at 31st December, 2019

0-90X 91-180kX 181-365k 365KkLL L “at
0-90 91 - 180 181 - 365 Over 365
days days days days Total
TEEE B8 X (%) Expected credit loss
rate (%) 0 1.65 1.95 70.38 5.17
HAREE (T8 Gross carrying amount
(HK$’000) 4,078,942 356,240 317,163 358,035 5,110,380
JEHA{EE 518 (T8 7T) Expected credit losses
(HK$’000) 0 5,866 6,200 251,995 264,061
R-ZE-N\FE+=-A=+—H As at 31st December, 2018
0-90&X 91-180Kk 181-365:K 365K F BET
0-90 91 - 180 181 — 365 Over 365
days days days days Total
TEHIEE BB E (%) Expected credit loss
rate (%) - 0.93 1.50 63.83 4.5
@ERHEE (TAT) Gross carrying amount
(HK$’000) 3,561,184 300,739 213,880 299,168 4,374,971
FEHA{EE 18 (T8 T) Expected credit losses
(HK$'000) — 2,797 3,210 190,963 196,970

RETERKERESREE AT EIR - K&
EEZREBANERARAREERD
EEAMERTEEMANES - i
RAEBEREBEAEEF  BEREET
REAR - Bt - RAREERBRE
BELGRAMBHRERPIEHNRERE
5 BASITIEHEE RS -

In determining the recoverability of a receivable, the Group
considers whether there has been adverse change in the
credit standing of the debtor from the date on which credit was
initially granted. The concentration of credit risk is limited as the
Group’s customer base comprises a large number of customers.
Accordingly, the directors of the Company believe that there is
no further credit provision required in excess of the allowance for
doubtful debts already provided for in the consolidated financial
statements.
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24.

For the year ended 31st December, 2019

ERIEHBEE 24. ASSETS RELATED TO CONTRACT WORKS
—E-hEF —ZT-)N\F
+=ZA=+—-H +ZA=+—H
31st December 31st December
2019 2018
FHET T
HK$’000 HK$'000

SRIEHBEENR]S - Assets related to contract works arising from:

MREEBOEE Gas connection activities 1,384,045 868,221
BITEFE A& RN Costs to fulfil contracts with customers 2,101,933 1,757,339
3,485,978 2,625,560
B Impairment (12,554) _
3,473,424 2,625,560

ERIEMAREENGERSAHEE
B R AR BN R BOE ) R
Y ES - b TY H RSB B ZR AR T
TRERBIGN - SEARERBHNE
RTREIHEERERERRESR - &
TRERREPEKE #RAER
TRRABEEENSBINENDERE
WESER - RZT—NWEFR=T—
NEARTRZBHEERIZINTIRR
BEFRFAHEEY RIBHMRE
BORBIEINPTE -

RBEE-Z-NAF+-_A=+—H
LIE#E - 12,554,000 7T (ZF — )\
FE)BRRARAIEEEEEMN
BHEEBERE AEERATFH
R B EF R EBRER TIN5 R M
234K EE -

R+—RAR=+—B &RIEHEBEE
ENBEREREERENT

Assets related to contract works are initially recognised for revenue
earned from the sale of goods and the provision of related gas
connection activities as the receipt of consideration is conditional
on successful completion of construction. Included in assets
related to contract works for construction services are retention
receivables. Upon completion of construction and acceptance by
the customer, the amounts recognised as assets related to contract
works are reclassified to trade receivables. The increase in assets
related to contract works in 2019 and 2018 was the result of the
increase in the ongoing sale of goods and the provision of gas
connection activities at the end of each of the years.

During the year ended 31 December 2019, HK$12,554,000 (2018:
Nil) was recognised as an allowance for expected credit losses
on assets related to contract works. The Group’s trading terms
and credit policy with customers are disclosed in note 23 to the
financial statements.

The expected timing of recovery or settlement for Assets related
to contract works as at 31 December is as follows:

—E-hE —T—N\F

2019 2018

FERT FHET

HK$’000 HK$'000

—F R Within one year 1,384,045 868,221
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F+ZA=+ For the year ended 31st December, 2019

25. PLEDGED BANK DEPOSITS

At 31st December, 2019, bank deposits are pledged as security
for trade payables to suppliers of natural gas and franchise
performance to the government. The pledged bank deposits are
denominated in RMB and carry interest at market rates ranging
from 0.35% to 4.80% (2018: 0.35% to 4.80%) per annum.

26. BANK BALANCES AND CASH

The bank balances carry interest at market rates ranging from 0%
to 3% (2018: 0% to 3%) per annum.

27. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

—E-hEF —ZT—N\F

+=H=+-8B +ZA=+—H

31st December  31st December

2019 2018

FERT FAT

HK$’000 HK$'000

e B SRR Trade payables 6,831,824 6,319,847

EftEEARRE (Wita) Amounts due to joint ventures (Note a) 680,030 352,083

JE (B8 A R 3R IE (FisEb) Amounts due to associates (Note b) 6,799 43,957
e IEIE AR EE 2 1E (ffzkc)  Amounts due to non-controlling shareholders

(Note ¢) 203,537 230,926

FERT R R EB A FIEIE (M3Ed) Amounts due to fellow subsidiaries (Note d) 273,929 =

FETFR RS IE A F13008 (Kfste) Amounts due to an intermediate holding

company (Note e) 5,027,140 3,501,781

TEMR Receipts in advance 4,765,982 4,005,822

HEmENRRESTER Other payables and accruals 4,206,272 4,031,135

21,995,513 18,485,551

a. RREfAE A BIE680,290,526/5
T(ZE—NF+=ZRA=+—8:
349,420,000/ T) /& & & # - %
1.15EZ165E (ZE—N\F+=A
=+—H:&E1.15EE1.65F) 0%
E)FFRFERAR —FERNEEIN
EHRAEERR - REREREREE
;§ °

b. ENBEQRFRAEEM RER
ANBRIEE -

c. [ENFEBRBRKAREER 28
NANBERIER -

d.  RENRERHEAR);
BRANEREEER

BHAEEM %

o

B

5

e. FE A R OREER QA KE
5,000,000,000/5 7T (=& — J\ F :
3,500,000,0007% r) % 3K # & /A
ROfE A REE - REBRITRER
B E(HIBOR)INFX0.6E (ZT— N\
F:06E)FE -

Notes:

a.

Except for the amounts due to joint ventures of HK$680,290,526 (31st
December 2018: HK$349,420,000) which are unsecured, bear variable
interest at rates ranging from 1.15% to 1.65% (31st December 2018:
from 1.15% to 1.65%) per annum and are repayable within one year,
the balances are unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand.

Amounts due to associates are unsecured, interest-free and repayable
on demand.

Amounts due to non-controlling shareholders are unsecured, interest-
free and repayable on demand.

Amounts due to fellow subsidiaries are unsecured, interest-free and
repayable on demand.

Amounts due to an intermediate holding company of HK$5,000,000,000
(2018: HK$3,500,000,000) are unsecured and repayable within 9
months, bear an interest of Hongkong InterBank Offered Rate (HIBOR)
plus 0.6% (2018: 0.6%) per annum.

EERRERERAT —F-AEEH
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27. BT 5 IR R AR AT

/u,%:
ERESEANBEAREREREH
HWERE M 250 T ¢

27. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES (Continued)

The ageing analysis of trade payables is presented based on the
invoice date at the end of the reporting period as follows:

—E-hE —E-)\F

t=A=t+-8A +=-A=+-~

31st December 31st December

2019 2018

FHERT FET

HK$’000 HK$'000

0-90k 0 - 90 days 4,718,097 4,338,115
91-180k 91 - 180 days 638,114 596,434
181-365K 181 — 365 days 921,774 786,497
365K A k£ Over 365 days 553,839 598,801
6,831,824 6,319,847

BENTHEERR7TRAE180K ¢
to 180 days.

28. GEAE 28. CONTRACT LIABILITIES

The average credit period on purchases of goods ranges from 7

—E-hEF —ZT-N\F

+=ZB=+—-B +ZA=+—H

31st December 31st December

2019 2018

FER FAT

HK$’000 HK$'000

ERARE Contract liabilities 13,018,460 12,342,544

M-ZB-NE+=A=+—-HBR=-%

—N\EFE+-A=+—HHNEREEDN December, 2018 are as follows:

Details of contract liabilities as at 31st December, 2019 and 31st

BT ¢

—E-hE —ZT—N\F
+=Z—A=+—-8 +=-A=+—H
31st December 31st December
2019 2018
FHET FHT
HK$’000 HK$'000

SRS & o SEFEL RN Short-term advances received from customers
MREEEE Gas connection activities 13,018,460 12,342,544

ERAEERERRERMMREREEM
WEIERBNR - R-E—NFE
RAENENNEEARFANEFRE
REMREBIEBHE P ATIREIME
TR B INATER

Contract liabilities include short-term advances received to provide
gas connection activities. The increase in contract liabilities in 2019
was mainly due to the increase in short-term advances received
from customers in relation to the provision of gas connection
activities during the year.

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2019



29. BFEI€

R-TB—AE+-_A=1+—8 " BF
## B) £382,060,000/%8 T (==& — )\
% 1 292,363,000/ 7T) = EiEH B
REBERIRENER  BIEAKE

NE+HZA=+-ALEE

o
H
[

!

42 AR

=13

29. GOVERNMENT GRANTS

ME - BEREBEARBELRREE of gas pipelines.

RHEES -

30. RITRHMEE

30. BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS

ﬁ%i&‘%@w@

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31st December, 2019

At 31st December, 2019, government grants of HK$332,060,000
(2018: HK$292,363,000) mainly represent subsidies granted by
PRC governmental authorities for the purpose of financing the
acquisition of property, plant and equipment and the construction

—E-hEF T )\F
2019 2018
FERT FAET
HK$000 HK$000
IRITE R — &K Bank loans — unsecured 2,271,029 2,879,931
RITER — A Bank loans — secured 43,346 4,129
HAE R — MK Other loans — unsecured 2,233 2,283
2,316,608 2,886,343
NEFEWRITREMEESZZA  The Group’s bank and other borrowings are
RUATEAE (B8 repayable as follows*:
—FR Within one year 2,031,347 2,634,961
More than one year, but not exceeding two
ZR—FETBBME years 9,114 8,983
More than two years, but not exceeding five
ZHMERTBBAF years 70,687 31,078
ZREEF More than five years 205,460 211,321
2,316,608 2,886,343
B ORBAGHRN—FA  Less: Amount due within one year shown
B B FRIE* under current liabilities** (2,031,347) (2,634,961)
EREBB BTN —FR Amount due after one year shown as non-
EI|BIEY I8 current liabilities 285,261 251,382
SERRERERLT T NFEEH
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/= == .
30. SRITRHEMBEE (&) 30. BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS (Continued)
* FEARERBERBZEAAEOE * The amounts due are based on scheduled repayment dates set out in
TERBHET - the loan agreements.
> RIZITE-AFF+ZA=+—8 - R17 **  As at 31st December, 2019, bank and other borrowings of
R H fi {2 §2,031,347,00055 7T (= HK$2,031,347,000 (2018: HK$2,634,961,000) includes an amount
T — )\ 4F : 2,634,961,000% T) & of HK$2,020,000,000 (2018: HK$2,610,000,000) that was repayable
& B8 ¥ — 2£2,020,000,000/% JT (= within one year pursuant to scheduled repayment dates set out in the
= — /\ % :2,610,000,000/% JT) HY loan agreements but contained a repayable on demand clause.

FR - BEERHAEAMENEEE
KEBAR—FREE - BZERW
BHEENERBEBOMBRK -

RZFE—NAhE+=—A=+—A0" 'R As at 31st December, 2019, the banking facility of HK$111,635,000
7T B &111,635,000% 7T (=& — )\ (2018: HK$114,129,000) is pledged by the proceeds from the
F 114,129,000/ Jt) B i & | sale of gas fuel. The loan balance is HK$43,346,000 (2018:
BMA S RIEEERT - ERBREE HK$4,129,000), and such bank facility balance is HK$68,289,000
/43,346,000 T (= T — N\ & (2018: HK$110,000,000).

4,129,000/ JT) + M 7% iR 17 Bk & &
%8 /568,289,000/8 7T (= Z — )\ F :
110,000,000/ 7T) °

REERRITREMEENERFAH The effective annual interest rates on the Group’s bank and other
EN T F0.65E F4.75E (=T — borrowings range from 0.65% to 4.75% (2018: 0.65% to 5.23%)
N\ : 0.65EF5.23F) ° per annum.
REBHRITREMEENIERRFE Details of the terms of the Group’s bank and other borrowings are
R set out below:
BIRER® —E-NE —T-N\F
Effective
interest rates
per annum 2019 2018
FTEx FAET
HK$’000 HK$'000
TEMEE Fixed rate borrowings:
BIEEARBERITER Secured RMB bank loans 4.75% 43,346 4,129
mIKMARE ([HE]) $#178%  Unsecured Japanese Yen (“JPY”)
bank loan 0.65% 251,029 256,235
Total fixed rate borrowings 294,375 260,364
FEEE Floating rate borrowings:
ERRAREEBITER Unsecured RMB bank loans at
BEEMPEARBRITER margin plus People’s Bank of
FEE B China Base Rate - 13,696
ERMETTRITER  REE Unsecured HK$ bank loans at
MEBRITREFRSEE margin plus HIBOR 2.37% - 3.34% 2,020,000 2,610,000
BEERAREKEMER & Unsecured RMB other loan at
BERTEARRITERF margin minus People’s Bank
RS o of China Base Rate 4.35% 2,233 2,283
FEEEBE Total floating rate borrowings 2,022,233 2,625,979
EEBE Total borrowings 2,316,608 2,886,343
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31. BEEE

R—ZZE——FMARH " AAAIE
EEM(E97.95%M B EERITAS
% /4750,000,0003 st ([ Jtl) (48
£ 745,818,890,000/ JT) ) 8 & =
BUEBLEZER]D BEEBRREE
REGEASEFE  WREAEEEE
XR—R - AR =—FWMAM
BEH - BEAZBRAEER  WIKE
BREFIR48EEE - RRBRER
5] B8 2= 4% 1 {£.33,605,0003% 7T (8%
#261,830,000/% JT) H) & %&£ = #& -
i 2 ¥ M {8716,395,000% jt (#H &
#5,579,176,0007% JT) B 18 /& = &
B T 855 A5 1020224 548 B 8 -
REBEZ-_TE-—NF+=_RA=+—8
LtFEE BBZIBROFERXA
274,039,000% T (= & — )\ F:
277,180,000/ 7T) ©

BAEZERTMBEELFRZMER
RalEm - BEZEBERBEHR
MRAFEZRE—RLAFEFE
H) {& 5 AB745,180,000% It (48
£ 745,803,348,0007% T) (= T —
J\ £ :766,395,0005% 7T (4 % »
6,003,103,000/ 7t)) * Jyik i B &Y
W EEE -

AREE RN E ZE2IH B Al
BIREXZBEA S EH100%I0 FE 5+
RARMAE  BEMIELLBERAE
BERRE -

HE_Z-hF+_A=+

FRE KR ERMET
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BIEFE For the year ended 31st December, 2019

31. SENIOR NOTES

On 5th April, 2012, the Company issued senior notes with a
principal amount of United States dollars (“US$”) 750,000,000
(equivalent to HK$5,818,890,000) at an offer price of 97.95% of
the face value of the notes (“Senior Notes”). The Senior Notes
bear coupon interest at a rate of 4.5% per annum payable semi-
annually in arrears and are due on 4th April, 2022. The Senior
Notes are unsecured and carry interest at an effective interest
rate of 4.8% per annum. The Company repurchased senior notes
with face value of US$33,605,000 (equivalent to HK$261,830,000)
during the year and the remaining balance of senior notes with
face value of US$716,395,000 (equivalent to HK$5,579,176,000)
is due on 4th April, 2022. Interest expenses of HK$274,039,000
(2018: HK$277,180,000) were charged to profit or loss during the
year ended 31st December, 2019.

The Senior Notes are listed on the Singapore Exchange Securities
Trading Limited. The fair value of the Senior Notes at the end of the
reporting period, which was measured at fair value on Level 1 fair
value measurement, was estimated at US$745,180,000 (equivalent
to HK$5,803,348,000) (2018: US$766,395,000 (equivalent to
HK$6,003,103,000)), which was determined based on the closing
market price at that date.

The Group has the option to redeem all of the Senior Notes, in full
but not in part, at 100% of their principal amount plus accrued and
unpaid interest at any time up to the maturity date.

EERRERERAT —F-AEEH
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32.

HtRHAE

HkHaETEamRERTEER
BRgEgNRNFUR - B R

For the year ended 31st December, 2019

32. OTHER LONG-TERM LIABILITIES

The other long term liabilities mainly consist of payables for
acquisition of operating rights for city pipeline network, and are

T ¢ payable as follows:
—E-NEF —E-)N\F
2019 2018
FTER FET
HK$’000 HK$'000
—F R Within one year 24,374 25,679
More than one year, but not exceeding two
ZR—FETBBME years 15,852 6,020
More than two years, but not exceeding five
ZHRMERTBBRAT years 30,309 42,279
ZHAE More than five years 197,684 140,348
268,219 214,326
B OmE A EFTTRET AER Less: Amount due within one year included
B SRR H M EMZR in trade and other payables shown
—FREI B IR under current liabilities (24,374) (25,679)
FERBBERTIR—FEEE Amount due after one year shown as non-
HAMORIE current liabilities 243,845 188,647

ZERADNRTERESRETE - AT
RO ERTERERBEN T10E
50F M E B FFIE3.95E (ZF— N

£ :395E)

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2019

The present values were based on cash flows discounted using an
effective interest rate of 3.95% (2018: 3.95%) per annum for terms
ranging from 10 to 50 years.



mAaRBRE Bﬁ@

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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33. IELEMIH 33. DEFERRED TAXATION
LNTAAFERNEFEFTEEHER The followings are the major deferred tax assets (liabilities)
REMBEE (BR) REZS) : recognised and movements thereon during the year:
RO BEF
MEHERE - MEMS HeEREE At
Withholding
Accelerated tax on Other
tax Operating  undistributed temporary
depreciation rights profits differences Total
THET FTEr TR FET T
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
RZ=Z—/\F—F—Q At 1st January, 2018 (399,790) (170,873) (670,254) 258,666 (982,251)
B EE Exchange adjustments (21,993) (9,400) (36,871) 14,672 (53,592)
SERXEE /(%)  Credit/(charge) for the year
(FizE10) (note 10) 4,222 861 52,088 16,062 73,233
R-Z—\%E+-H At31st December, 2018
=1+—~H (417,561) (179,412) (655,037) 289,400 (962,610)
B % R Exchange adjustments 10,414 4,475 16,337 (5,541) 25,685
EREE/(XH)  Credit/(charge) for the year
(BrzE10) (note 10) 25,212 (2,282) 80,571 (3,834) 99,667
W-E—H%E+-F At31st December, 2019
=+-—H (381,935) (177,219) (558,129) 280,025 (837,258)
BEHHRE DT AT Analysed for reporting purposes as:
—E-NEF —ZE-)N\F
2019 2018
FTHERT FHET
HK$’000 HK$'000
EEFIBE BE Deferred tax assets 277,336 265,822
EEFIEAE Deferred tax liabilities (1,114,594) (1,228,432)
(837,258) (962,610)
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33. IEALERIIE (&) 33. DEFERRED TAXATION (Continued)

R-T—AE+-_A=1+—8 K&
[ & K &) A 7 78 &5 18440,353,0007%5
7T (ZZ — )\ 4 : 465,097,000/ 7T)
AR S AR TR ) o B A AR 28 F) 2RO
HLARETE MY ERBBEEEERE
MEFITEE E - R IEE1869,551,000
BT (ZZT— N\ : 69,551,000/ 7T)
AIEERR AN BIESEHREE
BRAEREE -

RZE—-—NF+=ZRAR=+—8"
HEABREEHBEBEOMNE
RAIADERNBEANEREZEA
6,053,672,000/%8 T (= & — J\ F :
4,968,513,0007% 7T) ° B A4 [ B
TH TR AN RERARSEE
R B R AT Be N [ 48 - B S Bt
ZEEZRWERAAE -

34. R

At 31st December, 2019, the Group had unused tax losses
of HK$440,353,000 (2018: HK$465,097,000) available to offset
against future profits. No deferred tax asset has been recognised
in respect of such losses due to the unpredictability of future
profit streams. Except for the tax loss of HK$69,551,000 (2018:
HK$69,551,000) which may be carried forward indefinitely, the
losses will expire within 5 years from the year of origination.

At 31st December, 2019, the aggregate amount of temporary
differences associated with undistributed earnings of subsidiaries
for which deferred tax liabilities have not been recognised was
HK$6,053,672,000 (2018: HK$4,968,513,000). No liability has been
recognised in respect of these differences because the Group is
in a position to control the timing of the reversal of the temporary
differences and it is probable that such differences will not reverse
in the foreseeable future.

34. SHARE CAPITAL
RHEE ROEE
Nominal
Number of value
shares of shares
T
HK$'000
HREEEO0. 1078 TR (D Shares of HK$0.10 each
JEERRA Authorised:
R-ZZE—N\F—HF—H —Z— \F At 1st January, 2018, 31st December,
+—A=t—HBRkR-_T—hHF 2018 and 31st December, 2019
+=—A=+—8H 10,000,000,000 1,000,000
BEETREAR Issued and fully paid:
RZZE—N\F—HA—H —Z— /\F At 1st January, 2018, 31st December,
+-—A=+t—BER-_ZT—NF 2018 and 31st December, 2019
+=—A=+—8 2,224,012,871 222,401

RRREPEE - B 81T RERBRAR
P (4R [ M SR AT (T B &

There were no changes in the Company’s authorised, issued and
fully paid share capital during both years.

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2019



35. RIARAF S

RZZZENFE+-A—H  AQEK
R B 3R 2 RENET 3 ([REE
) FABRBIEE THRRE
NERAREERFHELERBER -

RBEREFE - ARARBEBERN K H
EFEAMNBAEEMEIANR ST
SRE  WAEENTARFERES
5 EERDEBERNETREEA/L -
fied 51 8175 2CHR PO AT L PR 61 1R AR 4 48
AR QRN SIRM A HE T
A 25% - RIS B H R I E B
- RIERBAITRTHEREN
BREIMER DM RAEE NFEBAR
BB B BITRA20.5% °

RZFB—FF=ZA+RB  ARAH
HEEEELHER - SRARSMKR
PR BB {0 1F R 428 - AR BNRIFER
BF SRR REE  $HALE
A 5T AR A B IR I B D B9 AT 1S 3R
H o

RBEE-T—"F+=-A=+—H1t
FE - ZFEANUFHEFR23.08%F T
[f T 35 H %2,266,000/% B 1) o H &
ZZ MR 0 /BT 1S 5118 552,302,000
T e FTSRIEE M AERERE T
EEREEMRSEE - HERER
FEBEERHEMEERERERAR
¥ EBBE-_ZT— A F+=-A=+
—HIEFENEERF]) o BRI
FIT 18 3K 18 2 T8 #) %= 5844,095,000/%5 7T
SARBEHEF - RBEZE-ZT—N\EK
—E-AFEF+_A=ZF+—HILEE "
R W TS SR

R AR RS B R 5 545,797,384%
B (ZZ— )\ & : 45,797,3840% f%

) -

BEREZBDAIASERREERS
PR 1 MERR A

HE_Z-hF+_A=+

FRE KR ERMET
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BIEFE For the year ended 31st December, 2019

35. LONG TERM AWARD SCHEME

On 1st December, 2008, the Company adopted the share
repurchased cash award scheme (“Incentive Award Scheme”)
as an incentive to retain and encourage the employees for the
continual operation and development of the Group.

Pursuant to the Incentive Award Scheme, existing shares of the
Company will be purchased by the trustee from the market out
of cash contributed by the Group and be held in trust for the
selected employees until such shares are vested with the selected
employees. No restricted shares will be granted if the aggregate
number of restricted shares awarded throughout the duration of
the scheme is to be in excess of 5% of the issued share capital of
the Company at the adoption date of the scheme. The maximum
number of restricted shares which may be awarded to a selected
employee under the Incentive Award Scheme shall not exceed
0.5% of the issued share capital of the Company from time to time.

On 16th March, 2010, the Company amended the Incentive
Award Scheme such that cash instead of restricted shares will be
awarded. The Company will utilise the proceeds generated from
disposal of the restricted shares held by the trustee for making
cash awards under the Incentive Award Scheme.

During the year ended 31st December, 2016, 2,266,000 shares
were disposed of by the trustee to the market at an average price
of HK$23.08 per share. The proceeds from disposal of those shares
amounted to HK$52,302,000. The whole amount of the proceeds
was awarded in cash to certain directors and employees of the
Group, with an equivalent expense recognised in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income as
employee benefits during the year ended 31st December, 2016.
The difference of HK$44,095,000 between the cost of the shares
and the proceeds was credited to retained profits. No disposal of
shares by the trustee to the market was noted during the years
ended 31st December, 2018 and 2019.

There are 45,797,384 (2018: 45,797,384) shares held by the trustee
at the end of the reporting period.

No restricted shares were granted to eligible employees pursuant
to the Incentive Award Scheme.

EERRERERAT —F-AEEH
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36.

—E-NF+ZA=T+—BILFE

RIRFRIGE

B8

7N £ H [ 5 2 AR IR B 38 SR R B 5
RPN ERHENE ([BRER
RREETE]) - A RBIEEE RS
RIEEFBRPIK IR HIIERTES
el (MaEestEl) - ZEF 8K
BEEAKENEENHEHR LM
HEABE - fEENBRESFEIK
AT B AR A B R R AR AT BIA0 K
8 - AR aE e AR RINRE
FrEINEmA R ESETE > MR
ZEZE+ A -HzBNELRE
EOFMAEFNIESHAS NGBS -

BERARREAEIRASHESRASE
ERZEEEAFENFEASL (B
FHREBNASE RS F M)
FAERHER - RS ETERE K
AR B SORRR B 5T 8] - BRI
B R AR AN OR AN £ AN 0
e MMEFER - HERI T8
FABUZ MR o

ERBRBESIEARETH  AEEE
REBEEFHNS %I EBATARS
PR%E81,500/8 TRz AT &K K - ™
ERREB TGRS ELSRMER -

RZB-NER_ZE-NF+-A=
T— B - WEEFEARW R A
TEFRIBUR 2K 4 /0 FE A 415K -

HE

AEBE WP ERER ST BT BT E
BHRREERAKBANGEOKE -
AEBEABRFERANEEAD LA
RARBRGEEL MR EmiRER
RAEF] » AEEE R ZFRINEMET
M — BRI TSR -

For the year ended 31st December, 2019

36. RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEMES

Hong Kong

The Group participates in both a defined contribution scheme
which is registered under the Occupational Retirement Scheme
Ordinance (the “ORSO Scheme”) and a Mandatory Provident Fund
Scheme (the “MPF Scheme”) established under the Hong Kong
Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance. The assets of the
schemes are held separately from those of the Group, in funds
under the control of trustees. Employees who were members of the
ORSO Scheme prior to the establishment of the MPF Scheme were
offered a choice of staying within the ORSO Scheme or switching to
the MPF Scheme, whereas all new employees joining the Group on
or after 1st December, 2000 are required to join the MPF Scheme.

The ORSO Scheme is funded by monthly contributions from both
employees and the Group based on a specified percentage of
the employee’s basic salary, depending on the length of service
with the Group. Where there are employees who leave the ORSO
Scheme prior to vesting, the contributions payable by the Group
are reduced by the amount of forfeited contributions. No forfeited
contributions were utilised in this manner for both years.

For members of the MPF Scheme, the Group contributes 5% of
relevant payroll costs or at monthly maximum cap of HK$1,500
for each person to the scheme, where contribution is matched by
the employees.

At 31st December, 2019 and 2018, the amount of forfeited
contributions available to reduce contributions payable in the
future years was insignificant.

PRC

The employees of the Group in the PRC are members of state-
managed retirement benefit schemes operated by the local
government in the PRC. The Group is required to contribute a
specified percentage of the payroll costs to the retirement benefit
schemes to fund the benefits. The only obligation of the Group with
respect to the retirement benefit schemes is to make the specified
contributions.

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2019
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37. BUSINESS COMBINATION

(a)

AIZEBEMRRARAR(“RILEE"), which holds several
subsidiaries engaged in sale and distribution of gas fuel and
related products, gas connection, sale of gas appliances
and sale of gas fuel in automobile refilling stations, is 51%
held by the Group and 49% by the other joint ventures. It was
accounted for as a joint venture under HKAS 28 “Investments
in associates and joint ventures” as all of the strategic
financial and operating decisions must be approved by two-
third of the members of the board of directors in PRTZE
whereby the number of members nominated by the board
of directors by the Group did not meet this requirement. On
1st January 2019, one of the shareholders with 49% interests
in MT% A and the Group signed a memorandum in which
that shareholder would agree with the Group’s decisions on
operating, investing and financing activities of ;T %4, and
would also agree the appointment of all senior management
of WT% A nominated by the Group. Accordingly the Group
is able to control the relevant activities on the strategic
operating, investing and financial decisions, at which time,
T28 became a subsidiary of the Company.

The fair values of the identifiable assets and liabilities of A
JTEH as at 1st January 2019 of acquisition were as follows:

RULEERER

MAFE

Fair values

recognised on

acquisition

B 5E FHIT

Notes HK$'000

Yz - E MR Property, plant and equipment 14 247,703

KEYE Investment properties 15 157

EREEE Right-of-use assets 16(a) 20,222

LR Operating rights 21 16,304

i EANEI - Interests in associates 5,904

RITHEBRIA S Bank balances and cash 58,620

FE W 5 AR 30 B A FE MR Trade and other receivables 138,861

FE Inventories 85,591

e E 5 AR % E A FE TR Trade and other payables (317,212)

Al R A E R E L% (IR A F{E5T) Total identifiable net assets at fair value 256,150

TR Non-controlling interests (125,514)
AR A &N RINRELZ R REBIE  Previously held interest, represented by

FristEs (R R FER) interests in joint ventures, at fair value 130,636
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37. ¥i806t (&)
BRAWERNIEBENESRED

ecember, 2019

37. BUSINESS COMBINATION (Continued)

An analysis of the cash flows in respect of the acquisition of

e : AT is as follow:
T
HK$’'000
REeERE Cash consideration -
BUNEIR & RIRITHAR Cash and bank balances acquired 58,620
HABRBEEREHRSTENR SR Net inflow of cash and cash equivalents included
BEEEBMRANAFEE in cash flows from investing activities 58,620

FRRERTIEBRERLAE
e M BHRETARER
I A377,022,0007% 7T & i Fl
50,424,000/ 7T °

RZZ—AFARA+=R &%
BB E=FWENTE
TEBEMRBERAR (TWIk
1) 70%8 I # - AT e L
FREMMRABERNHEER
D MRER - MRBANE
RAE MR REBREIEE -
ZWESERAEEFERERE
BEE—2 D - BIZRR A T
TMRRITHEMNTISEEE - ZWK
BEENEEREURS M
Hr115,508,0008 TREE —Z
—NE+-A=+—BLLEEX
i+ #736,296,000/8 STt A H
fth FEASF R ©

(b) (b)

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2019

During the year, the acquisition of A)L#)E resulted in
inclusion of post-acquisition revenue of HK$377,022,000 and
profit of HK$50,424,000 in the Group’s consolidated financial
statements.

On 12 June 2019, the Group acquired 70% equity interest in
AL B LEHRRAERAR(“AIEIL") from an independent
third-party. WJT8/T is engaged in sale and distribution of
gas fuel and related products, gas connection, sale of gas
appliances and sale of gas fuel in automobile refilling stations.
The acquisition is part of the on-going expansion strategy of
the Group with the aim of becoming the market leader in the
downstream city gas industry. The purchase consideration for
the acquisition was in the form of cash, with HK$15,508,000
paid during the year ended 31st December, 2019 and the
remaining HK$36,296,000 was included in other payables.
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37. EBEH (&) 37. BUSINESS COMBINATION (Continued)
AL IR =ZE—NFA+TZ The fair values of the identifiable assets and liabilities of ;T
AzUWEAE  AlEREERE SEJT as at 12 June 2019 of acquisition were as follows:
BEOHAFENT :
RS TR
AFE
Fair values

recognised on

acquisition
Bt 3 FAET
Notes HK$'000
Y - BRE R Property, plant and equipment 14 43,452
EREEE Right-of-use assets 16(a) 706
RITHEHBR MRS Bank balances and cash 9,858
FE U R 5 BR 3k B EL A R Trade and other receivables 8,949
FE Inventories 782
ENESRANEMEMNR Trade and other payables (11,697)
e TR IR Tax payables (47)
Al BB E R E A% (IR A F{E5T) Total identifiable net assets at fair value 52,003
TRk Non-controlling interests (15,601)
W E £ R PR Goodwill on acquisition 15,402
R (E Total consideration 51,804
— AR eI — Satisfied by cash 15,508
—SFARB BB EMENK — Included in other payables in current
liabilities 36,296
X HEZH915,402,0005 T2 The goodwill of HK$15,402,000 recognised above consists largely
FTERFEAHANLIEAEE of the expected synergies from combining operations of AJL)E)T
F TS TEHAE A 89 17 R R o and the Group.
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37. EBEH (&) 37. BUSINESS COMBINATION (Continued)
BEAKBRIEINRERESD An analysis of the cash flows in respect of the acquisition of
e : RTEST is as follow:

FAET
HK$'000
ReRE Cash consideration (15,508)
B IR & MiRTT4 8 Cash and bank balances acquired 9,858
HARBEERERSTENR SR Net outflow of cash and cash equivalents
ReFEYRLFHE included in cash flows from investing activities (5,650)
FA - WENDEIERAEESE During the year, the acquisition of WIJE/T resulted in inclusion
B 7% 3R R 5T A UCE 18 1 A63,243,000 of post-acquisition revenue of HK$63,243,000 and profit of
BT R F12,458,0008 7T © HK$2,458,000 in the Group’s consolidated financial statements.
38. F&iE 38. COMMITMENTS
(a) AEBRBEHREEUTER (a) The Group had the following capital commitments at the
I end of the reporting period:
—E-NF —E—)N\F
2019 2018
FERT FHET
HK$’000 HK$'000
BATEIEEETAEARN  Capital expenditure contracted for but
REBFBHRFP not provided in the Group’s financial
BENELRRAY : statements in respect of:
BEYWE BENMEE Acquisition of property, plant and equipment 76,298 88,526
®& (MaE) Investments (Note) 2,836,646 164,346
2,912,944 252,872
et AEERBIE=FFILAET Note: The Group entered into several agreements with independent
& - AEFBEKZE TR third parties to establish certain Sino-foreign joint venture
INE AR - enterprises in the PRC.
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38. &iE (& 38. COMMITMENTS (Continued)
(b) R=Z—N\E+=-A=+—HHK (b) Operating lease commitments as at 31st December 2018
BERLNAE
R=ZE—-N\F+=—A=+—8" At 31st December 2018, the Group had total future minimum
ANER BB T A] R A A A lease payments under non-cancellable operating leases
- ZERENRRSERST falling due as follows:

FARENZHAWT ¢

—ZT-)N\F
2018
FHT
HK$'000
—FR Within one year 150,433
F_FEERF (PREEEMFEEA) In the second to fifth year inclusive 281,820
hE% After five years 151,896
584,149
39. EEEH 39. PLEDGE OF ASSETS

RZEBE-NFE+A=+—0 K&K At 31st December, 2019, the Group pledged the following assets
EEEETIEEERENTRAR as security for trade payables to suppliers of natural gas and

HEE R ENE SRR R EBE R franchise performance to government:

S ERBRER

—E-hEF T N\F
2019 2018
FHET FHET
HK$’000 HK$'000
BARRIRITIE R Pledged bank deposits 5,208 7,550
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40. BEALTIRE
RHEBEALNRS %

BRARRM SN BEA LR BN
AEBNFRNEREALETTIE

40. RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES

Transactions/balances with related parties

In addition to the related party transactions set out in the respective
notes, the Group entered into the following material transactions

AR : with related parties during the year:
—E-hF —E-)N\F
2019 2018
B s FERT FAET
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
B E N RIS Transactions with associates
HEE®D Sale of goods a 182,974 176,761
BEEN Purchase of goods b 13,722 74,316
WEEF REEE Acquisition of right-of-use assets 19,962 -
BRI RWA Interest income from loans 299 =
e Rental expenses d - 3,152
HEZNANR S Transactions with joint ventures
HEEm Sale of goods 151,461 174,853
BEEN Purchase of goods b 110,343 50,973
F 28U A Interest income 1,326 2,028
FERZ Interest expenses 7,366 9,725
HEZRWEBATNZS  Transactions with fellow subsidiaries
FRF WA Interest income from deposits e 8,670 36,883
BERFEMA Interest income from a loan 39,205 4,441
HEMx Rental expenses d - 12,829
BEEASE R Disposal of a joint venture - 291,474
BIFIERREAR S Transactions with non-controlling
shareholders
HE "M Sale of goods a 379,893 179,468
BEEM Purchase of goods b 742,777 828,407
fEE M Purchase of properties - 374,411
HEFX Rental expenses d 392 334
B ARINRZS  Transactions with intermediate
holding companies
B U A Interest income f 16,739 2,951
FEFX Interest expenses f 89,364 1,781
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a. MABERR - AEAFKIFERER
ETHHEERBAAKREIER PR
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BB RIREL -

c. [EEDRURFBEAEEENBEBRR
EmSESEL -

d. X FEHEQE REMBAENRIE
EREROESAXDRETSES
fEH ©

e. RITE—NAF+=ZA=+—80 &%
BERARQBIR R BRI FEBE
TRHAERRAFEARTREMEF
7%1,093,504,679.687% T (—Z — /1
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40. RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES (Continued)

Transactions/balances with related parties (Continued)

Notes:

a. The sales to the associates, the joint ventures and the non-controlling
shareholders were made according to the published prices and
conditions offered to the major customers of the Group.

b. The purchases from the associates, the joint ventures and the non-
controlling shareholders were made according to the published prices
and conditions offered by the associates, the joint ventures and the
non-controlling shareholders to their major customers.

©. the price of acquisition of right-of-use assets from the associates were
made according to the market rents.

d. The rental expenses to the associates, the fellow subsidiaries and the
non-controlling shareholders were made according to the market rents.

e. At 31st December, 2019, the Group placed bank and other deposits of
HK$1,093,504,679.68 (2018: HK$1,690,835,000) with China Resources
Bank of Zhuhai Co., Ltd., a fellow subsidiary of the Company, and
these deposits were included in bank balances and cash.

f. The interest income and expenses from loans from the fellow
subsidiaries, the intermediate holding companies were made
according to the benchmark interest rate for RMB loans over the
same period announced by the People’s bank of China.

The Group itself is part of a larger group of companies under CRCL
which is controlled by the government of the PRC and the Group
operates in an economic environment currently predominated by
entities controlled, jointly controlled or significantly influenced by
the PRC government.

Apart from the transactions with the parent company and its
subsidiaries which have been disclosed in other notes to the
consolidated financial statements, the Group also conducts
businesses with entities directly or indirectly controlled, jointly
controlled or significantly influenced by the PRC government in
the ordinary course of business, including businesses regarding
majority of its bank deposits and the corresponding interest
income, certain bank and other borrowings and the corresponding
finance costs, a large portion of purchases and part of sales of gas.
The directors of the Company consider the transactions with these
government-related entities are within normal business operations
and are carried out on market terms. The Group has established its
pricing strategies and these strategies do not depend on whether

or not the counterparties are government-related entities.
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41.
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BEATHEHE (&

For the year ended 31st December, 2019

40. RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES (Continued)

TEBETEEEAEMS Compensation of key management personnel of the Group
—E-AEF —E—)N\F
2019 2018
FERT FHT
HK$’000 HK$’000
HE T Short-term benefits 59,928 53,710
& BRI F Post-employment benefits 1,235 1,223
61,163 54,933

=@ V=g 41. CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

AR E TR E A AR LT
SRS R BRI RRITRERR
o BRI 2 B0 T4 - A B T
EHERRERERRHESBRE
HABRRE  NERABTANE
BELRERNMEREAHRA
BB ARERRBEFE LB
MR o

FEENEARBERFAR (BER
TREMER) REBERE  T8%F
RITHERRARBDEE ABBEBRE
(AEHTER  REEN R EMRHEE
MR

KB ERE R A AR - E
2B R A A AR RATBA R TR
AEH 5  LRIBETHRE
ARSI & AR - BRI
BTHIR BT ESEERAE -

The Group manages its capital to maintain a balance between
continuity of cash flows from operating activities and the flexibility
through the use of bank and other borrowings. The Group also
monitors the current and expected liquidity requirements and
its compliance with lending covenants regularly to ensure that
sufficient working capital and adequate committed lines of funding
are maintained to meet its liquidity requirements. The Group’s
overall strategy remains unchanged from prior years.

The capital structure of the Group consists of debts, which include
bank and other borrowings, senior notes, net of bank balances and
equity attributable to owners of the Company, comprising issued
capital, retained profits and other reserves.

The management of the Group reviews the capital structure on a
regular basis. As part of this review, management considers the
cost of capital and the associated risks, and takes appropriate
actions to adjust the Group’s capital structure through the payment
of dividends, new share issues as well as the issue of new debts
or the redemption of existing debts.

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2019
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42. ST H 42. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(a) £WMITAEEH (a) Categories of financial instruments
—Em_p 2019
ERHEE Financial assets
RAFETAHM
TEHBENEMEE

Financial assets at
fair value through other
comprehensive income

REHER AT
BRERE BAERE BRNERMEE W
Financial
assets at
Debt Equity amortised
investments  investments cost Total
THET TERT FTHERT FTEx
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
BATES AR M2 Equity investments at fair value
Was R AR E through other comprehensive
income - 146,258 - 146,258
EUE 5 ER IR Trade receivables 42,630 - 4,803,689 4,846,319
STAE MUK Financial assets included in
HiEEMSRAE other receivables and other
assets - - 3,295,222 3,295,222
EEMRRITER Pledged bank deposits - - 5,208 5,208
RITEBRES Bank balances and cash - - 13,236,655 13,236,655
42,630 146,258 21,340,774 21,529,662
ZHEAE Financial liabilities
1R 88 A A S iR
Hemas
Financial
liabilities at
amortised cost
FET
HK$°’000
BB SR Trade payables 6,831,824
HRITREAME K Bank and other borrowings 2,316,608
BREERE Senior notes 5,545,404
HEAE Lease liabilities 361,167
AAEMEMNZEEMEENSREE Financial liabilities included in other payables
and other liabilities 11,981,730
27,036,733
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42. €@ T A (&) 42. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)
(a) £WMITAEER (a) Categories of financial instruments (Continued)
—E-NF 2018
THEE Financial assets
BRFERA
Hi 2 E R
CREE REHEKAKIIR
RAEZE HEMEE ek

Financial assets
at fair value
through other
comprehensive

income Financial
Equity assets at
investments  amortised cost Total
FET FET FTHAT
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BATEF AEMEEKZ Equity investments at fair value
HRAKRE through other comprehensive
income 123,605 - 123,605
FEWE 5 R Trade receivables = 4,178,001 4,178,001
FFAEMEWF R EM  Financial assets included in
BENGHMEE other receivables and other
assets - 2,919,906 2,919,906
EHEIRITIER Pledged bank deposits = 7,550 7,550
RITHEBRIR S Bank balances and cash = 10,392,696 10,392,696
123,605 17,498,153 17,621,758
EHEE Financial liabilities
RS AN 5 AR
HeRAaE
Financial
liabilities at
amortised cost
FAET
HK$'000
BN A ER Loans from associates 43,957
JENE SRR Trade payables 6,319,847
R1T R E A 1E K Bank and other borrowings 2,886,343
BRERE Senior notes 5,823,508
FFAEMEN R REMBER Financial liabilities included in other payables
TRAE and other liabilities 4,818,293
19,891,948

208 CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2019



42. €T H

(b)

(&)
M AR EE R EREE

AEENTEZERTABRERR
FEF A s 2 U s H AR
B RERE REEBESIERR
HAp R - B HEMRITER
RITEHRIRE - BT - B
NEZRFLEMBEN - RIT
LEMEER  BEEBRREME
HaE 2T TANFER
BREZENME - BXEER
T AMRBENE R &R ZE
FEBRHBERBN T X - REMEE

BRERZERRE - BIREEILE
NAEBHEBGEE E i ©

S5

LA 851 A8 S B #45 BA R LASN
B (ASEEER 2 IEEEREN

SNNVEHE) DIERE b%é?&f
BaE (E2RERTHEHKLS
T RITLEMEERELR
%) MARME(E :

FRE KR ERMET
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
F+=A=+
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42. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and policies

The Group’s major financial instruments include equity
investments at fair value through other comprehensive
income, deposits for an investment, trade and other
receivables, pledged bank deposits, bank balances and
cash, other deposits, trade and other payables, bank and
other borrowings, senior notes and other long-term liabilities.
Details of these financial instruments are disclosed in the
respective notes. The risks associated with these financial
instruments and the policies on how to mitigate these
risks are set out below. The Group manages and monitors
these exposures to ensure that appropriate measures are

implemented in a timely and effective manner.

Foreign currency risk

The carrying amounts of the Group’s monetary assets and
monetary liabilities denominated in foreign currencies, i.e.
currencies other than the functional currency of the respective
group entities, which are mainly bank balances and cash,
bank and other borrowings and senior notes, at the end of
the reporting period are as follows:

—Z-hEF —E-N\F
2019 2018
FHET FHET
HK$°000 HK$'000
EE Assets

ETHARE US$ against RMB 73,460 144,467
ETLHBTT US$ against HK$ 2,659 6,462
BTHAARE HK$ against RMB 9,110 53,459
ARBEHETT RMB against HK$ 66,044 60,418

&afE Liabilities
ETLHABTT US$ against HK$ 5,545,404 5,823,508
HE N AR JPY against RMB 251,029 256,235

REEE BT V)BT INEE TR
By ATESIESMNE R - A ER
R BT S M INE E R A R
FRONE R o BT R A 6 RS
EREHINER R -

The Group manages its foreign currency risk by closely

monitoring the movements of foreign currency exchange
rates. The Group currently has not entered into any foreign
currency forward contracts to hedge against foreign currency
risk. Management will consider hedging foreign currency
exposure should the need arise.
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ANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Financial
(Continued)

risk management objectives and policies

Foreign currency risk (Continued)
Foreign currency sensitivity analysis

The following table details the Group’s sensitivity to a 5%
(2018: 5%) increase and decrease in the relevant functional
currencies of the group entities, against the following foreign
currencies. 5% (2018: 5%) is the sensitivity rate which
represents management’s assessment of the possible change
in foreign currency rates. The sensitivity analysis includes
only outstanding monetary items denominated in foreign
currencies and adjusts their translation at the year end for
the 5% (2018: 5%) change in foreign currency rates. The
sensitivity analysis excludes balances which are denominated
in US$ for an entity with HK$ as its functional currency
since US$ is pegged to HK$. A positive number indicates
an increase in pre-tax profit for the year when the relevant
functional currencies of the group entities strengthen 5%
(2018: 5%) against the relevant foreign currencies. For a 5%
(2018: 5%) weakening of the relevant functional currencies
of the group entities against the relevant foreign currencies,
there would be an equal but opposite impact on the pre-tax
profit for the year and the balances below would be negative.

—E-hEF —ZT—N\F

2019 2018

FBT FHT

HK$’000 HK$'000
E Us$

FRT A=A Pre-tax profit for the year 3,673 7,223
BT HK$

FRFL AT = Pre-tax profit for the year 456 2,673
=] JPY

F R AT = F Pre-tax profit for the year (12,551) (12,812)
AR# RMB

F T AR A Pre-tax profit for the year 3,302 3,021

ERERS  ARNEFREEN
[E\ B I T R B 2 LR - F
GURE AT T aE R R BB B SNE
[
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In management’s opinion, the sensitivity analysis is

unrepresentative of the inherent foreign exchange risk as

the year end exposure does not reflect the exposure during
the year.
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42. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b)

Financial
(Continued)

risk management objectives and policies

Interest rate risk

The Group is exposed to cash flow interest rate risk in relation
to prevailing market interest rates on bank balances and
pledged bank deposits (see notes 26 and 25 for details of
these balances) and floating-rate amounts due from/to joint
ventures, amounts due to intermediate holding companies
and bank and other borrowings (see notes 27 and 30 for
details of these borrowings). The management continuously
monitors interest rate fluctuation and will consider further
hedging interest rate risk should the need arise.

The Group is also exposed to fair value interest rate risk in
relation to fixed-rate bank and other borrowings, amounts
due from intermediate holding companies, amounts due from
fellow subsidiaries and senior notes (see notes 23 and 31
for details). The management continuously monitors interest
rate exposure.

Interest rate sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analysis has been determined based on the
exposure to interest rates for interest-bearing bank balances,
other deposits, pledged bank deposits, amounts due from/
to joint ventures, amounts due to intermediate holding
companies and bank and other borrowings. The analysis is
prepared assuming that those balances outstanding at the
end of each reporting period were outstanding for the whole
year. A 10 or 50 basis points increase or decrease which
represents management’s assessment of the reasonably
possible change in interest rates is used.
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42. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Financial
(Continued)

risk management objectives and policies

Interest rate risk (Continued)
Interest rate sensitivity analysis (Continued)

If the interest rate on bank balances, other deposits, pledged
bank deposits and amounts due from/to joint ventures carried
at variable rates had been 10 basis points higher/lower and all
other variables were held constant, the pre-tax profit for the
year ended 31st December, 2019 would increase/decrease
by HK$12,762,000 (2018: HK$10,133,000). If the interest rate
on floating-rate bank and other borrowings and amounts due
to intermediate holding companies had been 50 basis points
higher/lower and all other variables were held constant, the
pre-tax profit for the year ended 31st December, 2019 would
decrease/increase by HK$35,110,000 (2018: HK$30,630,000).
This is mainly attributable to the Group’s exposure to interest
rates benchmarked to HIBOR on its floating-rate bank and
other borrowings and amounts due to intermediate holding
companies.

The Group’s exposure to cash flow interest rate risk is mainly
concentrated on the fluctuation of HIBOR and People’'s Bank
of China Base Rate.
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42. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b)

Financial
(Continued)

risk management objectives and policies

Credit risk

The Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk in the event
of the counterparties’ failure to perform their obligations in
relation to each class of recognised financial assets is the
carrying amount of those assets as stated in the consolidated
statement of financial position. In order to minimise the credit
risk, the Group has policies in place for determination of credit
limits, credit approvals and other monitoring procedures to
ensure that follow-up action is taken to recover overdue
debts.

Before accepting any new customer, the Group carries
out searches on the creditability of the new customer and
assesses the potential customer’s credit quality and defines
credit limits by customer. Limits attributed to customers are
reviewed once a year.

In addition, the Group reviews the recoverability of each
individual trade debt on a regular basis to ensure that
adequate impairment losses are made for irrecoverable
amounts. In this regard, the Group considers that the credit
risk is significantly reduced.

The credit risk on bank deposits is limited because the
counterparties are financial institutions with high credit
standing.
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42. €@ T A (&) 42. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b) HBEEKREBEEEZEREE (&) (b) Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)
=EREE (&) Credit risk (Continued)

R-FE—NFF+-A=+—HE
By AR 2 K F R e R 748

TREIER-Z-NF+_H
=t—RAKEEEBREK (X2
ERNBEBIMEN - BRIEEME
KAl - BEBANEIVERAK
HB ) ARFERERDBIIR
MEEEAZREEBRNRAEER

Maximum exposure and year-end staging as at 31st
December, 2019

The table below shows the credit quality and the maximum
exposure to credit risk based on the Group’s credit policy,
which is mainly based on past due information unless other
information is available without undue cost or effort, and year-
end staging classification as at 31st December, 2019. The
amounts presented are gross carrying amounts for financial

% FI2JNEEAERMEER assets.
HBARTEE -
12/ A%
REEE 2HRNEERR
12-month ECLs Lifetime ECLs
LY K2 1] il &g
Simplified
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 approach Total
iR T TiEn TER iR
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000
[ e ONGE 4 Amounts due from joint ventures 308,534 - - - 308,534
[N Amounts due from associates 78,861 - - - 78,861
U R R 3R Amounts due from non-controlling
shargholders 78,724 - - - 78,724
ERRAZHBARNE Amounts due from fellow
subsidiaries 2,023,154 - - - 2,023,154
FERE 5 Trade receivables® - - - 5,110,380 5,110,380
Efo b Other receivables™ 805,949 - - - 805,949
BERRIER Pledged bank deposits 5,208 - - - 5,208
ROEBRES Bank balances and cash 13,236,655 - - - 13,236,655
16,537,085 - - 5,110,380 21,647,465
* BAN SR BB AV R E Y FE UL . For trade receivables to which the Group applies the simplified

BEEARME - BREBEFBERNER
BRI BN B mA M E23

approach for impairment, information based on the provision
matrix is disclosed in note 23 to the financial statements.

o BFIAREMERRNEREERE o
B BEANBETEREENERER
REVSEREHREAEN - AIE
FEEEHERIER] -

The credit quality of the financial assets included in other
receivables is considered to be “normal” when they are not
past due and there is no information indicating that the financial
assets had a significant increase in credit risk since initial
recognition.
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42. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b)

Financial
(Continued)

risk management objectives and policies

Credit risk (Continued)

Maximum exposure and year-end staging as at 31st
December, 2018

The table below shows the credit quality and the maximum
exposure to credit risk based on the Group’s credit policy,
which is mainly based on past due information unless other
information is available without undue cost or effort, and year-
end staging classification as at 31st December, 2018. The
amounts presented are gross carrying amounts for financial

% FI2JNEEAERMEER assets.
HBARTEE -
12EARH
FEER 2HRBEERS
12-month ECLs Lifetime ECLs
LY K2 K83 143 &g
Simplified
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 approach Total
TER TER TAL TAL TAL
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
ERAEAAE Amounts due from joint ventures 430,443 = = = 430,443
¢ NG Amounts due from associates 48,494 = - - 48,494
FEM SRR IR 3R 5108 Amounts due from non-controlling
shareholders 18,750 - - - 18,750
ERRZMBARTE Amounts due from fellow
subsidiaries 1,216,695 - - - 1,216,695
il NG ¢ Amounts due from an intermediate
holding company 573,610 - - - 573,610
B A% Trade receivables® = = = 4,374971 4,374971
Eth Rl Other receivables™ 700,069 - - - 700,069
BERRTRH Pledged bank deposits 7,550 - = . 7550
ROEBRES Bank balances and cash 10,392,696 = = = 10,392,696
13,388,307 - - 4,374 971 17,763,278
BAN SR BB R0 A 1V R E Y R UL . For trade receivables to which the Group applies the simplified

BEEARME - BREBEFBERNER
BRI BN B mA M E23

Bt AEMERANEBMEERE
H BRANBTSREENEER
B S ERRHREEAENM - AR
ERERBERIER]-

approach for impairment, information based on the provision
matrix is disclosed in note 23 to the financial statements.

> The credit quality of the financial assets included in other
receivables is considered to be “normal” when they are not
past due and there is no information indicating that the financial
assets had a significant increase in credit risk since initial
recognition.
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42. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Financial
(Continued)

risk management objectives and policies

Liquidity risk

In the management of liquidity risk, the Group monitors and
maintains a level of cash and cash equivalents deemed
adequate by the management to finance the Group’s
operations and mitigate the effects of fluctuations in cash
flows. The management also monitors the utilisation of bank
borrowings and ensures compliance with loan covenants, if
any.

At 31st December, 2019, the Group had net current liabilities
of HK$8,711,920,000. Taking into account of the unutilised
banking facilities of HK$15,479,424,000 and internally
generated funds of the Group and the other factors described
in note 2, the Group has sufficient working capital for its
present requirements for the next twelve months from 31st
December, 2019.
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42. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Financial
(Continued)

risk management objectives and policies

Liquidity risk (Continued)

The following table details the Group’s remaining contractual
maturity for its financial liabilities. The table has been drawn
up based on the undiscounted cash flows of financial
liabilities based on the earliest date on which the Group
can be required to pay. The table includes both interest and

ME principal cash flows.
RERY  HB-FE AMRRSE
METEHE - TEERE BBEF hERE REE
Over 1 year
Weighted ~ On demand but not Total

average  or less than more than undiscounted Carrying
interest rate 1 year 5years Over5years  cash flows amounts
% TiEn FiER TR Tr FiEn
% HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

RZB-n%+=B=+-H  At31st December, 2019

ERESRERREMERZ Trade and other payables
-%8 - interest-free - 12,837,904 - - 12,837,904 12,837,904
~iE - interest bearing 140 689,815 - - 689,815 680,291
—it8 - interest bearing 2.90 5,027,140 - - 5,027,140 5,027,140
RORAMES Bank and other borrowings 2.80 2,091,514 99,770 254,920 2,446,204 2,316,608
BAZR Senior notes 4.80 251,063 5,955,771 - 6,206,834 5,545,404
HERE Lease liabilities 4.22 121,217 235,433 121,544 478,254 361,167
EhRBAE Other long-term liabilities 3.95 25,337 53,916 205,813 285,066 268,219
21,044,050 6,344,890 582,277 27971,217 27,036,733

RZB-NE+=B=1-F  At31st December, 2018

EREFETREMENT Trade and other payables
-4%8 - interest-free - 10,618,351 - - 10,618,351 10,618,351
— 8 - interest bearing 140 354,312 - - 354,312 349,420
BOREMES Bank and other borrowings 212 2,693,415 42441 257,912 2,993,768 2,886,343
BRZR Senior notes 480 264,361 6,535,584 - 6,799,945 5,823,508
AuREERE Other long-term liabilities 395 26,693 57,820 146,120 230,633 214,326
13,957,132 6,635,845 404,032 20,997,009 19,891,948

o7 B ) 3= ) 2 B LT 3R 75 AR
EEAFEMGTR - B LIk
TEEREBEENTZEIASET
SHEZS -

The amounts included above for variable interest rate
instruments for non-derivative financial liabilities are subject
to change if changes in variable interest rates differ to those
estimates of interest rates determined at the end of the
reporting period.
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42. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Fair value measurements of financial instruments

This note provides information about how the Group
determines fair values of various financial assets and financial
liabilities.

Some of the Group’s assets are measured at fair value for
financial reporting purposes.

In estimating the fair value of an asset, the Group uses
market-observable data to the extent that it is available.
Where Level 1 inputs are not available, the Group establishes
the appropriate valuation techniques and inputs to perform
the valuation.

The Group uses valuation techniques that include inputs
that are not based on observable market data to estimate
the fair value of certain types of financial instruments. The
valuation techniques, inputs and key assumptions used in the
determination of the fair value of various assets and liabilities
are stated below.
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42. €@ T A (&) 42. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)
(c) £MIAENATEE (&) (c) Fair value measurements of financial instruments
(Continued)
AEFUAE R EZ L FEL Fair value of the Group’s financial assets that are measured
ENEHEEN L -FE at fair value on a recurring basis
REREHR  ~EENTH S Some of the Group’s financial assets are measured at fair
BMEEDIEATERFE - TRH value at the end of each reporting period. The following
ez EeMmEEATE table gives information about how the fair values of these
MER (LERMERANGEER financial assets are determined (in particular, the valuation
ERBABIER) © technique(s) and inputs used).
fEEREREE EXTTEE ATEEAAYE
SHEE RTSIRBNATE ATEER  BABE B R HATENBE BB
Valuation Significant Relationship of
Fair value technique(s) unobservable unobservable
Financial assets Fair value as at hierarchy and key input(s) input(s) inputs to fair value Sensitivity
ZE-hE Z3-)\E
2019 2018
EERATEHAAMRE LoRAR%-  LOREAES- E-R() ERTEMAEAE  TER NER TR
BENHRARE 4,264,00037 5,456,000/ 0
Equity investments Listed equity Listed equity Level 1 (i) Quoted bid pricesin -~ N/A N/A N/A
designated at fair securities - securities - an active market
value through other HK$4,264,000 HK$5,456,000

comprehensive income

EERATETALREE FITRARE-  FLAREES - 2= G EETanRE . BHAS ATED (FHEN/HI5%T
Uil e 141,094,008 118,149,000%7 PIS - EE(P/ 5 SHNTELEN/
B 0%fE/ 709,398,261
MIBHIE
WA ER
HHRI(EVIEBITA)
ofi
Equity investments Non-listed equity ~ Non-listed equity ~ Level 3 (iii) ~ Valuation multiples  Average PJE, PIS,  The higher the 5% increase/
designated at fair securities - securities - P/B, EV/EBITA multiples, the decrease in
value through other HK$141,994,000  HK$118,149,000 multiples of peers  higher the fair multiples would
comprehensive income value result in increase/
decrease in
fair value by
HK$9,398,261

REN s - DTER AN/ RD5T

et BINTERD/
#1103,233,288 7T
Discount for lack of ~ The higher the 5% increase/
marketability discount, the decrease in
lower the fair discount would
value result in decrease/
increase in
fair value by
HK$3,233,288
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42. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Fair value measurements of financial instruments

(Continued)

Fair value of the Group’s financial assets that are measured
at fair value on a recurring basis (Continued)

Fair value measurements are categorised into Level 1, 2, or
3 based on the degree to which the inputs to the fair value
measurements are observable and the significance of the
inputs to the fair value measurement in its entirety, which are
described as follows:

(i) Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities that the entity
can access at the measurement date;

(i) Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices
included within Level 1, that are observable for the asset

or liability, either directly or indirectly;

(iii)

Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or
liability.

There were no transfers among Level 1, 2 and 3 in the current
and prior years.

The directors of the Company consider that the carrying
amounts of other financial assets and financial liabilities
(except for senior notes as disclosed in note 31) recorded
at amortised cost in the consolidated financial statements
approximate to their fair values.

The fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities have
been determined in accordance with generally accepted
pricing models based on discounted cash flow analysis.
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44. EHEREH 44. EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD
ZE_ZEEFE FEBRES At the beginning of 2020, a novel coronavirus pneumonia
(COVID-19)B% £ fiv 4 ([ 3778 fib 4 1) (“COVID-19”) swept across the nation. To prevent and control
BEZE - BEER  SiEEH the epidemic, various production and business sites have been
FREBEERKESMH  HERHR closed down, the resumption of work after the Chinese New
HETRRE teEEMEEBHIRE Year holiday has been postponed, and social production and
48 o [P BF 5 3 IR AR 48 ) B SRR/ consumption has reduced. At the same time, local governments
MEFEETEEMNRFERE AR have successively introduced supportive measures to support
AEECXREKE  EEHEZLE the production resumption of medium, small and micro-sized
BEER  EHEBE_ZT_ZTFEEH enterprises, as well as preferential policies for utility companies
BER—EEETE - to reduce fees and delay payments, which will have a substantial

impact on the Group’s performance in 2020.
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45. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF
THE COMPANY

—E-hE —ZT-N\F
2019 2018
FHET FHT
HK$’000 HK$'000
ERBEE Non-current assets
Y% - BE K& Property, plant and equipment 826 986
RHBATMIELETRE Unlisted investments in subsidiaries 13,850,031 13,850,031
JE Uk B BB A R FR IR Amounts due from subsidiaries 11,801,474 11,955,425
FREEE Right-of-use assets 3,247 -
25,655,578 25,806,442
MBEE Current assets
H i R WX Other receivables 244,914 215,994
FEUR T B A Rl FRIE Amounts due from subsidiaries 2,126,962 602,976
RITHEHBRRIRS Bank balances and cash 250,442 142,739
2,622,318 961,709
mEAE Current liabilities
HEi N R EEA Other payables and accrued charges 351,653 297,426
AN NG/ Amounts due to subsidiaries 385,674 387,788
M B A RIRHAER Loan from a subsidiary 1,182,934 934,269
FEAS AR R IR A RIFIE Amounts due to an intermediate holding
company 5,027,087 3,501,781
HEAE Lease liabilities 3,305 _
RITEE Bank borrowings 2,020,000 2,610,000
8,970,653 7,731,264
mEBaEFE Net current liabilities (6,348,335) (6,769,555)
19,307,243 19,036,887
AR K Capital and reserves
&N Share capital 222,401 222,401
b Reserves 13,539,438 12,990,978
13,761,839 13,213,379
ERBAE Non-current liabilities
BEER Senior notes 5,545,404 5,823,508
5,545,404 5,823,508
19,307,243 19,036,887
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45. R R BI AR R (&) 45. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF
THE COMPANY (Continued)
AARRERE : Movement in the Company’s reserves:
REBE
B3 BE BARE  BEZRG EXRE REEF At
Shares
held for
incentive
Share  Contributed award  Translation Retained
premium surplus scheme reserve profits Total
Thr FhEr FhEr FhEr TFEn TETL
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
R=E-\F-A—H At 1st January, 2018 6,378,643 7,388,600 (166,250) (691,862) 316,319 183,225,450
FRENREEKEER Profit and total comprehensive
income for the year = = = = 963,565 963,565
ERRE Dividends paid - - - - (1,198,037)  (1,198,037)
WZZE-NE+-A=+—H At31st December, 2018 6,378,643 7,388,600 (166,250) (691,862) 81,847 12,990,978
FRGEFHREANGELE Profit and total comprehensive
income for the year - - - - 2,225,694 2,225,694
EHRE Dividends paid = = = - (1677,234)  (1,677,234)
WZZE-NE+-A=+—H At31st December, 2019 6,378,643 7,388,600 (166,250) (691,862) 630,307 13,539,438

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2019



%éﬂﬁ%iﬁi’%ﬁﬁ@

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

HE-ZT-NGF+-A=+—HILFE For the year ended 31st December, 2019
46. TEHB AR EHR 46. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES
FEMB LR —RER General information of principal subsidiaries
RBMEBMR  AEBFEWBE QR Details of the Group’s subsidiaries at the end of the reporting
EREHET - period are set out below.
BERTRAERK,/
EMAL BRI HEMER AEEEGRE
Place of Issued and Attributable
AR ERE incorporation/ fully paid share/ equity interest TEER
Name of company establishment registered capital of the Group Principal activities
“E-hE —TN\#%
2019 2018
% %
ERRRAERAR EBRIHE LimikaET 100 100 #KEHER
China Resources Gas Limited British Virgin Islands Ordinary US$4 Investment holding
AEI China Gas Limited RAEHS LmAR1,000% T 100 100  REER
Cayman Islands Ordinary US$1,000 Investment holding
RIEBRRERAA"S FE AR 129,068,8007T 51 - HERLAREBBRES
PRC RMB129,068,800 Sale of liquefied gas
and connection of gas
pipelines
HREBRRERAR FE AR #50,000,0007T 80.4 80.4 HERISR
PRC RMB50,000,000 Sale of liquefied gas
FMERRRERAR HE 15,000,000 7T 70 70 WERCARERGRER
PRC US$15,000,000 Sale of liquefied gas
and connection of gas
pipelines
EHERRRBRAR"? HE 16,000,000% 7T 50 50 HERICERESBEESD
PRC US$16,000,000 Sale of liquefied gas
and connection of gas
pipelines
EEERRARARAR? FE 4,000,000% 7T 100 100 HEREEREEGATE
PRC US$4,000,000 Sale of liquefied gas
and connection of gas
pipelines
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HE-_T-NGF+-A=+—"HBILFE For the year ended 31st December, 2019

46. TEHBLARER (&) 46. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES
(Continued)
TEMBARN—RER (&) General information of principal subsidiaries (Continued)
ERTRERKRER
EMAL R TMEx AEEESRE
Place of Issued and Attributable
AR ERB incorporation/ fully paid share/ equity interest TEEH
Name of company establishment registered capital of the Group Principal activities
ZBE-NE ZBN\E
2019 2018
% %
ELERREARAF HE 11,000,000 7T 5711 5711 HERSRERGRER
PRC US$11,000,000 Sale of liquefied gas
and connection of gas
pipelines
AREBRAERAF HE AEH94,000,0007T 75 75 HERIAREEHIEE
PRC RMB94,000,000 Sale of liquefied gas
and connection of gas
pipelines
GRERRARERAR HE AR 50,000,0007T 75 75 HERCAREERREE
PRC RMB50,000,000 Sale of liquefied gas
and connection of gas
pipelines
EGERREARAR G ARH70,000,0007T 71.43 7143 HERCAREERRES
PRC RMB70,000,000 Sale of liquefied gas
and connection of gas
pipelines
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HE-ZT-NGF+-A=+—HILFE For the year ended 31st December, 2019
46. TEHBLARER (&) 46. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES
(Continued)
TEMBARN—RER (&) General information of principal subsidiaries (Continued)
BRTREZREK/
EMAL R HEMER AEBEGRE
Place of Issued and Attributable
AREE incorporation/ fully paid share/ equity interest TEEH
Name of company establishment registered capital of the Group Principal activities
“E-hE ZZ)N\F
2019 2018
% %
BHERRRARAR? HE AR#10,000,0007T 100 100 #HERCARERHRES
PRC RMB10,000,000 Sale of liquefied gas
and connection of gas
pipelines
BIEBREARAR? HE AR10,000,0007T 100 100 HERELARERBREE
PRC RMB10,000,000 Sale of liquefied gas
and connection of gas
pipelines
REEZHRRARAR FE AR #51,300,0007T 51 51 WERCEREZERHIER
PRC RMB51,300,000 Sale of liquefied gas
and connection of gas
pipelines
BREBREERDA FE 7,788,900 7T 100 100 HEREARESEREE
PRC US$7,788,900 Sale of liquefied gas
and connection of gas
pipelines
PR R ARA A FE AR#29,890,6007T 51 51 HERERIERGRES
PRC RMB29,890,600 Sale of liquefied gas
and connection of gas
pipelines
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HE-_T-NGF+-A=+—"HBILFE For the year ended 31st December, 2019

46. TEMBLARER (&) 46. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES
(Continued)
FTEMBLATN—RER (&) General information of principal subsidiaries (Continued)
ERTRBERE
EMAL B &R AEEESRE
Place of Issued and Attributable
AR BB incorporation/ fully paid share/ equity interest FTEEH
Name of company establishment registered capital of the Group Principal activities
ZBE-NF ZEN\HE
2019 2018
% %
BNEBRRERAR HE AR #80,000,0007C 70 70 HERCAREERREE
PRC RMB80,000,000 Sale of liquefied gas
and connection of gas
pipelines
AHERRRARAF HE AR5,000,0007C 100 100 HERELERESGRES
PRC RMB5,000,000 Sale of liquefied gas
and connection of gas
pipelines
ERMMNEZERREERAR FE AK%50,000,0007 100 100 #HERLARERHRES
PRC RMB50,000,000 Sale of liquefied gas
and connection of gas
pipelines
EMEERRARAF HE AR 1950,000,0007C 80 80 HERILRERERBRES
PRC RMB950,000,000 Sale of liquefied gas
and connection of gas
pipelines
BRIEERRRBRLR HE AR 665,700,0007C 70 70 WERCERERGIEE
PRC RMB665,700,000 Sale of liquefied gas
and connection of gas
pipelines
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HE-ZT-NGF+-A=+—HILFE For the year ended 31st December, 2019
46. TEHBLARER (&) 46. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES
(Continued)
TEMBARN—RER (&) General information of principal subsidiaries (Continued)
ERTRBERE
ER AR L &R AEEESRE
Place of Issued and Attributable
AR BB incorporation/ fully paid share/ equity interest FTEEH
Name of company establishment registered capital of the Group Principal activities
ZBE-NF ZEN\HE
2019 2018
% %
BHERREERARS HE 29,980,000 T 50 50 HERLEREEHREE
PRC US$29,980,000 Sale of liquefied gas
and connection of gas
pipelines
EEEERRABRAF"S HE AR #286,582,8587C 51 51 WHERICRREBHRESR
PRC RMB286,582,858 Sale of liquefied gas
and connection of gas
pipelines
EMERRRERAR HE AR 50,000,0007T 95.95 95.95 HERIARERBRESE
PRC RMB50,000,000 Sale of liquefied gas
and connection of gas
pipelines
REZERRERAR HE AR H55,000,0007T 70 70 HERCARRESGRES
PRC RMB55,000,000 Sale of liquefied gas
and connection of gas
pipelines
RAERRRARAR hE AR 300,190,000 55 55 WEREREZERHIESE
PRC RMB300, 190,000 Sale of liquefied gas
and connection of gas
pipelines
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HE-_T-NGF+-A=+—"HBILFE For the year ended 31st December, 2019

46. TEMBEARER (&) 46. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES
(Continued)
TEMBARN—RER (&) General information of principal subsidiaries (Continued)
BERTREBERK,/
EMAL B HEMER AEEESRE
Place of Issued and Attributable
AR BB incorporation/ fully paid share/ equity interest TEER
Name of company establishment registered capital of the Group Principal activities
“E-hE ZZ-N\F
2019 2018
% %
RAZERR (RR) ARAA?  +H AE#300,000,000 50 50 HEREAREEBRESE
PRC RMB300,000,000 Sale of liquefied gas
and connection of gas
pipelines
ZHEBRABERAA FE AE258,686,1007T 65 65 HERCEREEHREE
PRC RMB258,686,100 Sale of liquefied gas
and connection of gas
pipelines
REHEERRRERAR HE AR#252,000,0007T 65 65 HERLEREEHREE
PRC RMB252,000,000 Sale of liquefied gas
and connection of gas
pipelines
BIERRRERARS HE AR 150,000,0007C 51 51 WHERICRREBHRESR
PRC RMB 150,000,000 Sale of liquefied gas

and connection of gas
pipelines
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FRE KR ERMET
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

HIEFE For the year ended 31st December, 2019

PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES
(Continued)

General information of principal subsidiaries (Continued)

L These companies were established in the PRC in the form of Sino-
foreign equity joint venture enterprise.

2 The Group has existing rights that give it the current ability to direct the
relevant activities of the subsidiary as the Group is able to nominate
over 50% of the board of directors. Accordingly, the company is
regarded a subsidiary of the Group.

s These companies were established in the PRC in the form of wholly-
foreign-owned enterprises.

& The Group holds a 54% equity interest in the subsidiary and shares
profit at 57.11% according to the shareholders’ agreement.

5 The Group has rights to direct the relevant activities of the subsidiary
as the Group signed a memorandum in which the other shareholder
would agree with the Group’s decisions on operating, investment and
financing activities of the subsidiary, and the other shareholder would
agree the appointment of the entire senior management nominated by
the Group. Accordingly, the company is accounted for as a subsidiary
of the Group.

Except for China Resources Gas Limited which is directly held by
the Company, all the above principal subsidiaries are indirectly
held by the Company and are operating principally in their places
of incorporation/establishment.

None of the subsidiaries had any debt securities outstanding at
31st December, 2019 and 2018 or at any time during the year.

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Group which, in the
opinion of the directors of the Company, principally affected the
results or assets and liabilities of the Group. To give details of other
subsidiaries would, in the opinion of the directors of the Company,
result in particulars of excessive length.
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HE—T-NF+ZA=+—HLFE For the year ended 31st December, 2019

46. TEMBEARER (&) 46. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES
(Continued)
BREEAFERERNEZENBE R Details of non-wholly owned subsidiaries that have material
Gl non-controlling interests
TRINTEAEEREZERERHARE The table below shows details of non-wholly-owned subsidiaries of
EF2EM B ARE : the Group that have material non-controlling interests:
HEMRIRE
EEXHY
Place of FERESFMERTRESNO SERFFERESNER R FERER
incorporation Proportion of ownership Profit allocated Accumulated
AR ERB and principal interests held by to non-controlling non-controlling
Name of company place of business non-controlling interests interests interests

—g-nEF  “F-0\F C¥-hEF  “F-N\F  CE-hE 3N

2019 2018 2019 2018 2019 2018

% % THET TET THT TET

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$°000 HK$'000

BEMNEBRRERDA F 30 30 35,519 33,581 133,671 100,241
PRC

EREBRRERAR - 50 50 23,157 22,464 150,751 130,268
PRC

EREBREER AR F 28.57 28.57 23,654 26,973 110,160 100,484
PRC

REEBRRER AR e 49 49 67,030 63,247 212,074 183,683
PRC

BRIEEERRAERAR F 30 30 22,498 33,795 334,211 332,715
PRC

EHEBRRERAR e 50 50 220,185 389,612 1,381,587 1,187,800
PRC

FEXEBRRER AT e 42.89 42.89 38,202 40,027 172,356 141,039
PRC

RAZEBRRERAR f 45 45 18,145 11,012 178,566 170,038
PRC

BEERMRA (RE) BRAA 50 50 13,734 10,661 196,479 204,861
PRC
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HE-ZT-NGF+-A=+—HILFE For the year ended 31st December, 2019
46. TEMBEARER (&) 46. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES
(Continued)
BEERFERERNIEZEREL Details of non-wholly owned subsidiaries that have material
AEE (&) non-controlling interests (Continued)
HEMRIRE
EEEHE
Place of FERESMGHERERLD SRFFERESNGR Rt ERER
incorporation Proportion of ownership Profit allocated Accumulated
ARER and principal interests held by to non-controlling non-controlling
Name of company place of business non-controlling interests interests interests
“E-hE )\ ZB-AF T\ ZE-NE CZIT)\F
2019 2018 2019 2018 2019 2018
% % TERT TEL FERT TERT
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000
BNEBRRARAA i 20 20 222,987 198,877 1,180,608 1,066,619
PRC
ZHEBRRARRE H 35 39 36,263 33,785 297,844 269,951
PRC
REEERRRBERAA H 35 35 1,307 8,292 134,912 136,289
PRC
BEEBRFARAE H 49 49 61,761 67,692 408,370 400,897
PRC
BIEERRERAA F 49 49 166,011 149,118 590,415 530,294
PRC
BB MR R ) R
BAMBAA
Individually immaterial 3,079,342 3,251,556

subsidiaries with non-
controlling interests

8,561,346 8,206,735
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

HE-ZT-NGF+-A=+—HBILFE For the year ended 31st December, 2019

47. TEEGE N FER 47. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL JOINT
VENTURES
rEEELRE
R L B Attributable
NEER Place of EMER equity interest TEER
Name of company establishment Registered capital of the Group Principal activities
—E-AF ZT)\F
2019 2018
% %
EMNEREERRERAF h AR%117,939,5007T 40 40 HERCRIERBREE
PRC RMB117,939,500 Sale of liquefied gas and
connection of gas
pipelines
BERRERERRRERAA i AE#717,578,6007C 49 49 HERCARETBRES
PRC RMB717,578,600 Sale of liquefied gas and
connection of gas
pipelines
HEEERRERAF HE AER#194,541,0007T 51 51 HERCRREBRGRESR
PRC RMB194,541,000 Sale of liquefied gas and
connection of gas
pipelines
EFEBRRARAR HE AR %1,000,000,0007T 49 49 HERCRLEBRBREE
PRC RMB1,000,000,000 Sale of liquefied gas and
connection of gas
pipelines
HEERRRARLA i AE#200,000,0007T 50 50 SHERIEARERBRES
PRC RMB200,000,000 Sale of liquefied gas and
connection of gas
pipelines
RIERERRERAR" HE AR 129,068,8007T - 51 HERCRREBRGRESR
PRC RMB129,068,800 Sale of liquefied gas and
connection of gas
pipelines
BILEBRTRRERAF HE AR 148,000,000 50 50 HERILRLERBREE
PRC RMB148,000,000 Sale of liquefied gas and
connection of gas
pipelines
mEREBRRRHERAR HE AR#122,423,3727C 50 50 SHERIEARERBREE
PRC RMB122,423,372 Sale of liquefied gas and
connection of gas
pipelines
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

HE-ZT-NGF+-A=+—HILFE For the year ended 31st December, 2019

47. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL JOINT
VENTURES (Continued)

rEEELRE
R L B Attributable
NEER Place of HMER equity interest TBRER
Name of company establishment Registered capital of the Group Principal activities
—B-nE —TN\F
2019 2018
% %
RIRARERBRAF g AR164,444,4007T 55 55 HERICRIERBREE
PRC RMB164,444,400 Sale of liquefied gas and
connection of gas
pipelines
MEMRRERAR i AE#100,000,0007T 49 49 HERCARETBRES
PRC RMB100,000,000 Sale of liquefied gas and
connection of gas
pipelines
BMEBREARAR HE AR #488,376,0007T 49 49 HERCRREBGRESR
PRC RMB488,376,000 Sale of liquefied gas and
connection of gas
pipelines
EREBRRARAF HE AR#5,000,000,0007T 49 49 HERCRLEBBREE
PRC RMB5,000,000,000 Sale of liquefied gas and
connection of gas
pipelines
RESEEMARRAA R A& #600,000,0007T 49 49 HERCARERBRES
PRC RMB600,000,000 Sale of liquefied gas and
connection of gas
pipelines

¥ FA - BRAKERETHESE &
It HtRRAEAEEEREMBER
ANEE  RANBEEHNRE -
REMERABZEREEMREEMN
BEESREERE  BUHAKEA#EE
HHEARNAREE - Bt AEKE
EENTEBRRBRAF ° Uk
ZARANRIAAEENHBRF
MATERRR AR AR M ERRE
O BRI E AR MR -

* During the year, the Group took control of ATEMMRRAER AR
based on the fact that the Group has rights to direct the relevant
activities of the subsidiary as the Group signed a memorandum in
which the other shareholder would agree with the Group’s decisions
on operating, investment and financing activities of the subsidiary, and
the other shareholder would agree the appointment of the entire senior
management nominated by the Group. Accordingly, the company is
accounted for as a subsidiary of the Group, and interests in ;L4
MR BBRA 5] were of reclassified as interests in subsidiaries.

EERRERERAT —F-AEEH
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

HE-T-NFT-A=+-ALEE

47.
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FAZEGHOREO T ERNKE R
A — éﬂlﬂﬁ AL B A S
BT AR SI4E - itk - %
?&%EF%$EEE’JAF“ g
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EID)D)E
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ARBEERR - LRMIIOAEE
ARERTHARBFANEEFTEXN
SRR AREEEFEERR
ARBEERE B HMEZ
AFBERSAREBNITE °

L\) 3 W

For the year ended 31st December, 2019

47. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL JOINT

VENTURES (Continued)

The Group is able to exercise joint control over these companies
of which the decisions about the relevant activities require
the unanimous consent of the Group and the joint ventures.
Accordingly, these companies are regarded as joint ventures of
the Group.

The above table lists the joint ventures of the Group which, in the
opinion of the directors of the Company, principally affected the
results of the year or form a substantial portion of the net assets
of the Group. To give details of other joint ventures would, in the
opinion of the directors of the Company, result in particulars of
excessive length.

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2019
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

HE-ZT-NGF+-A=+—HILFE For the year ended 31st December, 2019
48. FEHE N T ER 48. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL ASSOCIATES
AENF/HEAR
BENRE
R Equity interest rEEELRE
NRER Place of ZREE held by the joint Attributable interest ~ TE¥HK
Name of company establishment Registered capital ventures/subsidiaries equity of the Group  Principal activities
ZB-AE T \§ ZEB-NFE ZE)\f
2019 2018 2019 2018
% % % %
KERREBRN i AR 800,000,0007C 32.40 36 3240 % HERLEREEEREE
BRAR! PRC RMB800,000,000 Sale of liquefied gas and
connection of gas pipelines
TELRAER ikl AR 95,590,000 27 27 25.92 2592 HERAR RICARAR
NG PRC RMB95,590,000 MARARZERRER
Sale of natural gas, LPG and gas
appliances and construction
gas pipelines
ERRASERM ikl AR #1,556,000,0007C 22.49 2249 22.49 2249  HERIRRERBREE
BRAA PRC RMB1,556,000,000 Sale of liquefied gas and
connection of gas pipelines
ERRULTERES  PE AR 40,000,000 49 49 245 245 HERLRRESBRES
RABRAR PRC RMB40,000,000 Sale of liquefied gas and
connection of gas pipelines
EETALERER  HE AR %40,000,00070 36 36 36 % HERLRRERERERE
ERgRERAR  PRC RMB40,000,000 Sale of liquefied gas and
connection of gas pipelines
IEARRER ikl AR 30,000,000 49 49 49 49 HEXARRESBREE
BRAF PRC RMB30,000,000 Sale of natural gas and
connection of gas pipelines
* FAN - ZRBZRNELBEFRH * The company listed its shares on the Shanghai Stock Exchange during
B £ © the year.
> BRARZBHELEFFRSLE ** The company listed its shares on the Shanghai Stock Exchange.
hilkd
RRREERA  ERAVIOAER The above table lists the associates of the Group which, in the
BERNRHAEENERNEENRD opinion of the directors of the Company, principally affected the
BEEAXE - ARAEERR - & results or assets and liabilities of the Group. To give details of other
P E M EE S N R IE S AR E B associates would, in the opinion of the directors of the Company,
RITE ° result in particulars of excessive length.
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Financial Summary

- RESULTS
BE+-A=t—HI&EE
Year ended 31st December
—T-hF ZT—RF T+t —T-N\E ZE-IF
2015 2016 2017 2018 2019
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000
FET FHET FHT FHBT FERT
WA REVENUE 32,834,025 32,916,149 39,837,597 51,165,371 55,835,113
FREF PROFIT FOR THE YEAR 3,803,107 4,437,808 4,910,867 5,888,411 6,469,453
FE1h - ATTRIBUTABLE TO:
ViN/NETEZ =N OWNERS OF THE COMPANY 2,837,910 3,289,399 3,653,994 4,450,101 5,043,477
FEFEAR M 2 NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS 965,197 1,148,409 1,256,873 1,438,310 1,425,976
3,803,107 4,437,808 4,910,867 5,888,411 6,469,453
EERERE ASSETS AND LIABILITIES
+=-A=+—H
31st December,
—T-hF —T—RF ZT—+tF —T-N\F ZE-IF
2015 2016 2017 2018 2019
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$°000
FET FHET FEL FET FET
BESE TOTAL ASSETS 59,896,272 59,675,118 68,763,804 73,571,778 81,023,956
AafERE TOTAL LIABILITIES (37,409,266) (35,970,325) (39,594,479) (41,963,298) (45,667,173)
A BE TOTAL EQUITY 22,487,006 23,704,793 29,169,325 31,608,480 35,356,783
ViN/NEIEZ 2 =N EQUITY ATTRIBUTABLE TO
FE(ERE AR OWNERS OF THE COMPANY 17,009,359 17,768,243 21,992,648 24,081,120 26,795,437
FEIERR R = NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS 5,477 647 5,936,550 7,176,677 7,527,360 8,561,346
A BE TOTAL EQUITY 22,487,006 23,704,793 29,169,325 31,608,480 35,356,783

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2019
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Executive Directors

Mr. SHI Baofeng (Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. GE Bin (Vice Chairman)

Non-executive Directors

Mr. WANG Chuandong (Chairman)

s

Corporate Information

(re-designated as Non-executive Directors on 31st January, 2019)

Mr. CHEN Ying

Mr. WANG Yan
Madam WAN Suet Fei
Mr. JING Shiging

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. WONG Tak Shing

Mr. YU Hon To, David

Mr. YANG Yuchuan

Mr. HU Xiaoyong (appointed on 31st January, 2019)

AUDIT AND RISK MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE

Mr. YU Hon To, David (Chairman)
Mr. WANG Yan

Mr. WONG Tak Shing

Madam WAN Suet Fei

Mr. YANG Yuchuan

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

Mr. WONG Tak Shing (Chairman)

Mr. YU Hon To, David

Mr. JING Shiging

Mr. HU Xiaoyong (appointed on 31st January, 2019)

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

Mr. WANG Chuandong (Chairman)
Mr. WONG Tak Shing

Mr. YU Hon To, David

Mr. JING Shiging

Mr. YANG Yuchuan
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Corporate Information

REZE®
TEREE (F5)

BRIE S
BERBEE

TERERZEE
SLEB L (£/7)
EEBEE
BEN%E

DRAME
BEN KA

AMMMEE

Victoria place, 5th Floor

31 Victoria Street

Hamilton HM10

Bermuda (B=Z—NF LA THAER)

FTEEEME
HE

T

7B 265
EBPAE
1901-02%

EERERE

R AT

B BUEm
RAKE D F B

FERGBFETE

MUFG Fund Services (Bermuda) Limited
The Belvedere Building

69 Pitts Bay Road

Pembroke HM08

Bermuda

BEERODBFETTE

FEWMERBERAA
&5

BEREFR1835
AR NE41E

INVESTMENT COMMITTEE

Mr. WANG Chuandong (Chairman)
Mr. CHEN Ying
Mr. WONG Tak Shing

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE

Mr. SHI Baofeng (Chairman)
Mr. WONG Tak Shing
Mr. YANG Yuchuan

COMPANY SECRETARY
Mr. LO Chi Lik Peter

REGISTERED OFFICE

Victoria place, 5th Floor

31 Victoria Street

Hamilton HM10

Bermuda (with effect from 15th July, 2019)

PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS

Room 1901-02

China Resources Building
26 Harbour Road
Wanchai

Hong Kong

LEGAL ADVISOR
Reed Smith Richards Butler

AUDITOR

Messrs. Ernst & Young

PRINCIPAL SHARE REGISTRAR AND
TRANSFER OFFICE

MUFG Fund Services (Bermuda) Limited
The Belvedere Building

69 Pitts Bay Road

Pembroke HMO08

Bermuda

HONG KONG BRANCH SHARE REGISTRAR AND

TRANSFER OFFICE

Tricor Secretaries Limited
Level 54, Hopewell Centre
183 Queen’s Road East
Hong Kong
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China Resources Gas Group Limited

EBETBEE265%.  Room 1901-02, China Resources Building,
#FAE1901-02%E 26 Harbour Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong.

E 5% Telephone : 2593 8200
{# A Facsimile : 2598 8228
#84E Website . WWW.Crcgas.com

BI Email . investor-relations@crgas.com.hk



	封面
	公司簡介
	目錄
	主席報告
	總裁報告
	財務及業務摘要
	管理層討論及分析
	董事及高級管理人員履歷
	企業管治報告
	董事會報告
	獨立核數師報告
	綜合損益及其他全面收益表
	綜合財務狀況表
	綜合權益變動表
	綜合現金流量表
	綜合財務報表附註
	財務概要
	公司資料
	封底



